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Section 1.  Name of Redevelopment Project Area and Contact Information

Refer to chart attached.
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FY 2013 .

" ANNUAL TAX INCREMENT FINANCE STATE OF ILLINOIS
REPORT . COMPTROLLER

7 JUDY BAAR TOPINKA

Name of Municipality: Evanston Reporting Fiscal Year: 2013
County: Cook Fiscal Year End: 12/31/2013
Unit Code: 016/175/30 ]

[ TIF Administrator Contact Information ]
First Name: Martin Last Name: Lyons
Address: 2100 Ridge Avenue Title: TIF Administrator
Telephone: 847/328-2100 City: Evanston Zip: 60210-2798
Mobile E-mail miyons@cityofevanston.org
Mobile Bestwayto __ X Email ___X__ Phone
Provider contact Mobile Mail

| attest to the best of my knowledge, this report of the redevelopment project areas in: City/Village of
Evanston

is complete and accurate at the end of this reporting Fiscal year under the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act
165 ILCS 5/11-74.4-3 et. seu.]/Or the In ial Jobs Recoverv Law [65 ILCS 5/1 1-74.6,10 et. sea.l

e T 2/2//

|Written signature of TIF Administatot— Date

Section 1 (65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5 (d) (1 5) and 65 ILCS 5/11-74.6-22 (d) (1.5)
FILL OUT ONE FOR EACH TIF DISTICT :
Name of Redevelopment Project Area Date Designated Date Terminated

Downtown |l TIF District {(Research Park)-TIF1 1/28/1985 10/12/2009
Southwest TIF District- TIF 2 6/25/1990
Howard Hartrey TIF District - TIF 3 4/27/1992
Washington National TIF District - TIF 4 9/1/1994
Howard and Ridge TIF District - TIF5 1/26/2004
West Evanston - TIF 6 9/1/2005
Dempster Dodge TF District No. 7 6/25/2012
Chicago Main TIF District No, 8 1/28/2013

Al statutory citations refer to one of two sections of the Hlinois Municipal Code: the Tax Increment Allocation
" Redevelopment Act [65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-3 et. seq.] or the Industrial Jobs Recovery Law [65 ILCS 51 1-74.6-10 et. seq.]
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SECTION 2 [Sections 2 through 5 must be completed for each redevelopment project area listed In Section 1.]
FY 2013 :

Name of Redevelopment Project Area: Washington National TIF 4

Primary Use of Redevelopment Project Area*: Central Bus District

If "Comblination/Mixed" List Component Types:

Under which section of the lllinois Municipal Code was Redevelopment Project Area designated? (check one):
Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act _ x___ Industrial Jobs Recovery Law

No Yes

Were there any amendments to the redevelopment plan, the redevelopment project area, or the State
Sales Tax Boundary? [65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5 (d) {1) and 5/11-74.6-22 {d) {1)]
If yes, please enclose the amendment labeled Attachment A X

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of the municipality that the municipality has complied with all

of the requirements of the Act during the preceding fiscal year. [65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5 {d} {3} and 5/11-74.6

22 (d) (3)]

Please enclose the CEO Certification labeled Attachment B X

Opinion of legal counsel that municipality is in compliance with the Act. [65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5 {d) {4) and
5/11-74.6-22 (d) (4)] ;
Pl enclose the Legal Counsel Opinion labeled Attachment C X

Were there any activitles undertaken in furtherance of the objectives of the redevelopment plan,
including any project implemented in the preceding fiscal year and a description of the activities
undertaken? [65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5 (d) (7) (A and B) and 5/11-74.6-22 {d} (7) (A and B)]

If yes, please enclose the Activities Statement labeled Attachment D

Were any agreements entered into by the municipality with regard to the disposition or redevelopment
of any property within the redevelopment project area or the area within the State Sales Tax Boundary?
[65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5 {d) {7) {C) and 5/11-74.6-22 {d} (7) (C)]

If yes, please enclose the Agreement(s) labeled Attachment E X
Is there additional information on the use of all funds received under this Division and steps taken by the
municipality to achieve the objectives of the redevelopment plan? [65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5 {d) (7) (D) and
5/11-74.6-22 (d) (7) (D}]

If yes, please enclose the Additional Information labeled Attachment E X

Did the municipality's TIF advisors or consultants enter into contracts with entities or persons that have

ILCS 5/11-74.4-5 (d) (7) (E) and 5/11-74.6-22 (d} {7} (E)]
If yes, please enclose the contract(s) or description of the contract(s) labeled Attachment G X

1
received or are receiving payments financed by tax increment revenues produced by the same TIF? [65 }

Were there any reports or meeting minutes submitted to the municipality by the joint review board? [65
ILCS 5/11-74.4-5 (d) {7) (F) and 5/11-74.6-22 (d) (7) (F)]

If yes, please enclose the Joint Review Board Report labeled Attachment H X
Were any obligations issued by municipality? [65 [LCS 5/11-74.4-5 (d} {8) (A) and :
5/11-74.6-22 {d) (8) {A)] : .
If yes, please enclose the Official Statement labeled Attachment | X

Was analysis prepared by a financial advisor or underwriter setting forth the nature and term of
obligation and projected debt service including required reserves and debt coverage? [65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-
5(d) (8) (B) and 5/11-74.6-22 (d) (8} (B)] _

If yes, please enclose the Analysis labeled Attachment J X

Cumulatively, have deposits equal or greater than $100,000 been made into the special tax aliocation
fund? 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5 (d) (2) and 5/11-74.6-22 (d) (2)

If yes, please enclose Audited financial statements of the special tax allocation fund

labeled Attachment K ) X
Cumulatively, have deposits of incremental revenue equal to or greater than $100,000 been mads into
the special tax allocation fund? [65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5 (d) (9) and 5/11-74.6-22 (d) (9)]

if yes, please enclose a certified letter statement reviewing compliance with the Act labeled
Attachment L X
A list of all intergovernmental agreements in effect in FYY 2010, fo which the municipality is a part, and an
accounting of any money transferred or received by the municipality during that fiscal year pursuant to
those intergovernmental agreements. {65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5 (d) (10}

if yes, please enclose list only of the intergovernmental agreements labeled Attachment M X

* Types include: Central Business District, Retail, Other Commercial, Industrial, Residential, and Combination/Mixed.
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Attachment A Amendments to the

Redevelopment Plan, the Redevelopment Project

and/or the Area Boundary

There were no amendments to the Redevelopment Plan o

within the reporting Period.

1 to the Redevelopment Project Area

CAL YEAR

CITY OF EVANSTON WASH
BEGINNING JANUARY 1, 2613 AND END.

INGTON NATIONAL TIF DISTRICT ANNUAL REPORT FOR FIS

ING DECEMBER 31, 2013



Attachment B Certification of the Mayor of the municipality that the municipality has complied
with all of the requirements of the Act during the reporting Period.
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Re: Washington National TIF District

I, Elizabeth Tisdahl, the duly elected Mayor of the City of Evanston, County of Cook,
State of Illinois, do hereby certify that to the best of my knowledge, the City of Evanston
complied with the requirements pertaining to the Illinois Tax Increment Redevelopment
Allocation Act during the Fiscal Year beginning January 1, 2013 and ending December 31, 2013.

L BTl Tl o aq-

MA@Z)R DATE
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Attachment C Opinion of legal counsel that the municipality has complied with the Act.
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RE: Attorney Review City of Evanston Washington National TIF District

To Whom It May Concern:

This will confirm that I am the City Attorney for the City of Evanston, Illinois. I have reviewed
all information provided to me by the City staff and consultants, and I find that the City of
Evanston has conformed to all applicable requirements of the Ilinois Tax Increment
Redevelopment Allocation Act set forth thereunder for the Fiscal Year Period beginning January
1, 2013 and ending December 31, 2013 to the best of my knowledge and belief.

Sincerely,

CorporM/
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Attachment D Statement setting forth all activities undertaken in furtherance of the objectives of
the Redevelopment Plan, including:

A. Any project implemented during the reporting Period; and

B. A description of the redevelopment activities undertaken.

The City entered into a TIF Refundable Grant Agreement with the Music Institute of Chicago for
up to $165,000 for property located at 1702 Sherman Avenue in order to assist in the renovation
of the space.

The City also continued to review studies and/or projects related to area redevelopment
including:

Marketing and professional fees
Various capital/public improvements
Performance of past projects

CITY OF EVANSTON WASHINGTON NATIONAL TIF DISTRICT ANNUAL REPORT FOR FISCAL YEAR
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Attachment E Description of Agreements Regarding Property Disposition or Redevelopment

The City entered into a TIF Refundable Grant Agreement with the Music Institute of Chicago for
up to $165,000 for property Jocated at 1702 Sherman Avenue in order to assist in the renovation

of the space. The agreement is attached as Exhibit A.

CITY OF EVANSTON WASHINGTON NATIONAL TIF DISTRICT ANNUAL REPORT FOR FISCAL YEAR
~ BEGINNING JANUARY 1, 2013 AND ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2013
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Attachment F Additional Information on Uses of Funds Related to Achieving Objectives
of the Redevelopment Plan

The City continued to apply incremental taxes to outstanding obligations and capital
improvements.
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Attachment G Information Regarding Contracts with TIF Consultants.

The City utilized Kane, McKenna and Associates, Inc. in order to prepare annual TIF reports.
Fees were based upon hourly rates for services rendered and did not include contingent

payments.
Kane McKenna did not enter into contracts with any entities that were paity to City

redevelopment agreements.
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Attachment H Reports Submitted by Joint Review Board.

No reports were submitted by the Joint Review Board. The Board met on December 5, 2013
Minutes of the meeting are attached as Exhibit B.
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Attachment I Summary of any obligations issued by the municipality and official statements

No new obligations were issued by the City in the reporting Period.

CITY OF EVANSTON WASHINGTON NATIONAL TIF DISTRICT z;jNNUAL REPORT FOR FISCAL YEAR
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Attachment J Financial Analysis: TIF Obligations

The City continued to monitor the payment of existing obligations and reviewed the tax flows
associated with new and proposed projects in order to determine coverage for proposed bond
financings. Outstanding principal amounts, as well as future interest payments, associated with
existing debt are summarized in Section 3.3 below. The Series 2005 Bonds have been refunded
with the Series 2013B Bonds and a porion of these obligations will continue to be paid by TIF
Funds.(The Final Official Statement is attached in Exhibit C).

CITY OF EVANSTON WASHINGTON NATIONAL TIF DISTRICT ANNUAL REPORT FOR FISCAIL YEAR
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Attachment K and L

For special tax allocation funds that have experienced cumulative deposits of incremental tax
reverues of $100,000 ot more, a certified audit report reviewing compliance with the Act
performed by an independent public accountant certified and licensed by the authority of the
State of Illinois. The audit report shall contain a letter from the independent certified public
accountant indicating compliance or noncompliance with the requirements of subsection (q) of
Section 11-74.4-3.

Relevant portions of the City’s audit and the compliance letter are attached as Exhibit D.

CITY OF EVANSTON WASHINGTON NATIONAL TIF DISTRICT ANNUAL REPORT FOR FISCAL YEAR
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Attachment M Intergovernmental Agreements

Not applicable.
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Section 3.1  Analysis of Special Tax Allocation Fund

Refer to table attached.
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SECTION 3.1 - (65 ILCS 5M1-74.4-5 (d) (5) and 65 ILCS 5/11-74.8-22 (d) (5))
Provide an analysis of the special tax allocation fund.

FY 2013

TIF NAME: Washington Naional TiF No. 4

Fund Balance at Beginning of Reporting Period

Revenue/Cash Receipts Deposited in Fund During Reporting FY; Reporting Year | Cumulative* % of Total

Property Tax Increment S 4,488,658 | $ 36,587,449 36%

State Sales Tax Increment 0%

Local Sales Tax Increment ) 158,121 0%

State Utility Tax Increment 0%

Local Utility Tax Increment 0%

Interest S 13,072 | $ 2,832,078 3%

Land/Building Sale Proceeds 0%

Bond Proceeds S 52,061,429 52%

Transfers from Municipal Sources S 9,173,856 9%

Private Sources 0%

Other (identify source ; if multiple other sources, attach

schedule) S 5,347 0%
- *must be completed where 'Reporting Year is

populated

Total Amount Deposited in Special Tax Allocation

Fund During Reporting Period

Cumulative Total Revenues/Cash Recelipts I $ 100,818,280 | 100%|

Total Expenditures/Cash Disbursements (Carried forward from Section 3.2) S 6,755,593

H

Distribution of Surplus

Total Expenditures/Disbursements $ 6,755,593

NET INCOME/CASH RECEIPTS OVER/(UNDER) CASH DISBURSEMENTS S (2,253,863)

FUND BALANCE, END OF REPORTING PERIOD* _ S 5,037,441
* if there is a positive fund balance at the end of the reporting period, you must complete Section 3.3
Total Amount Designated (Carried forward from Section 3.3) S (13,227,259)
19
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Section 3.2  Itemized List of Expenditures from Special Tax Allocation Fund

Refer to tables attached.
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SECTION 3.2 A- {65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5 (d} (5) and 65 ILCS 5/11-74.6-22 (d) (5))

FY 2013
TIF NAME: Washington Natonal TIF No. 4

{TEMIZED LIST OF ALL EXPENDITURéS FROM THE SPECIAL TAX ALLOCATION FUND
{by category of permissible redevelopment cost, amounts expended during reporting perlod)

FOR AMOUNTS >$10,000 SECTION 3.2 B MUST BE COMPLETED

Category of Permissible Redevelopment Cost [65 1LCS 5/11-74.4-3 (q) and 65 ILCS 5/11-74.6-
10 (o))

1. Costs of studies, administration and professional senvices—Subsections (g)(1) and (o) (1)

TiF reimbursements

Housing and Economic Development

Amounts Reporting Fiscal Year
331,000
100,934

2. Cost of marketing sltes—Subsections {g){1.6) and {0){1.6)

3. Property assembly, demolition, site preparation and environmental site improvement costs.
Subsection {q)(2), (0){2) and (o}3)

4. Cosls of rehabilitalion, reconstruction, repair or remodeling of xisting public or private buildings.

Subsection (q)(a) and (0){4)

5. Costs of construction of public works and improvements. Subsection (g){4) and (0}(5)

Public Works

2,188,934

Motor vehicle parking system

3,631,350

6. Cosls of removing contaminants required by environmental laws or rules (0)(6) - Industrial Job
Recovery TIFs ONLY

21
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SECTION3.2A

PAGE 2
7. Cost Of job training and retraining, including "wellare to work' programs Subsection (Q){5), (0)(7
and (0)(12)

8. Financing costs. Subsection (q) (6) and (0)(8)
Wells Fargo

0. Approved capitat costs. Subsection (q)(7) and (0}9)

10. Cost of Relmbursing school districts for their increased costs caused by TIF assisted housing
projects. Subsection (9)(7.5) - Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment TIFs ONLY

i
|
i
!
i
i

11. Relocation costs. Subsection {)(8) and {0)(10)

12. Payments in lieu of taxes. Subsection (q)(9) and (0)(11)

13. Cosls of job training, Tefraining advanced vocational af career education provided by othert
taxing bodles. Subsection (q)}10) and (0)(12)

22 Evanston Washington National TIF 2013.xlsx



SECTION3.2A
PAGE 3
14, Costs of reimbursing private developers for Interest expenses incurred on approved
redevelopment projects. Subsection (g)(11)(A-E) and (0)(1 3)}(A-E)

15. Gosts of construction of new housing unils for fow income and very low-income households,
Subsection (q)(11)(F) - Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment TIFs ONLY

186. Cost of day care services and operational costs of day care centers. Subsection (q) (11.5) - T:
Increment Allocation Redevelopment TIFs ONLY

| TOTAL ITEMIZED EXPENDITURES [s 6,755,593 |

23
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FY 2013

TIF NAME: Washington Naional TIF No. 4

List all vendors, including other municipal funds,

reporting year.

There were no vendors,

Section 3.2B

$10,000 during the current reporting period.

that were paid in exces

s of $10,000 during the current

including other municipal funds, paid in excess of

Name Service Amount
Bolder Contractors public Improvements S 1,024,999.00
Downtown Evanston Marketing s 88,247.00
Music Institute of Chicago TIF reimbursements ) 165,000.00
Sign Studio Public Improvements S 12,000.00
Instuform Technology Public Improvements S 171,539.00
Wells Fargo Debt Service ) 503,375.00
Krivanek & Breaux art Design Public improvements S 26,250.00
Chicagoland Paving Contractors Public Improvements S 775,840.00
General Fund TIF reimbursements S 331,000.00

24
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Section 3.3  Special Tax Allocation Fund Balance (end of reporting period).

Refer to table attached.
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SECTION 3.3 - (65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5 (d) (5) 65 ILCS 11-74.6-22 (d) {5))
Breakdown of the Balance in the Special Tax Allocation Fund At the End of the Reporting Period

FY 2013
TIF NAME: Washington Naional TIF No. 4
FUND BALANCE, END OF REPORTING PERIOD B 5,037,441 |
Amount of Origlnal
Issuance Amount Designated
1. Descriptlon of Debt Obligations
Bonds Series 2008 B S 27,755,000
Note: Series 2002A Bonds refunded in 2008 S 11,211,660
Bonds Series 2005 5 13,060,000
Bonds Series 2008D $ 2,628,009 | $ 1,057,475
Note: Series 1997 refunded in 2008
porton allocated to TIF included above
Series 2013B Bonds (refunded Series 2005 Bonds) $ 28,875,000 | $ 5,895,565
Total Amount Designated for Obligations [$ 72,318,099 | $ 18,264,700

2. Description of Project Costs to be Paid

TIF eligible cost reimbursement

Total Amount Designated for Project Costs

TOTAL AMOUNT DESIGNATED

SURPLUS*/(DEFICIT)

[s -]
B 18,264,700 |
[5 (13,227,259)|

* NOTE: If a surplus is calculated, the municipality may be required to repay the amount to overlapping taxing

26
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Section 4.0 A description of all property purchased by the municipality within the
Redevelopment Project Area including:

A. Street Address

B. Approximate size or description of property
C. Purchase Price

D. Seller of property

Refer to table attached.
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SECTION 4 [651LCS 5/11

FY 2013
TIE NAME: Washington Naional TIF No. 4

Provide a description of all property purchase

redevelopment project area.

-74.4-5 (d) (6) and 65 ILCS 5/11-74.6-22 (d) (6)]

d by the municipality during the reporting fiscal year within the

_X__No property'was acquired by the Municipality Within the Redevelopment Project Area

Property Acquired by the Municipality Within the Redevelopment Project Area

Property (1):

Street address:

Approximate size or description of property:

Purchase price:

Selier of property.

Property (2):

Street address:

Approximate size or description of property:

Purchase price:

Seller of property:

Property (3):

Street address:

Approximate size or description of property:

Purchase price:

Seller of property:

Property (4):

Street address: -

Approximate size or description of property:

Purchase price:

Seller of property:

By

O -
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Section 5.0 Review of Public and Private Investment.

Refer to table attached.
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SECTION 5 - 65 1LCS 5/11.74.4-5 (d) (7) (G) and 65 ILCS 5/1 1-74.6-22 (d) (7) (G}
PAGE 1
FY 2013
TiF NAME: Washington Naional TIF No. 4

SEGTION 5 PROVIDES PAGES 1-3 TO ACCOMMODATE UP TO 25 PROJECTS, PAGE 1 MUST BE INCLUDED WITH TIF
REPORT. PAGES 2-3 SHOULD BE INCLUDED ONLY IF PROJEGTS ARE LISTED ON THESE PAGES

Check here if NO projects were undertaken by the Municlpality Within the Redevelopment Project Area:
ENTER 1otal number of projects undertaken by the Municipality Within the Redevelopment Project Area
and list them in detail betow*. 1
Estimated investment
for Subsequent Fiscal Total Estimated to
TOTAL: 11/4/99 to Date Year Complete Project
Private Investment Undertaken (See Instructions) 3 -1 9 -1% 400,000
Public Investment Undertaken $ -1 5 ~1% 165,000
Ratio of Private/Public Investment 0 2 14/33

Project 1: *IF PROJECTS ARE LISTED NUMBER MUST BE ENTERED ABOVE
Music Institute

Private Investment Undertaken (See Instructions) $ 400,000
Public Investment Undertaken ' $ 165,000
Ratio of Private/Public Investment 0 2 14133
Project 2:

Private Investment Undertaken (See Instructions)
Public Investment Undertaken
Ratio of Private/Public Investment 0 0

Project 3:

Private Investment Undertaken (See Instructions)
Public Investment Undertaken
| Ratio of Private/Public Investment ) 0 0

Project 4:

Private Investment Undertaken (See Instructions)
Public Investment Undertaken
Ratio of Private/Public Investment 0 0

Project 5:

Private Invesiment Undertaken (See Instructions)
Public Investment Undertaken
Ratio of Private/Public Investment 0 0

Project &:

Private Investment Undertaken (See Insiructions}
Public Investment Undertaken
Ratio of Private/Public Investment 0 0

30
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Optional: Information in the following sections Is not required by law, but would be helpful in evaluating the performance
of TIF in INinois. “even though optional MUST be included as part of complate TIF report

SECTION 6
FY 2013

TIF NAME: Washington Naional TIF No. 4
Provide the base EAV (at the time of designation) and the EAV for the year reported for the redevelopment project area

Year redevelopment

project area was Reporting Fiscal Year
designated Base EAV EAV
| 1994] $ 25,727,379 [ $ 77,814,777 |

List all overlapping tax districts in the redevelopment project area.
If overlapping taxing district received a surplus, list the surplus.

_X__ The overlapping taxing districts did not receive a surplus.

Overlapping Taxing District

Surplus Disfributed from redevelopment
project area to overlapping districts

A N[ [N [ [ [ [ [ A A T 1 [ |4
b

SECTION 7

Provide information about job creation and retention

Description and Type
Number of Jobs Number of Jobs (Temporary or
Retained Created Permanent) of Jobs Total Salaries Paid
$ -
$ -
$ -
$ .
S .
s -
S -
SECTION 8

Provide a general description of the redevelopment project area using only major boundaries:

l

_]

Optional Documents Enclosed
Legal description of redevelopment project area X
Map of District X
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EXHIBIT A



11 4

.THIS TIF REFUNDABLE GRANT AGREEMENT (the "Agreement?) s ‘entered
into on this 214 day of _¢#1 2013 (Effective Date™, by and between the
City of Evansion, an illinols hame ruie munlcipality, {"City"), and Muslc Instiute of
Chicago, an Minols not-for-profit corporation ¢ (indlivi the City and MIC are
refarred to hereln as *Party® and collectively, they ate referred to as the “Parties”).

TIF REFUNDABLE GRANT AGREEMENT

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the City desires to update and moderaize commercial buildings in
the City and seeks to creale more Jocal hiting opportunities as part of ite economlc
revitalization efforts througi E and more specifically within the Washington
Nalional TIF District #4 Redevelopment Ares; and

WHEREAS, MIC is a community muske school serving students of all agas and
ablltles wilh muslc lessons, musto ensembles, and access ta world-class conzerts and
creativa arts therapy; and

WHEREAS, MIC seeks to relocats ite busl perations from the Village of
Wilmetle to Evansion and lease & commercial space located at 1702 Sherman
Avenue, Evanston, lllinais 60201 (the "Property’);

WHEREAS, the Clty secks to provide a grant to MIC with certaln TIF funds, In
accordance wilh the TiF Eligible Activities {defined herein), to provide assistance In
the renovaiion of the Property for the business; and

WHEREAS, the Clty has authorized Econommic Development Division clty staff fo
d administer ihis Agr

ge an his / on behalf of the City Induding, without
limitati sthorizing the City M: to execule this Agreement with MIC, thereby
ing terms, diti and requl ts for particlpation in thls Ag In

with TIF Guiek and
NOW, THEREFORE, In ideration of the going recitals, which are

incosporated hersin by reference, and the mutual obligations of the Parties as hereln
expressed, the Gity and MIC agree as follows:

G MENT
I. DEFINITIONS
The following larms shall have the following meanings whenever used in this
Agreement, except where the context clearly Indicates otherwise. Any ambigulty as 1o

the inlended meaning or scope of the ferms sot forfh balow will be resolved solely by
the City through its deslgnated representative.




. *Completion Date” means the data thet a Final Cerlificat of Occupancy 18

issuad by the Cly of Evanston Bullding & Inspecion Services Divislon following
the renovations 1o the Property and shall not be any later than Dacember M,
2013 unless extended pursuant to section V.,

, “Community Engagement” means the community services and engegement

programs ectablished by MIC.

. "pirector® means lhe Cily's Dlractor of C: ity & ic Devel t or

hisiher designee, who Is responsivla far managing and adminlste?ing this
Agreement on behalf of the Chty.

. "Grant” means the tolal amount of the Gity's grant of TIF funds to MIC {or

purposes of funding TIF Eiigible Activities of the Project, which shall not exceed
One Hundred Sixty-Five Thousand and nof00 Dollars (§165,000.00).

. "Project’ means the improvements to the Properly as proposed by MIC,

attachad as Exhibit B is the Site Plan for the renovations to the Property and
incorporated hereln by reference. Specifically, MIC desires to renovate the
Property to make It sultable for uge as a music sducation and afflce space by
using TIF funds for said renovation.

. *Project Costs” means the costs associaied with the renovations detalled in the

Site Plan, limited {o the costs which MIC will be seeking reimbursement.

. “TIF Eliglble Activities” means activitles determined to be eligible for payroent

from the City's Washington National TIF fund under the guldelines of the Iinols
Tax t Allocati pment Act, 66 ILCS 6/11-74.4 et seq., as
amended.

. *TIF Guldefines” means the regulations found In the WWinols Tax Increment

Aliocation Redevelopment Acl, 65 L.CS 6/1-T4.4 et seq., as amended. All terms
nol defined herein shall have the meanings set forth inihe TIF Guldelines.

*Tota} Allowable Expenses” means the actual cosls incurred, pald for, and
documented by MIC and approved by the Director for the proper performance of
the improvement work required by the plans and specifications  end/or
archilecturalidesign renderings for the Project. Such allowabls expenses must
be TIF Eligible Activities.

“Total Project Expenditure’ means the tota! actual Project Costs Incumed by
and paid for by the Glty, up to the amount of the Grant, and then payments made
by MIC after the amount of the Grant has heen spent, which Inciudes alt costs of
constructlon, materials, & supplies.

~g—




1. TERMS OF GRANT

a.

o

8

[l

[

The Grant funds pald by the Gity pursuant to this Agreement shall not be made
until all of the renovations somprising the Project have been completed, no later
than December 31, 2013 (or as provided In Section V), all of the improvement
work compnslng the Pro]ecl has been inspecled and approved by the Director,
and MIC has d pay 0 its and vendors and lien waivers
have been execuled.

. MIC shall finance fhe Project, with owner funds (cash), if applicable, private

finaneing, and the Grant. Mlc shall submit to ihe Director itemized pald invoices
detailing the work and d. Such involces shall
Include proof of payment to all contractors and vendors and applk'.able fen
waivers. MIC is resp for all

andhvendors and providing trve and comedt ouples of unconditional lien releases
to the City.

After review and approval of the red d lon submitted by MIC In
accordance with Section li(a), the CKy shall relmburse MIC with Grant funds in
the principal amount of the Grant not fo exceed One Hundred Sixty-Flve
Thousand and ne/100 Dellars ($165,000.00) from the Clty’s Washington National
TIF Fund for | that are app: as TIF Eliglb'e Expenses for lhe
Piofect  The Grant shall not be disbursed in Instaliments, rather be made in a
lump sum only after MIC has eomplied with the requuements setforih In Section
).

If the Total Project Expendifures are greater than One Hundred Sixty-Five
Thousand and no/100 Doltars (5185 000 00}, MIC shali be solely respansible for

any p to the above the Grant amount and
for the Total Project Expand'tures If any Preject Costs are delsiined to nol ba
TIF Ellglble Activities, MIC must submit payment at its own expenss and MIC
shell receive no reimbursement from the City for non-TIF Eligible Activities,

. As currently proposed, the Project Cosis planned by MIC would quam'y as TIF

Fligible Activiles, The Director shall promptly d fo ion of any
invokes and shall not withhold unneasonahly any deslgnatlon of TIF Ekgible
Activities.

C ity El MIC will develop r bl 1o be a steward
for the arts In the communlty. Wilkin 60 days of the Effeclive Date of this
Agreement, MIC will have an action plan developed o address ita conununity
engagement program and review its p in I with the
Director. The Community Engagement shall include scholarships or financial aid,
freo concert lickets and ‘discounts oh group classes to students at both
Evanston/Skekie School District No, 66 and Evanston Township High School
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Districk No. 202 amounting to & valve of not less than Five Thousand and no/100
Dollar ($5,000.00) annually.

. MIC shall lease and operate the busi fated In this Ag t at the

Property for a minlmum of 10 years afler the Effective Dafe or & portion of the
grant will be refunded to Ine City as follows.

i 1§ MIC veeates the Property or coases 1o operate Iis business at the
Property for any reason prior fo the end of the 10" year {120
monthe), MIC will refund a prorated amount of the Grant. MIC shall
provide the City thify (30) days’ notice prior o vacating the
Propsity or don 1o cease Iis op al the Property.

il For example, If MIC coases to operale its business al the Properly
after yaar four (4) of the Agreement, then MIC would refund to the
Clly $98,000 (10 ~ 4 = 6/10 x $166.000). The amount shall be
prorated on the 365 day calendar year, depending on the date
which MIC ceases fo operate Ra business at the Property.

11, MIC's RESPONSIBILITIES

=4

a

o

MIC shall provide a Bst of all copstuction activifies fo the Ciy prior to
commencement of work fo verify that the Project Gosts are TIF Ellgible Acliviies
and City staff will conduct & separale evaluation of the Project Costs, Of those
expenses submitted for review, il will be determined which are eligible expenses
for payment by the Clty and are TIF-Eligible Activities. Netwithstanding the City
stafl's review of the TIF Eligible Expenses, MIG Is ullimately responsible for

ing that all budgeted for p t under the Crant are

reimbursable under the TIF Act.

. MIC shall comply with ali tesms and conditions of thls Agreement and all

applicable faderal, State, and local laws and regulations.

. MIC shall oblain and submit all required certificales of Insuranca, as set forth

herein, fo the Director within a period of seven (7) days following the execution of
this Agreement.

. MIC shall be responsib'e for hirlng d fo plete the Project.

The Director may require submission of proof of the applicable Stale License
Issued to the selected confractor. MIC ehall be responsible for contacting the
Director to obtaln all Clty approvals endfor permits required for construction and
completion of the Project.

MIC shall be fully responsible for ftoring, and scheduling the

construction of the Project, for ensuring compllance with the payment of
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prevailing wages, If ticable, end for ing that all &
completad properly and in conformance with the Project.

pravements are

. MIC shall make a good faith effort fo use Evanston-based businesses as

frequently as Is ﬁnanchlly feasible when purchasing supplies and/or hiring

and services providers for the Project. MIC shall

oblaln three (3) estimates for the scope of work for the Pm]ect and one (1)
mustbe from an

. Upon complefion of the Project to the point where a cerﬁﬁcate of occupancy Is

Issued, MIC shall nofify the Director and request inspection of the Project by the
Dicector.

. After completion of the Project fo the point where a cerifficate of ocoupancy is

issued, MIC shall submit to the Direclor a reporf that includes the following:

i Letter indicating the first phase of the Project, which Includes the black
box theater, Is completad and the Cost i for the Project;

I All contractor invokes detalling the spacific tasks compleled in
accordance with approved Project;

5. Unconditional fen relsases from contractors; and

lv.  Any additional d by by the Director.

MIC shall malnlain the Propeny and perform the construction aclivities for the
Project in i with all appli provislons of the Evanston City Code of
2012, as amended.

. MIC shall not be more than ninety (80) days in arrears wilh regards to any City

utility and/or service bills.

IV. THE CITY'S RESPONSIBILITIES

a. City shall dishurse up to One Hundred Sidy-Five Thousand Oollars

($165,000.00) for the Grant from the City’s Washinglon National TIF Fund for the
Project.

. Within a reasonable time after MIC nelifies City of the completion of the Project,

the Direclor shail inspact the improvements to ensure they were completed In
accordance with approved Project and (ts guidetines.

¢ The Diteclor shall review MIC contractors’ and vendors' sworn statements and

accompanying documenls, and, if sald documents meet all terms, condltions,
and jons under this A t and the TIF Guidslines for Eligible Project
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Costs, the Director shall, in the ordinary course of business, submit
relmbursement to MIC up to the amount of the Grant.

V. TIME OF PERFORMANCE

MIC shal complete tha Project no lafer Ihan December 31, 2013. Failure fo complete
the Praject by December 31, 2013 will constitute an evenl of default by MIC.
Reasonable requests for additional fime and lons in Project pletion will be
granted, but only if submitted in writing prior to the expiration of the Agreement and with
only minor “punch Tist tems fo be pleted. In no shall any
extensions of Ume be granted beyend June 30, 2014.

VI, INSURANCE

a. During the enlire period n which work on the Project Is performed, MIC shall

oblaln and malntain In full force and effect during sald pered the following

policies: (i) Comp hensive 1 Liability { n a general

aggregale amount of not less than $1,000,000, $1,000,000 Producls and
Cornpleted Operations Aggregale, and $1 000,000 for each occumrence.

b. AR insurance policles shall name the City of ton, and their respect!
olected officials, officers, employees, agents, and representatives as addifional
Insureds.

. All deductibles on any palicy chall be the responsioliity of the primary halder of
such policy and shall not be the responsibitity of the: City.

d. MIC shall provide evidence of required insurance to the Director within seven (7)
days after execution of this Agreement.

Vii. OBLIGATION TO REFRAIN FROM DISCRIMINATION

8. MIC covenants and agrees for tsetf, its successors and iis agslgns to the Praject,
ar any part {hereof, that i will nat discriminale against any employee or applicant
for employment because of race. color, religion, sex, sexual orisntation, marital
slaus, national arigin or ancestry, or ags of physicat or mental disabilllies that do
not impar ability to work, and further that it will examine all job classitications o
detorine i minority pessens or women are underufiized and will take
appropriale affirmative action to rectify any such underulilization within reason.

o

. MIC aprees that if It hires additional employess in order 10 perform this contract
o amy portion hereof, Jtwill determina the availabilty of minoriies and women In

fhe area(s) from which it may reasonably recruit and it will hire for each job

classification for which employees are hired'in such a way that minorities and
women ara not underutifzed while at the same time hldng the moel qualified
applicants.




c. MIC agrees thal n al sofici or adver for employees placed by it
or on its behaf, it will stale that =li apph will be afforded equal opp ity
without discrimination bacause of race, color, religion, sex, sexuaf orienlation,

marital status, national origin, ancestry, or disabiiity.

VI NO AGENCY CREAVED

MIC and any contractor, suppfier, vendor or any third party hired by MiC to complete the
Project are not agens of the City. Any provisions of this Agreement that may appear to
give the City any right to direct MIC concerning the detais of the cbligafions under lhis
Agreement, or to exerclse any control over such obligations, shall mean only that MIC
shall follow Ihe direction of the City concerning the end fesults of the obligations.

IX. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS

All documents prepared and submitied to the City to this A {includi

any duplicate copies) shall be fhe property of the City. The City’s ownarship of these
di Includes use of, reprod or reuse of and all incldental rights thereto.
However, the Clly agrees not 1o disch the bl ints or design that MIC
uses for the Profect with any competitor or reg of a patitor of MIC
through a Freedom of Information Act (5 ILCS 140/ et seq.) request,

X INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS

To the maximum exient permiitted by faw, MIC agrees to and shalf defend, indemnify
and hold hamless the Clty, and ls respective afficers, offictals, employees, contractors
and agents from and agalnst al! claims, Kability, loss, damage, costs or expenses
(including expert witness fees, reasonable attorneys’ fees, and court costs) arising from
or a8 a result of the death of any person or any accldsnt, Injury, loss or damage
whatseever caused to any person or propetty resulting or arising from or in any way

d with the following, provi MIC shall not be responsible for (and such
indemnity shall not apply to) any or willful of the City, or ils
respeclive officers, officlals, active employees, contraciors or agents:

a. The develof 3 ion, mar use or operation of the Preperty by
MIC, Hs officers, conlractors, subtonfractors, agents, employees or other
persons acling en MIC's behalf (*Indemnifying Partles™);

=

. The displacement or ralocation of any person from the Propedy as the result of
the development of the Project on the Property by the Indemnifying Parties;
provided, however, that the City and not MIC shall be solely responsible for

tarminating any lease and/or the eviction of any individual or business currently

Inhabiting the Property.
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. Any plans or designs for the Project prapared by or of behalf of MIC Including,
without limitation, any emors or omissiens with respect to said documents;

d. Any loss or damage to the City \ing from any in In or breach of any
representation of warranty of MIG, or resulling from any breach or defaull by
MIC, under this Agreement; and

e. Any and all actions, claims, damages, Injusies, challenges and/or costs or
liabilities. arising from the approval of any and all entitlemants or pemils for the
improvements by the City, and thelr respective officers, officlals, employees,
contraclors o agents.

The f ing Indemnity shall inue to remain in effect after the Completion Dale or
after the earlier temmination of this Agreement, a6 the case may be.

Xi. DUTY TO DEFEND

MIG furiher agrees that the hold hammless agreement in Anicle X, and the duly to
defend the Clty, and their respeclive officers, officlals, employees, contractors and
agents, require MIC to pay any costs that the City may incur which are assoclaled with

the hold p and ding any claims arsing from
obligations or services under this Agreement except for any willful misconduct of the
Clty, or its respective officers, officials, rep i aclive emplay i
oragents.

Xi, COMPLIANCE WiTH LAW

MIC agrees fo comply with all the now or in force, of all
munlicipal, caunty, state and federal authorilies, pertaining fo the development and use
of the Property and construction of the Project, as well as operations conducted on the
Property. The Director will not issue any Grant funds 1o the MIC if there fs In viaiation of
any law, ordinance, code, regulation, ar permit. The City agrees fo cooperate and assist
MIC in such compliance if the assistance of the Clty Is required.

Xl TERMINATION

If MIC shalt fall to cure any Event of Default upon naotice and within the time for cure
provided for herein, the City imay, by written notice fo the MIC, terminate this
Agreement. Such termination shall \rigger the refund of any tnamortized balance of the
grant as defined In Section 1l (). MIC may not terminate this Agreement without the
express written consent of the City. .

XIV. NOTICES

All nolices permiitsd or required hereunder must be In wiithhg and shall be effected by
® personal delivery, (i) first class mil, registered or certified, postage fully prepald, or
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(iiny tabl day or ight delivery service that provides a receipt showing
dafe and fime of dellvery addressed {o the following patties, or lo such ofher address
as any party may, from fime to time, designale in wiiting In the manner as provided
hereln:

To City: City of Evanston
2100 Ridge Avenue
Evansfon, It. 60201
Atin: City Manager

Wilh a copy to: City of Evanston
) 2100 Ridge Avenue, Room 4400
Evanston, IL 60201
Attn: Cormporation Counsel

With a copy to: City of Evansfon
2100 Ridge Avenue
Evanston, IL 60201
Attn: Direcfor of C: ity & E fc Devel t

To MIC: Music Institute of Chicago
517 Green Bay Road
Wiknette, IL 60091
Attn: Mark Georga, President and CEO
After September 1, 2013
1702 Sherman Avenue
Evanston, IL 80201
Attn: Mack Geargs, President and CEO

Any wrmen nohce, d or fion shall be d d ived b dlately If

d or delivered by delivery service to the addresses above, and shall
be deemed recelved on the third day from the date It Is postmarked if de(lvered by
reglstered or cerlified malil.

XV. DEFAULT; REM'EDIES; DISPUTE RESOLUTION
a. Notice of Defaull.

In the event of fallure by elther party hareto substanhally {o perform any material
term or provision of hls A the parly shall have those
rights and ] ided herein, provided that such faulling party has
first provided to the defaulhng party 6 wiltlen notice of default In tha manner
required herein ienlifying with specificity the nature of the alleged defauli and
the manner in which said default may be safisfactarily be cured.

b. Cure of Default




XV,

Upan the recelpt of the notice of defaull, the alleged defauling parly shall
promptly commence fo cure, cotrect, or remedy such default within 80 days and
shall continuously and diligently prosecute such cure, comection or remedy to
completion.

City Remedles; Refund of Grant

in the evant of a materlal default by MIC of tha terms of this Agreement that has
not been cured within the fima frame el forlh In Paragraph b above, the City, at
Its option, may terminate this Agreement or may instilute egal action in faw or in
equity to cure, commact, or remedy such default, enjoin any threatened of
atternpted violstion, or enforce the ferms of this Agreement. In the event of a
default by MIC that oocurs after the Cty has disbursed any Grant funds, the total
of such \(s), shall be ded 10 the City as provided [ Section ug
above.

All payments shall be first credited to accrued Interest, next to costs, charges,
and fees which may be owing from time to fme, and then fo principal the
snemortized balance of the grant. Al payment shalt be made in lawful money of
the United States. Payments shall be made to Clty at the address set forth in
Article IV hereln or at such other address as Gity may direct pursuant fo notice
dellvered to MIC In accordance with Article XIV.

. WMIC's Exclusive Remedles,

The parfles acknowledge thal the Cily would nol have entered into this
Agreement if it were 10 be lable in damages under, or with respect to, this
Agteement or any of the matters referred to hereln, Including the Project, except
as provided in this ‘Article. Accardingly, MIC shall not be entitled to damages of
monatary relief for any breach of this Agreement by the Clty or arising out of o
connected with any dispute, controversy, o Issue between MIC and the City
regarding this Agreement of any of the matters referred to herein, the parties

greeing that y and Injunct rellef, and specific
parformance shall be MIC’s sole and exclusive Judicial remedies except for any
wilful misconduct of the City, o #ts respective officers, officials, representatives,
active employees, contractors or agenls.

APPLICABLE LAW

The Jaws of the State of Hliinais without regard to princlples of confficls of law shall
pretation and 1 - i

govem the

XV

¢ of this Ag

CONFLICT OF INTEREST
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a. No member, ‘officta), or employee of the Cily shall have any parsonal interest,
direct or Indirect, In this Agreement, nor shall any such member, officlal, or
employee participate In any declsion refafing to the Agreement which affects
hismer ] L or (he inte of any com partnershlp, or

association in which hefshe s, directly or Indirectly, Interested.

er

. MIC warrants that It has not pald or given, and will not pay or give, any third
person any money or other ' ion for obtaining this A it

XVIl. NON-LIABILITY OF CITY OFFICIALS AND EMPLOYEES

No member, official, agent, legal counsel or employee of the City shall be personally
liable to the MIC, or any successor In intetest in the event of any defaull or breach by
the City or for any amouni which may become due to MIC or successar or on any
obligation under the terms of this Agreement unless such person shall have acted
outside the scope of his or her employment responsibliities.

XVIIL BINDING EFFECT
This Agreement, and the tems, p and condltions hereof,

shall be binding upon and shall inure 1o the beneft of the parties hereto and their
pective heirs, legal reg ives, and asslgns.

XIX. AUTHORITY TO SIGN

MIC hereby that the g this A on behalf of MIC
have full authority to do so and to bind MIC fo perform pursuant 1o the terms and
conditions of this Agreement.

XX. COUNTERPARTS

This Agreement may be executed by each party on a separate signature page, and
when the execuled signature pages are combined, shall constitute one single
Insfrument.

XA1.  ENTIRE AGREEMENT, WAIVERS AND AMENDMENTS

a, This Agreement and the Exhibits and references incorporated inte this
A t express all understandings of the parties concerning the matters

d in this Ag This Ag 2l of the ferms and
conditions. tioned hereln or incidental hereto, and sup des afl
of previous agresments between the parties with respect to all or any part of the
subject matter hereof,

-3

. All waivers of the provisions of this Agreement must be i writing and signed by
the appropriate authorities of the Cily or the MIC, and all amenéments hereto
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must be In writing and signed by the approprials authorities of the City and the
MIC,

X¥il. NON-ASSIGNMENT

MIC shall not asslgn the obligations under this Agl 1, nor any monies due of to
hecome dus, without the Clty's prior writien app I, and MIC proposed assi 'S
tion of an and i t In & form approved by the City.

Any assk t In vialation of this p A ph Is grounds for breach of this Agreement,
al the sols discretion of fhe City Manager. in no event shall any putatlve assigntnent
create a {ual refationship b the City and any putalive assignee.

XXiil. NOWAIVER

No failure of either the Clty or MIC fo Insist upon the strict performance by the other of
any cavenant, term of condition of this Agreement, hot any failure to exercise any right
or remedy consequenl upon a breach of any covenant, lerm, or condition of this
Agreement, shall constilute a walver of any such braach or of such covenant, term or
condition. No waiver of any breach shall affect or aller this Agreement, and each and
every cavenant, condftion, and term hereof shall continue In full foree and effect.

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have signed this Agreement as of the date first
wiiten above.

THE CITY OF EVANSTON,
an llfinols home rule municipal corporation Blmved asfo form:

Grant Farrar
By: !A/W';Jvﬁ/h/‘.w« = Corfzmlls\ngﬂAQSMq{).

Its: Chty Manager, Wally Bobklewicz

MUSIC INSTITUTE OF CHICAGO
an llfinols not-for-profit corporation

BM

Uts: President i

print Name: WK GRORGET
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )
) sS.
COUNTY OF COOK }

The Undersigned, a Notary Public in and for sald Counly in the Stale aforesald,
do hereby ceriify that Wally Bobklewlez, City Manager of the Cily of Evanston,
personally known ta me to be the same person whose name is subscribed fo the
foregolng instrument as such officer, appeared before me this day In person and
acknowledged that he signed and defivered such Instrument as his own {free and
voluntary ecl, and as the free and voluntary act of the Gity of Evanston, all for the uses
and purposes sel forth thereln.

Given under my hand and notarlal seal on wy XY 2013

%

Notary Public
My Commission Expires:
\o/ftg /14 S SR
SUSANNE A
NOTARY PURLIC - GTATE OF BAINGIE
Y COMMESSON EPRESI NI

e

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
) S8
COUNTY OF COOK

)

The Undersigned, a Notary Public In and for said County In the State aforesald,
do hereby cerilfy that Z Z,gmlz,gi of the Music Institute of
Chicago, parsonally known o me "o be fhe same person whose name Is subseribed to
the foregoing Instrument as such officer, appeared before me this day In person and
acknowledged that hefshe signed and delivered such Mstrument as histher own free
and voluntary act, and as the free and voluntary act of the City of Evanston, all for the
uses and purposes set forth thereis.

Given under my hand and notarial seal on _{!?A; AR ,20

My Commission Expires:
0/ 5 . .
| : ety |
3 k4
-} NOTARY PUBLIC, STATE OF ALLINOI
My Comission s iy 142015
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EXHIBIT A
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

PARCEL 1:

LOTS 7, 8, B, 10, 11, 12 AND 13 IN THE RESUBDIVISION OF BLOCK 17 IN
EVANSTON, A SUBDIVISION IN THE NORTHWEST % OF SECTION 18 TOWNSHIP
41 NORTH RANGE 14 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, EXCEPTING
THEREFROM THAT PORTION OF LOTS 7 TO 11 AFORESAID, TAKEN AS ONE
TRACT, IN THE RESUBDIVISION OF BLOCK 17 IN EVANSTON, DESCRIBED AS
FOLLOWS TO WIT: BEGINNING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 7:
THENCE RUNNING SOUTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 7, A DISTANCE
OF 80,00 FEET; THENCE RUNNING WEST ALONG A LINE PARALLEL WITH THE
NORTH LINE OF SAID LOY 7, A DISTANCE OF 3500 FEET; THENCE RUNNING
SOUTH ALONG A LINE PARALLEL WITH EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 7, A DISTANCE

Common Address: 1702 Shesman Avenue, Suite el » Evanston, {linols

PIN: 11-18-126-020-0000
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EXHIBIT B




DRAFT — NOT APPROVED

TIF Joint Review Board
Meeting Minutes
December 5, 2013

Attendees:

Board Members: Kathy Zalewski - School District 65, Ald. Ann Rainey — City of
: Evanston, Bill Stafford - District 202, Brian Rosinksi -
Ridgeville Park District, Valerie Kretchmer - Member at Large

Board Members Absent: Carolyn Dellutri - Downtown Evanston, Bob Novak - Oakton
Community College, Larry Kaufman - Member at Large,
Richard Kwasneski - Péﬁg%féﬁargaret Lee — Oakton
Community College, Kthleen Therese Meany - Metropolitan
Water Reclamationgisirict, Rokert Berry- North Shore
Mosquito Abatement, Mayor Tisthl — City of Evanston

City Staff: Johanna Nyden, Martin LyofsaCindy Plante, Janella Hardin
Others in Attendance:  Bob Rychlicki — Kane McKenna g

I Call to Order by Ald. Ann Rainey, Chair
Chair Ann Rainey called.the meeting to order at 10:06 a.m.

bard Meeting Minutes of February 21, 2013
Bill Stafford of SERaa! 2, motioned to approve the minutes from February 21,
2013.° -

The minutes from Febri 1, 2013 Were approved unanimously 4-0. .

Il. Review of Annual Reports forEj ‘cal Year January 1, 2012 — December 31, 2012
Johanna Nyden, Economic Deyglopment Division Manager, distributed maps to the
committee and gave a brief overview of the five TIF districts. '

» Chicago Main TIF was established in 2012 (not presented).

» Howard Hartrey TIF was expanded to include 222 Hartrey; Autobarn, located on
Chicago Ave is interested in relocating their operations to that property.

o Southwest TIF will close soon; Major activity in this district is Ward
Manufacturing.

» West Evanston has included small fagade projects; The increment has not grown
quickly.

« Downtown TIF completed street improvements; In 2013, the Music Institute of
Chicago relocated to 1702 Sherman.

« Howard Ridge TIF borders the south end of Evanston; The City has purchased
several properties along Howard Street to rehab in an effort to bring new
businesses to Evanston; Peckish Pig, 623 Howard, a restaurant and
Evanston’s first brewpub will be opening later this month; The property was
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purchased using funds that will be paid by to the TIF in increments. Funds from
the TIF are being used for rehab and to bring the building up to code; When the
owners of Peckish Pig purchase the property from the City all the funds used to
pay for the property as well as the rehab will be recouped.

Assistant City Manager Marty Lyons provided a consolidated summary of each TIF,
including projected activity and summary of revenues.

A. Southwest TIF District #2
Marty Lyons provided an executive summary to the Joint,Review Board detailing
the revenue and assessed value for each of the TIF Bistrigts. He brought the
Board'’s attention to page 19 of the report. He stated thdtthe Southwest TIF District
will terminate in October 2014. ‘

At Ald. Rainey’s request, Mr. Lyons confirmed tfie bouﬁ&aﬁ" of this TIF are
Main/Oakton/McCormick/Dodge. This district includes Ward inufacturing and
Sam’s Club. The TIF went negative to complete the Ward Maniitagfuring project.

There were not many distributions because the TIF began with a negatife

e balance.
He explained that the TIF is now positive, stable and active. There ig?one potential
capital project scheduled in 2014 that would encompass the $304,000 in the
balance plus an additional incggment of $450,000. Any distributions at the close of
this TIF will be nominal.

Ald. Rainey thought a report figm
understanding how they have prosperegs
tour of the facility.

the future. At Mr. Stafford’s inquiry, Mr. Lyons confirmed that
e to ensure that all necessary documentatlon is on file and

Evanston tog T’é opposnte position after being charged $180, 000 for the
Downtown TIE “The City had been paying down debt on the City’s parking garages
using TIF funds. We received a notice from the County 3 days ago and is being
reviewed by Legal.

Mary Gavin, Evanston Roundtable, asked if the school districts will receive a
distribution from the Southwest TIF like they did in the past. Mr. Lyons explained
that the agreement expired. In the last year, $1 million in surplus distributions were
split between all taxing bodies from the Howard Hartrey TIF.

TIF Joint Review Board Meeting — 12/5/13 Page 2 of 2




B. Howard Hartrey TIF District #3
The beginning balance as of January 1, 2012 was $5,000,873, expenditures of
$1,882,296, for an ending balance as of December 31, 2012 of $4,245,639. Mr.
Lyons noted that the boundaries of the TIF have changed. There is also a new
development in process with a total value in excess of $10 million, which will be
calculated into the assessed value for the remainder of the TIF.

Mr. Stafford thinks this will be a win/win for everyone involved. This TIF will
become more valuable and add to the pie for the taxing bodies.

Ald. Raihey clarified that this project includes the shopping center on Howard that
houses the Jewel, Best Buy, Target and Office Max. She added that there has
never been a vacancy there.

thi It~ are Howard/Hartrey/canal. He
the Aytobarn auto maintenance and
ation [ hey would bring all of their

Mr. Lyons confirmed the boundaries of
informed the group of the expansion
detailing business from the Chicago Ave
stock to this area and potentially bring oth

=T

Three of their graduates work as ‘mechanics thef&Lhe also host an internship
program for students and donated cars to the district's' :

.r;ﬁjgl relationship with Autobarn.

Autobarn confirmed that this opportunity with enhahce training for the school
ire 30 new employees for the expansion.

are sfill some refinanced 2008D bonds left from the

Mr. Lyons 1‘%—;&*{
iney reminded the group that bonding in advance is a

original boid 15548,

35,

great way to jumpsg H 3

$7,034,353 and grew to $21,866,716 as of
» also noted page 24, which shows a $1 million

The TIF started in 19
December 31, 2012. Mr
surplus.

C. Washington National TIF #4
Mr. Lyons confirmed the boundaries of the Washington National TIF are
Church/Davis/Chicago/Elmwood. The fund balance as of December 31, 2012 was
$7,291,304.

The Davis Street construction is being partially financed by this TIF. A balance
decrease is expected for 2013, which includes $3.7 million in bond payments for
Sherman Garage. A transfer is made from the TIF to the Parking Fund where the
asset is. The Parking Fund then pays off the bond.

At Ald. Rainey's inquiry, Mr. Stafford explained that under the TIF Act sales tax
generated from businesses within the TIF district can be accessed to reimburse
the City.
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* Ald. Rainey requested reporting sales tax increments generated in districts that
have never reported in the past.

Ms. Kretchmer asked about the potential of future developments that could
increase the estimated assessed value during the term of the TIF. Ms. Nyden
responded that it is unlikely since this TIF is scheduled to terminate in 2018. The
Chicago/Main development is scheduled to open and operate in late 2015 or early
2016. The best case scenario is that the assessor would reassess with one year
left before the TIF expires.

At Ms. Kretchmer’s inquiry, Ms. Nyden explained that the space that used to house
the Walgreens is fully leased with a daycare, Naf Naf Grill and a hair salon is
relocating to that space. Lyfe Kitchen is relocating to the rotunda.

Mr. Lyons explained that there will still b&, funds here. The increment is
approximately $-$5 million. This TIF was higby a

‘Wownward reassessment with its

. Howard Ridge TIF District #5
This TIF is bordered by Howard and Ridge. Thésalance is $1,055,510 with some
Trust. The 2012 expenses
#This development was
substantially reassessed downward, which loweredjithe property taxes from

$600,000 to $300,000.

SEiganne:

assessment was based on formula reassessments or if
T*‘ges. Mr. Lyons agreed to inquire and confirm. The
itis 100% occupied.

Ms. Nyden discussetiihie new't Binents west of Chicago Ave. There are a few
smaller projects in prote
that once the properties & d or sold we will receive reimbursements.

Ms. Nyden confirmed that the cocktail lounge has completed 1 1/2 years of a 3
year lease-to own-portion of a 5 year deal. They will purchase the property in a
year and a half. If they choose not to purchase the property between years 3 and
5, the City can sell it to someone else as an investment property.

Peckish Pig has a 7 year lease-to-own deal, which includes 18 months of free rent.
After 18 months payments will ramp up toward the eventual purchase of the
property. They will pay back every penny invested.

Ms. Nyden confirmed that Ward Eight has never missed a payment on any of their
loans. They have paid rent since June of last year that goes to Community
Development. There is a commercial portion that goes to a fund backed by the
TIF. They have also been repaying a $30,000 loan for equipment through the
Community Development Block Grant since January 1, 2013. Ald. Rainey stated
that despite community outery, Ward Eight will not fail.

includihag some property acquisition. Ald. Rainey noted -
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E. West Evanston TIF District #9
Mr. Lyons explained that this TIF contributed $600,000 to the Emerson Square
residential development. It is currently a short-term line of credit with First Bank
and Trust, which is still paying under 2% interest. The current balance is $872,847
with $600,000 as a loan.

The TIF will have a negative increment next year. The highest increment in this TIF
was $450,000. The beginning EAV for the TIF area was $37 million and is now $45
million

There are a variety of de ) i ge«qnd property east of
Dodge. The West Evanston plan wi ith Alds. Holmes and
Braithwaite. We are awaiting the JunefJuly repok e County with a new
assessed value. 4 -

At Ms. Kretchmer's inquiry, Ms. Nyden discussed th
implementation. Autobarn has been leasing a portion of the ROkl
they move to 222 Hartrey, it will set into motion a number of things. ™
in place when things become available for redevelopment.

From District 202’s point of view, Mr. Stafford feels that West Evansion TIF is very
important. It is viewed as a pafigship with the City and is well positioned for the
future.

3issTIF. Most of the TIF property

Mr. Lyons stated that there is still 1'§‘y
#ion and more remediation.

is a lot or the right-of-way, which me

Mr. Lyons thanked First Bank & Trust qié_ste_pping up and agreeing to extend a line
of credit when the County was late with ﬁ}iﬁerty taxes.

s inquiry, Mr. Rychlicki explained that the TIFs are doing very
ther west suburban towns. Overall, these TIFs have done better
an others. Potential issues could arise from the newer TIFs.

ghmer
ER N

s explainegithat the Downtown TIF is a visible success. It is a huge

Ald. Rainey & if there will be an assessment for the children of the Emerson
Square schogis. Mr. Rychlicki explained that there must be a redevelopment
agreement on file. Mr. Lyons will confirm the assessment due to the funds from the
Woast Evanston TIF in support of the Emerson Square project.

Mr. Stafford motioned to accept the annual report, seconded by Ms. Kretchmer. Vote
called and taken.

iv. Adjournment

Mr. Stafford motioned to adjourn, seconded by Ms. Kretchmer. Meeting adjourned at
11:26 a.m.

TIF Joint Review Board Meeting — 12/5/13
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NEW ISSUE Ratings: Moody’s: “Aal”
GLOBAL BOOK ENTRY Fitch: “AA+”
(See “BOND RATINGS” herein)

_ Subject to compliance by the City with certain covenanis, in the apinion of Chapman and Cutler LLP, Bond Counsel, under present law, inferest
on the Bonds is excludable from gross income of the owners thereof for federal income lax purposes and is not included as an item of tax
preference in computing the federal alfernative minimum fax for individuals and corporations, but such interest is taken into account in
compuiing an adjustment used in determining the federal alternative sminimum tax for certain corporations. The interest on the Bonds is not
exempt from present State of Mirois income taxes. See “TAX EXEMPTION" and “Form of Legal Opinion” herein for a more complete

discussion. The Bonds will not be designated as “qualified tax-exempt obligations” under Section 265(b)(3) of the Code.

City of Evanston
Cook County, Illinois

$28,875,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2013B

Dated: Date of Delivery Due: December 1, as shown on inside cover

The $28,875,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2013B (the “Bonds”) of the City of Evanston, Cook County,
[inois (the “City”), will bear interest from their dated date at the rates per annum as shown on the inside cover page. Interest
on the Bonds (computed on the basis of a 360-day yeat consisting of twelve 30 day months) will be payable semi-annually on
cach June 1 and December 1, commencing June 1, 2014. The Bonds will be issued in integral multiples of $5,000. The Bonds
are subject to redemption prior to their maturity as more fully described in this Official Statement. See “THE BONDS —
Optional Redemption” herein. :

The Bonds will be issued in book-entry form, as registered in the name of Cede & Co., as registered owner and nominee of The
Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”). Payments of principal and interest on the Bonds will be made by
‘Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., Minneapolis, Minnesota, as paying agent and bond registrar (the “Bond Registrar”) to Cede & Co.,
which will, in turn, remit such payments to the DTC participants for subsequent disbursements to the Beneficial Owners (as
defined in this Official Statement) of the Bonds. Purchases of the Bonds will be made in book-entry-only form and individual
purchasers will not receive physical delivery of bond certificates.

In the opinion of Chapman and Cutler LLP, Bond Counsel, the Bonds will be a valid and Jegally binding general obligation of
the City, except that the rights of the owners of the Bonds and the enforceability of the Bonds may be limited by bankruptcy,
insolvency, moratorium, reorganization and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights and by equitable principles, whetber
considered at law or in equity, including the exercise of judicial discretion, and all taxable property in the City will be subject
to the levy of taxes to pay the same without limitation as to rate or amount.

The City will furnish the written approving opinion of Chapman and Cutler LLP as to the legality of the Bonds and the
exemption of interest on the Bonds from federal income taxes. Such opinion is to be based on Bond Counsel’s examination of
the law and a certified copy of the record of proceedings relating to the issuance of the Bonds. :

Financial Advisor: Public Financial Management, Inc.
Not Bank Qualified: The Bonds will not be designated as “qualified tax-exempt obligations.”
Delivefy: Delivery of the Bonds is expected on November 20, 2013

The date of this Official Statement is October 30, 2013.

(THIS COVER PAGE CONTAINS CERTAIN INFORMATION FOR QUICK REFERENCE ONLY. IT IS NOT A SUMMARY OF THIS ISSUE. INVESTORS MUST
READ THE ENTIRE OFFICIAL STATEMENT TO OBTAIN INFORMATION [ESSENTIAL TO THE MAKING OF AN INFORMED INVESTMENT DECISION.)

Baird



MATURITIES, RATES AND YIELDS

CITY OF EVANSTON
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS

$28,875,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 20138

December 1

Year Amount Interest Rate Yield cusrp*
2014 $ 2,490,000 2.00% 0.30% 2992275M6
2015 3,920,000 2.00% 0.45% 2992275N4
2016 3,920,000 2.00% 0.65% 2992275P9
2017 4,000,000 3.00% 1.00% 2992275Q7
2018 3,660,000 3.00% 1.30% 2992275R5
2019 1,705,000 3.00% 1.70% 299227583
2020 1,765,000 3.00% 2.00% 2992275T1
2021 1,815,000 3.00% 2.35% 2992275U8
2022 1,865,000 3.00% 2.55% 2992275V6
2023 1,920,000 3.00% 2.70% 2992275W4
2024 ’ 895,000 3.00% 2.90% 2992275X2
2025 920,000 3.00% 3.10% 2992275Y0

* The above-referenced CUSIP numbers have been assigned by an independent company not affiliated with the City and are
included solely for the convenience of the holders of the Bonds. The City is not responsible for the selection or uses of such
CUSIP numbers, and no representation is made as to its correctness on the Bonds, or as indicated above. The CUSIP numbers are
subject to change after the issuance of the Bonds.




Certain information in this Official Statement has been obtained by the City of Evanston, linois, from The
Depository Trust Company and other non-City sources that the City believes to be reliable. No representation or
warranty is made, however, as fo the accuracy or completeness of that information. Nothing contained in this
Official Statement is a promise or representation by the Underwriter. This Official Statement is being used in
connection with the sale of the Bonds referred to in this Official Statement and may not be used, in whole or in part,
for any other purpose.

No dealer, broker, salesman or other person is authorized fo give any representations concerning the Bonds
other than those contained in this Official Statement, and if given or made, such other information or representations
may not be relied upon as statements of the City. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the
soljcitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is
unlawful to make such an offer, solicitation or cale. Unless otherwise indicated, the City is the source of the tables
and statistical and financial information contained in this Official Statement. The information and opinions
expressed in this Official Statement are subject to change without notice. Neither the delivery of this Official
Statement nor any sale made under this Official Statement shall, under any citcunastances, create any implication
that there has been no change in the financial condition or operations of the City or other information in this Official
Statement, since the date of this Official Statement.

This Official Statemient should be considered in its entirety. No one factor should be considered less
imaportant than any other by reason of its position in this Official Statement. Where statutes, ordinances, reports or
other documents are teferred to in this Official Statement, reference should be made to those documents for more
complete information regarding their subject matter.

The Bonds will not be registered under the Secunities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities law of any
state of the United States, and will not be listed on any stock or other securities exchange. Neither the Securities and
Exchange Commission nor any other federal, state, municipal or other governmental entity shall have passed upon
the accuracy or adequacy of this Official Statement.

IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING OF THE BONDS, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OR MAY
NOT OVERALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET
PRICES OF THE BONDS AT LEVELS ABOVE THOSE WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE
OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME
WITHOUT NOTICE. THE PRICES AND OTHER TERMS RESPECTING THE OFFERING AND SALE OF
THE BONDS MAY BE CHANGED FROM TIME TO TIME BY THE UNDERWRITER AFTER THE BONDS
ARE RELEASED FOR SALE AND THE BONDS MAY BE OFFERED AND SOLD AT PRICES OTHER THAN
THE INITIAL OFFERING PRICES, IN CLUDING SALES TO DEALERS WHO MAY SELL THE BONDS INTO
INVESTMENT ACCOUNTS. THE CITY IS NOT PARTY TO OR LIABLE FOR ANY OF THESE
ACTIVITIES.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT

Relating to

CITY OF EVANSTON
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS

$28,875,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2013B
INTRODUCTION

This Official Statement sets forth information concerning the offex by the City of Evanston, Cook County,
Tilinois (the “City™), of the $28,875,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 20138 (the “Bonds”). The
Bonds are authorized pursuant to and in accordance with the “home rule” powers granted to the City under Article
VI, Section 6 of the Hlinois Constitution of 1970 and a bond ordinance of the City adopted on October 28, 2013 (as
supplemented by the bond order execuied in connection therewith, the “Bond Ordinance™).

The Bonds are a general obligation of the City to which the City pledges its full faith and credit with a
claim for payment from ad valorem taxes levied upon all taxable property in the City, without limitation as to rate or
amount, except that the rights of the owners of the Bonds and the enforceability of the Bonds may be limited by
bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights and by
equitable principles, whether considered at Jaw or in equity, including the exercise of judicial discretion. See
“SECURITY FOR THE BONDS.”

The City, with a population in 2010 of 75,549, is located along Lake Michigan immediately north of
Chicago, Illinois. Evanston includes residential neighborhoods and patks and a major revitalized central business
area of shops, restaurants, theaters, offices and corporate headquarters, neighborhood shopping areas, hospitals and
universities. The City is the home of Northwestern University, with about 10,000 students and 5,000 employees at

its Evanston campus. The City’s per capita and median family incomes are substantially higher than Cook County
and State of llinois (the “State”) levels. See “DEMOGRAPHIC DATA.”

PURPOSE OF THE BONDS

The Bonds are being issued to refund the obligations listed in the below table.
Refunded Obligations

Maturities Maturities Amount

Dated Issue Quistanding  Refunded Refunded Call Date
05/01/2004 General Obligation Bonds, Series 2004 2013 - 2023  2014-2023  $9,325,000 12/01/2013
07/15/2004 General Obligation Bonds, Series 2004B 2013-2017 2014-2017  $2,235,000 12/01/2013
07/28/2005 General Ob]jgation Bonds, Series 2005 2013 -2025 2014 -2025 $18,440,000 12/01/2013



SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS
The proceeds of the Bonds are expected to be applied as follows:

Estimated Sources:

Par Amount of Bonds $28,875,000.00
Net Original Issue Premium 1,380,545.10
Total Sources of Funds $ 30,255,545.10

Estimated Uses: .
Refunded Bonds Account $30,000,000.00

Cost of Issuance 75,885.00

Underwriter's Discount ’ 179,185.57

Debt Service Fund (excess proceeds) 474.53

Total Uses of Funds $30,255,545.10
SECURITY FOR THE BONDS

General Obligation of the City

The full faith and credit of the City are irrevocably pledged to the punctual payment of the principal of and
interest on the Bonds. The Bonds are direct and general obligations of the City, and the City is obligated to levy ad
valorem taxes upon all the taxable property in the City for the payment of the Bonds and the interest thereon,
without limitation as to rate or amount, except that the rights of the owners of the Bonds and the enforceability of
the Bonds may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization and other similar laws affecting
creditors’ rights and by equitable principles, whether considered at law or in equity, including the exercise of
Judicial discretion.

) Pursuant to the Bond Ordinance, the City may, before the deadline for the filing of an abatement of taxes
levied by the City for any year, adapt an ordinance abating taxes levied by the Bond Ordinance for that year to the
extent that it finds that sufficient funds of the City have been deposited into the bond fund for the Bonds to pay
principal of and interest on the Bonds during the period otherwise provided for from that levy. The City has created
a separate debt service fund for the Bonds.

Alternative Sources of Payment

It has been the City’s practice to utilize a variety of revenue sources for repayment of its general obligation
bonds; in addition to its ad valorem property taxes. For the Bonds, these alternative sources are expected to include
sales taxes, water and sewer service charges, special assessments, parking revenues, Tax Increment Financing
(“TIF”) and taxes levied for special service areas in the City to make payments on ifs general obligation
indebtedness. Although these revenue sources are not pledged to the payment of, and do not secure, the Bonds, the
City expects to utilize certain of these sources to pay debt service on the Bonds, permitting the abatement of a
portion of the property taxes levied in the Bond Ordinance.

THE BONDS
General

The Bonds will be issuable as fully registered Bonds and will be initially dated the Date of Delivery. The
Bonds mature on the dates and in the amounts, and bear interest from the “Dated Date” until paid at the rates as set
forth on the inside cover of this Official Statement. The Bonds are issuable in denominations of integral multiples
of $5,000. Interest is payable on June 1 and December 1 of each year. The first interest payment date is June 1,
2014.

The principal and redemption price of the Bonds are payable in lawful money of the United States of
America upon presentation at the office maintained for that purpose by Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., Minneapolis,
2




Minnesota, as paying agent and bond registrar (the “Bond Registrar”). Payment of interest shall be made to the
registered owner of the Bonds as shown on the registration books of the City maintained by the Bond Registrar at
the close of business on the applicable Record Date. The Record Date shall be the 15" day of the month preceding
any regular or other interest payment date ocourring on the first day of any month and, otherwise, 15 days preceding
any interest payment date occasion by the redemption of Bonds on other than the first day of a month. Interest shall
be paid by check or draft of the Bond Registrar, payable upon presentation in lawful money of the United States of
America, mailed to the address of the registered owner as it appears on such registration books (the “Registet”), or at
such other address furnished in writing by the registered owner to the Bond Registrar, o as otherwise agreed by the
City and the Bond Registrar for so long as this Bond is held by a qualified securities clearing corporation as
depository, or nominee, in book-entry form.

The Bonds will be initially registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC. DTC or a successor
depository will act as securities depository of the Bonds (the “Depository”). Individual purchases may be made in
book-entry-only form, in the principal amount of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof. Purchasers will not receive
certificates representitig their interest in the Bonds purchased. See “Book-Entry-Only System” herein. '

Optional Redemption

The Bonds maturing on Deceber 1, 2023, and thereafier are subject to redemption prior to maturity af the
option of the City on December 1, 2022 and any date thereafter, in whole or in part and if in pait in such principal
amounts and from such maturities as the City shall determine and within any maturity by lot at a redemption price of
. par plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption. ‘

Redemption Procedures

The City will, at least 45 days prior to any optional redemption date (unless a shorter time period shall be
satisfactory to the Bond Registrar), notify the Bond Registrar of such redemption date and of the principal amount and
maturity or maturities of Bonds to be redeemed. For purposes of any redemption of less than all of the outstanding
Bonds of a single maturity, the particular Bonds or portions of Bonds to be redeemed shall be selected by lot by the
Bond Regjstrar from the Bonds of such maturity by such method of lottery as the Bond Registrar shall deem fair and
appropriate {except when the Bonds are held in a book-entry system, in which case the selection of Bonds to be
redeemed will be made in accordance with procedures established by DTC or any other book entry depository);
provided that such lottery shall provide for the selection for redemption of Bonds or portions thereof in principal
amounts of $5,000 and integral multiples thereof.

Unless waived by any holder of Bonds to be redeemed, notice of the call for any redemption will be given by
the Bond Registrar on behalf of the City by mailing the redemption notice by first-class mail at least 30 days and not
more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption to each registered owner of the Bonds to be redeemed at the
address shown on the Register or at such other address as is fumished in writing by such registered owner to the Bond
Registrar.

Al official notices of redemption shall include at least the information as follows: (a) the redemption date; (b)
the redemption price; (c) if less than all of the outstanding Bonds of a particular maturity are to be redeemed, the
identification (and, in the case of partial redemption of Bonds within such maturity, the respective principal amounts)
of the Bonds 1o be redeemed; (d) a statement that on the redemption date the redemption price will become due and
payable upon each such Bond or portion thereof called for redemption and that interest thereon shall cease to accrue
from and after said date; and () the place where such Bonds are to be surrendered for payment of the redemption price,
which place of payment shall be the principal office maintained for the purpose by the Bond Registrar.

Book-Entry-Only System

The information contained in the following paragraphs of this subsection “Book-Bniry-Only System” has
been extracted from a schedule prepared by The Depository Trust Company entifled “SAMPLE OFFERING
DOCUMENT LANGUAGE DESCRIBING BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY ISSUANCE.”> The City makes 1o
representation as to the completeness or the accuracy of such information or as to the absence of material adverse
changes in such information subsequent to the date hereof. '

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, NY, will act as securities depository for the Bonds.

The Bonds will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partriership

nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered
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certificate will be issued for each annual maturity of each series of the Bonds, each in the aggregate principal
amount of such annual maturity, and such certificates will be deposited with DTC.

- DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New
York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the
Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code,
and a “cleating agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues,
corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s
. participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct
Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-
entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement
. of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks,
trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations." DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The
Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities
Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC
is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both
U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and- dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear
through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect
Participants”). DTC has a Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on
file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtce.com.

Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will
receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Security
(“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners
will not receive written confirmation from DTC of thejr purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to
receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings,
from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of
ownership interests in the Bonds are to be_accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect
Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing
their ownership interests in Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Bonds is
discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the
name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such
other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual
Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts
such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will
remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to
Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by
arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

. Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Bonds within an issue are being redeemed,
DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be
redeemed. . :

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Bonds

unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures. Under its usual procedures,

- DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the City as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns

Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts Bonds are credited on the
record date (identified in a listing attached to the Ommnibus Proxy).

Redemption proceeds, distributions, and interest payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or
such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct
Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the City or paying
agent (“Agent”), on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments
by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the
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case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the
responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, Agent, or the City, subject to any statutory or regulatory
requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend
payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the
responsibility of the City or Agent, disbursement of such paymenis to Direct Participants will be the responsibility
of DTC, and disbursement of such payments fo the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and

Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Bonds at any time by giving
reasonable notice to the City or Agent. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not
obtained, certificates for the Bonds are required to be printed and delivered.

The City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book—entry—oﬁly transfers through DTC (or a
successor securities depository). In that event, certificates for the Bonds will be printed and delivered to DTC.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system has been obtained from
soutces that the City believes to be reliable, but the City takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

NEITHER THE CITY, NOR THE UNDERWRITER WILL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR
OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPANTS, TO INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS OR TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER
. WITH RESPECT TO (1) THE ACCURACY OF ANY RECORDS MAINTAINED BY DTC, ANY DTC
PARTICIPANT OR ANY INDIRECT PARTICIPANT; (2) THE PAYMENT BY DTC, ANY DTC PARTICIPANT
OR ANY INDIRECT PARTICIPANT OF ANY AMOUNT WITH RESPECT TO THE PRINCIPAL OF,
PREMIUM, IF ANY, OR INTEREST ON THE BONDS; (3) ANY NOTICE WHICH IS PERMITTED OR
REQUIRED TO BE GIVEN TO CERTIFICATEHOLDERS; (4) ANY CONSENT GIVEN BY DTC OR OTHER
ACTION TAKEN BY DTC AS CERTIFICATEHOLDER; OR (5) THE SELECTION BY DTC, ANY DTC
PARTICIPANT OR ANY INDIRECT PARTICIPANT OF ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER TO RECEIVE
PAYMENT IN THE EVENT OF A PARTIAL REDEMPTION OF THE BONDS.

Continuing Disclosure

In order to assist the Underwriter in complying with SEC Rule 15¢2-12 promulgated by the Securities and
Exchange Commission, pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Rule”), the City shall covenant pursuant
to Resolutions adopted by the Goveming Body to enter info an undertaking (the “Undertaking”) for the benefit of
holders including beneficial holders of the Bonds to provide certain financial information and operating data relating to
~ the City annually to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB”), and to provide potices of the

oceurrence of certain events enumerated in the Rule electronically or in the manner ofherwise prescribed by the MSRB

to the MSRB. The details and terms of the Undertaking, as well as the information to be contained in the annual report -

or the notices of material events, are set forth in the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking to be executed and delivered
by the City at the time the Bonds are delivered. Such Undertaking will be in substantially the form attached hereto as
Appendix C. A failure by the City to comply with the Undertaking will not constitute an event of default on the Bonds
(although holders will have the right to obtain specific performance of the obligations under the Undertaking).
Nevertheless, such a failure must be reported in accordance with the Rule, and must be considered by any broker,
dealer or municipal securities dealer before recommending the purchase or sale of the Bonds in the secondary market.

Consequently, such a failure may adversely affect the transferability and Tiquidity of the bonds and their market price.

The City will file its continuing disclosure information using the MSRB’s Electronic Municipal Market
Access (EMMA) system. Tnvestors will be able to access continuing disclosure information filed with the MSRB at
www.emma.msrb.org.

The City inadvertently continued to utilize the Nationally Recognized Municipal Securities Information
Repositories (NRMSIRs) between June 1, 2009 and July 15, 2011, it lisu of the EMMA system. Therefore, certain
financial information and operating data relating to the City for the fiscal years ended February 28, 2009 and February
28, 2010 were uploaded to the EMMA system after the agreed upon 210 days after the last day of the City’s fiscal year.

Bond Counsel expresses no opinion as to whether the Undertaking complies with the requirements of Section.

(b)(5) of the Rule.




THE CITY
General

The City of Evanston constitutes many communities, perspectives and qualities: it is a suburb, an wban
center, a college town and lakefront community; it has leafy neighborhoods and lakefront mansions; apatrtment,
condominium and student housing; its residents are commuters and locally employed workers; the downtown is
prospering, but neighborhood commercial centers are also strong and developing. It is a part of the Chicago-land
economy and has a vigorous commercial and professional economy of its own. A population of approximately
75,000 is diverse by race, religion, age, education, economics and occupation. With 8,700 people per square mile,
Evanston has double the population density of the average North and Northwest suburb, and approximately half the
density of Chicago. The City has over 260 acres in 75 parks and five beaches.

Evanston is contiguous with Chicago, and approximately 13 miles by rapid fransit, commuter rail,
expressway or parkway from downtown Chicago. Tt borders the north shore communities of Skokie and Wilmette.

In 1863, the Village of Evanston was incorporated as a town, and after several anpexations, in 1892, the
town became a city. The City’s southern boundary was established with the City of Chicago and the present City
limits, encompassing an area of approximately 8.0 square miles, have been essentially the same ever since. The City
has four miles of shoreline along Lake Michigan.

Northwestern University

Evanston is the home of Northwestern University, so named as it was established to serve the Northwest
Territory. The University first platted the village which surrounded it. The State Legislature named the village
“Evanston” in honor of Dr. John Evans, the then president of the University’s Board. :

Northwestern University not only gives a certain vitality to the City, it affects both City revenues and many
demogtaphic profiles of the City. Approximately 99% of the students living in university housing were included in
the 2010 census, which is still unofficial at the time of the date of this Official Statement. This tends to understate
demographic statistics such as the City’s per capita income, wealth per capita, assessed value per capita, etc. On the
other hand, it increases revenue sharing and other grants based on population.

About 4,000 students live in university housing; another 900 Jive in fratemities and sororities. Roughly
800 live in two graduate student-housing complexes and approgimately 3,500 live off-campus, mostly in privately
owned apartments in Evanston.

Government

The City is a home rule municipality under the Illinois Constitution. As such, it has no tax rate or debt
limits, nor is it required to conduct a referendum to authorize the increase of debt or the imposition of real property
taxes. -

The City has a Council/Manager form of government with an elected Mayor. The Mayor is elected for a
four-year term. The Aldermen each represent one of nine wards and are elected to terms of four years. The City
Council is organized into standing committees: Administration and Public Works, Human Services, Planning and
Development and Rules. The City Council has also established several special committees and commissions and
advisory boards.

The City Manager is the Chief Administrative Officer of the City and is responsible for the management of
all City operations under the direction of the Mayor and City Council. The City Manager appoints and supervises
the directors of the City’s 10 departments. The Administrative Services Director is responsible for the central
financial functions of the City.

The City provides a broad range of municipal services, including police and fire protection, streets and
parking, water and sewer service, public libraries, social services, health and services for the aging; beaches, parks
and cultural events. The City is engaged in assisting in community and economic development and maintains land
use controls.




Schools are provided by separaie boards of education, governed by elected school boards. A small portion
of the City is located in the Skokie Park District. Wastewater treatment is provided by the Metropolitan Water
Reclamation District.

Administration

Wally Bobkiewicz, City Manager. Mr. Bobkiewicz is the City Manager, appointed in August 2009. Mr.
Bobkiewicz is the administrative head of the Municipal government and responsible for the efficient administration
of all City departments. The departments are as follows: Administrative Services, Community and Economic
Development, Fire, Health, Law, Libraty, Parks, Recreation and Community Services, Police, Public Works and
Utilities. Before working for the City of Evanston, Mr. Bobkiewicz was employed as the City Manager with Santa
Paula, California. ‘

Martin Lyons, Assistant City Manager/Treasurer. M. Lyons is the Assistant City Manager/Treasurer and
in conjunction with the City Manager, oversees and administers all the City’s departments and functions, including
the City’s utilities, and serves as the City’s Treasurer. Previous to working for the City of Bvanston, Mr. Lyons was
the Finance Director of the Village of Downers Grove, [llinois for nine years and for the Village of LaGrange,
llinois for three years.

Development Activity and City Layout

The City’s downtown is a central location for over eighty restaurants (ranging from casual to high-end),
hundreds of hotel rooms, a state-of-the art movic theater, several theater and dance companies, retail bookstores and
numerous shops.

Total EAV (“equalized assessed value” as defined herein as “Real Property Taxation”) growth in the City
has grown from $1.30 billion in 1999 to $3.04 billion in 2010, representing more than 134% in growth. Evanston’s
prudent use of TIF development has added significantly to this growth. The Washington National TIF grew by more
than $77 million from its inception in 1994.

Commercial development in the downtown area has been a priority of City government since a “Plan for
Downtown Evanston/City Comprehensive Plan” was first adopted in 1980, with continuing revisions since then.
Private development has been encouraged with coordination and support from the City. The City’s efforts have
included enhanced public transportation through the interconnection of bus, Metra rail and the Chicago Transit
Authority (the “CTA”) hubs; public art including strestscape and sidewalk amenities; creation of a commercial

 district to support nightlife in the City; and the utilization of two tax increment districts to provide support for the
Chusch Street Plaza and Sherman Plaza redevelopment areas.

The City also has eight neighborhood commercial districts. Central Street, Noyes Street, Chicago &
Dempstet, Main & Chicago and Howard & Chicago are each formed around transportation hubs. Each of these
districts has distinctive features: international, specialty retail and baked goods at Central Street; theater and dining
at Noyes Streef; antiques, art and specialty goods at Chicago & Dempster; convenient shopping at Main & Chicago
and the transportation center at Howard & Chicago, on the border of the City with Chicago. Evanston Center and
Oakton Street Center, on the Southwest Side of the City, are commercial centers initiated by developers and include
a large number of national retailers. Bach have major anchor and supportive retail which meets the needs of the
neighborhood and beyond, and were redeveloped on former vacant industrial sites.



Labor Relations

The City’s four collective bargaining contracts cover the majority of the City’s 793 (full-time equivalent)
employees and include Police: Teamsters Local 700 (expired on 2/29/2012); Firefighters: Evanston Firefighters
Association, Local 742 of the International Association of Firefighters (AFL-CIO-CLC) (expired on 12/31/11);
Public Works: American Federation of State County and Municipal Employees, Council 31 of the AFL-CIO,
Evanston City Employees Union Local 1891 A (expired on 12/31/1 1); Police Sergeants: Evanston Police Sergeants
Association, affiliated with the Illinois Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council (expires on 12/31/2012).

The City has not experienced any work stoppage due to labor difficulties for the last 30 years.

DEMOGRAPHIC DATA

Evanston’s median family income and per capita income remain consistently and significantly above State
of Ilinois and Cook County levels, as does the median home value.

Family Income, Per Capita Income and Median Home Value

2010 2000 2010 2000 2010V 20009
. Median
Median Family ~Median Family Per Capita Per Capita Home Median Home
Income Income Income Income Value Vahie
City of Evanston $104,117 $ 78,886 338,116 $ 33,645 $ 366,400 $290.800
Cook County 61,889 53,784 27,839 23,227 244,400 157,700
State of Tllinois 65,417 55,545 27,325 - 23,104 191,800 130,800

(1) Single Family Owner Occupied Units Only

Source: U.S. Census Burean

City of Evanston, Cook County and State of Iilinois
Median Home Value

Evanston Cook County State of Illinois
2010 2000 2010 2000 2010 2000

Median Home Value(™ $366,400 $290,800 $244,400  $ 157,700 $ 191,800 $ 130,800
Number of Single Family Homes™" 15,334 9,597 1,127,332 816,532 3,219338 3,219,338
Percent of Homes Valued:

Under $50,000 1.34% 0.27% 3.20% 1.91% 6.84% 6.84%
$50,000-$99,999 0.89% 3.04% 5.63%  17.34% 1391%  13.91%
$100,000-$149,000 357%  11.23% 1L18%  26.77% 1476%  14.76%
$150,000-$199,999 13.01%  14.86% 16.90%  22.54% 16.82%  16.82%
$200,000-$299,999 21.49%  22.42% 27.02%  18.06% 2226%  22.26%
Above $300,000 59.68%  48.17% 36.07%  13.37% 2541%  2541%
Total 100.00%  100.00% 100.00%  100.00% 100.00%  100.00%

Source: U.S. Census Bureau




City of Evanston — Age of Housing Structures
{as of 2010 U.S. Census)

Years Built Number Percentage
1939 or Earlier 16,333 51.15%
1940 to 1959 - 6,292 19.70%
1960 to 1969 3,069 9.61%
1970 to 1979 1,670 5.23%
1980 io 1989 1109 3.47%
1990 to 1999 1123 3.52%
2000 to 2004 1366 4.28%
2005 to Later 972 3.04%

31,934 100.00%

Total

Source: U.S. Census Bureau

Education and Employment

Census data from 2010 reflects
college, compared to 28% pationally.

that over 62% of adult residents of Evansfon have four or more years of

Educational Attainment — Population over 25

Educational Level

Graduate or Professional Degree
Bachelor’s Degree

Associate Degree

Some College, no degree

High school graduate

9th to 12th grade, no diploma
Less than 9" grade

Total

Source: U.S, Census Bureau

The following table shows the proportion of Evanston r
with the high average level of educational attainment, over 62%

professional or managerial jobs, as comp

Post-

Secondary High School
Number Percentage Education or Higher
15,707 33.20%
13,804 29.20%
1,665 3.50% 65.90%
7,136 15.10% 91.40%
4,932 10.40%
2,483 5.20%
1,599 3.40%
47,326 100.00%

ared to 37.4% in Cook County, Tllinois and 36.1% statewide.

Select Occupation Categories

Type of Occupations Number Percentage
Management, business, science, and arts 23,243 62.51%
Service occupations 4,085 10.99%
Sales and office occupations 8,048 21.64%
Natural Resources, construction, and maintenance 648 1.74%
Production, transportation, material moving 1,160 3.12%
Total 37,184 100.00%

Source; U.S. Census Bureau

esidents holding various job categories. Consistent
of job holders who are Evanston residents work in



Population

The City’s population is essentially stable, having been near 70,000 since 1950.

1990 2000 2010
City of Evanston 73,233 74,239 74,549
Cook County 5,105,067 5,376,741 5,194,675
State of Illinois 11,430,602 12,419,293 12,830,632
Source: U.S. Census Bureau
THE ECONOMY

The City enjoys a robust economy with broadly diverse economic resources. Students and the University,
professional and commercial workers, residents and business all contribute to the mix of revenue received by the
City through taxes, fees, licenses as well as property taxes.

One of the telling indicators of economic activity is retail sales as measured by sales tax receipts. The State
sales taxes payable to the City have grown at an average compound rate of approximately 0.9 percent between fiscal
years ended February 28, 2003 and December 31, 2012.

Home Rule Increase / Sales Tax Increase /

FY Ended Annual (Decrease) Annual (Decrease)
12/31/2012 $5,707,112 n.a. $ 9,008,956 n.a.
12/31/2011 4,902,429 n.a. 7,671,007 n.a.
2/28/2011 5,724,904 4.78% 8,791,573 2.87%
2/28/2010 5,463,561 (1.96%) 8,546,173 {3.52%)
2/28/2009 5,572,880 (5.73%) 8,857,994 (4.11%)
2/29/2008 5,911,796 4.61% 9,237,337 0.24%
2/28/2007 5,651,328 0.70% - 8,695,104 248%
2/28/2006 5,611,780 0.32% 8,484,692 1.13%
2/28/2005 5,594,134 1.73% 8,389,985 5.90%
2/29/2004 5,499,126 (1.40%) 7,922,537 (3.57%)
2/28/2003 5,577,088 16.38% 8,215,766 9.29%

Building Activity — Value of Permits

Value of All
Calendar Year Building Permits
2012 $ 148,357,853
2011 181,371,826
2010 130,696,500
2009 105,958,715
2008 77,836,668
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Replacement Taxes

FY Ended Amount
12/31/2012 $ 1,243473
12/31/2011 944,157

2/28/2011 1,445,092
2/28/2010 1,339,100
2/28/2009 1,440,614

Transportation

~ Evanston has excellent public transportation. It is served by a rapid transit rail line operated by CTA, with
ejght stations in Evanston. This is part of the CTA’s metropolitan rapid transit system. Commuter rail service
provided by Metra, a Division of the Regional Transportation Authority (“RTA”), serves three stops in Evanston.
Four local bus routes operated by the CTA connect all Evanston neighborhoods with its downtown area. Five bus
routes operated by PACE, a suburban bus division of the RTA, connect Evanston with north and northwestern
suburbs.

Employment

The following is a list of major employers within the City.

Largest Employers
Approximate

Number of
Employer Nature of Business Employees
Northwestern University Higher education 9,471
Evanston Northwestern Healthcare Administrative and general hospital 3,727
Evanston/Skokie School District 65 Elementary school . 1,599
St. Francis Hospital . General hospital 1,272
City of Evanston Local government 918
Presbyterian Homes/McGaw Care Center Retirement/nursing homes 602
Rotary Intemnational Non-profit service organization 535
Evanston Township High School District 202 Public high school 520
C.E. Neihoff & Co. Manufactuting 480
Mather Lifeways Retirement/nursing homes 450

Source: City of Evansion, phone canvass

Industry
Although a small proportion of the tota] property value and employment numbers, the City is home to

various manufacturing concerns including Addison Steel, a fabricating company; Ward Manufactory, a tool and die
manufacturer; and C.E. Niehoff, a manufacturer of automotive componenis.
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Unemployment

Unemployment in the City is consistently below Cook County and State of Tllinois levels.

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
City of Evanston 4.70% 7.30% 7.90% 7.50% 6.80%
Cook County 6.40% 10.40% 10.80% 10.30% 9.30%
State of Illinois 6.40% 10.00% 10.40% 9.70% 8.90%

Source: Tllinois Department of Employment Security

FINANCES
Budget Process, Accounting and Financial Control Procedures

The City’s fiscal year (“FY™) has historically begun on March 1 of each year. However, the City passed a
resolution that changes the City’s fiscal year to match the calendar year beginning in the year 2012, As such, fiscal
year 2011 is only be ten months in duration (March 1, 2011 through December 31, 2011). ‘

The City Manager submits to the City Council a proposed operating budget not less than 60 days prior to
the start of each fiscal year. The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing those
expenditures. The City Council holds several public hearings and then may modify the budget prior to adoption.

The City Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between departments within any fund (such
as the General Fund); however, any revisions that alter the total expenditures of any fund must be approved by the
City Council.

Budgets are legally adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”)
except that property taxes are budgeted as revenue in the year they are levied. For purposes of preparing the
combined statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances — budget and actual, GAAP revenue
and expenditures have been adjusted to the budgetary basis. The budgets of the governmental type funds are
prepared on a modified accrual basis. Obligations of the City are budgeted as expenditures, but revenue is
recognized only when it has actually been received. The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the City
(“CAFR”) presents expenditures and revenues on both a GAAP basis and a budget basis for comparison.

The City uses fonds and account groups to report on its financial position and the results of its operations.
Fund accounting is designated to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid financial management by segregating
transactions related to certain City functions or activities, A fund is a separate, self-balancing accounting entity and
in the City there are three categorjes of funds: governmental, proprietary and fiduciary. Governmental funds are
used to account for all or most of the City’s general activities, including the collection and disbursement of
earmarked monies (special revenue funds), the acquisition or construction of general fixed assets (capital project
funds) and the servicing of general Jong-term debt (debt service funds). The General Fund is used to account for all
activities of the City not accounted for in some other fund. For the FY 2012 the City projects that 32.64% (384.4
million) of all City expenditures will occur in the General Fund. Other major funds include Special Revenue Funds,
Debt Service Funds, Enterprise Funds (water, sewer, and parking) and Pension Trust Funds.

The Enterprise Funds (water and sewer) are budgeted on a full accrual basis. Expenses are recognized
when a commitment is made (through a purchase order), and revenues are recognized when they are obligated to the
City (for example, water user fees are recognized as revenue when bills are produced).

The City reports financial results based on GAAP as promulgated by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board. The accounts of the City are divided into separate self-balancing funds comprised of its assets,
liabilities, fund equity, revenues and expenditures, as appropriate.

The City’s expenditures are monitored on a regular basis by the Finance Department. Disbursements are
made only if an expenditure is within the authorized Budget,
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The City annually presents its Budget to the Government Finance Officers Association (“GFOA™) for
review against that organization’s standards for government budgeting. The City received a Distinguished Budget
Award from the GFOA. for the fiscal year 2012 Budget and has previously received the award for over 16 successive
years.

Financial Statements and Independent Audits

The City annually presents its CAFR to the GFOA. for review against that organization’s standards for
governmental accounting and financial reporting. The City received a certificate of achievement for excellence in
financial reporting from the GFOA for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011, and has previously received the
certificate for several successive years.

The City’s financial statements ar¢ audited annually as required by State law. Baker Tilly Virchow Krause
& Company, LLP, Certified Public Accountants, Oak Brook, Illinois, audited the financial statements for fiscal year
ended December 31, 2012. Copies of the City’s audited financial statements arc available from the Administrative
Services Department of the City. Excerpts of the audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2012, are included as APPENDIX A to this Official Statement. Baker Tilly Virchow Krause & Company, LLP,

has neither reviewed nor approved this Official Statement or its appendices.

The City has covenanted in connection with the jssuance of the Bonds to file its audited annual financial
statements and certain additional financial and operating data within 210 days after the close of the City’s fiscal
year., See APPENDIX C to this Official Statement.

Cash Management

The City invests available funds to the extent not needed for immediate expenditures in interest bearing
securities. Money Market Funds make up 100% of General Fund investments. Cash amounts held in bank accounts
are collateralized by United States government or agency obligations.

The City’s investment policy is in compliance with the Illinois Municipal Investment Act and limits
investments to those that are insured or which are registered (or for which the securities are held by the City or its
agent) in the City’s name. Bond funds are invested separately.

Revenues

The City receives revenue from a wide variety of sources. These include a real property tax, municipal
shares of State sales and income taxes, a home rule sales tax, utility taxes and federal grants, as well as various use
charges, licenses and permits. The largest revenue source for the City is the property tax. See “REAL PROPERTY
TAXATION” for a description of the property tax. Other major revenue sources are described below.

Sules Taxes

The City’s share of the State sales tax and a separate City home rule sales tax are the second largest source
of revenue to the City. A portion of the State’s sales tax receipts from sales within Evanston aré statutorily allocated
to the City. The amount s0 received by the City equals about 1.0% of those sales subject to the State tax. In
addition, the City irposes a City-wide home rule sales tax, as permitted by State law, presently at a rate of 1.0%.
Sales of vehicles, groceries and medicine, among other items, are exempted by State Jaw from this home rule sales
tax. The Illinois Department of Revenue collects both the State sales tax and the City’s sales tax. The State sales
tax produced $9.0 million, and the home rule sales tax produced $5.7 million for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2012, :

Utility Taxes
The City collects uiility taxes on natural gas, electricity and telephone charges. Utility taxes generated $8.0

million for the fiscal year ended Decembex 31, 2012 (a 12-month period). This compares fo $6.4 million for the
fiscal year ended December 31,2011 (a 10-month period).
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FY 2012/2013 Budgets
Overview of Budget for Fiscal Year 2012 and 2013

The total budget of the City for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 (a 12-month period) is $258.9
million. The General Fund portion of the total budget for fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 is $84.4 million.

The total budget of the City for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013 (a 12-month period) is $251.7
million. The General Fund portion of the total budget for fiscal year ending December 31, 2013 is $84.5 million.

Summary of Financial Information

The following summary of financial information is taken from audited financial statements of the City for
fiscal years ended February 29, 2009 through December 31, 2012. This summary does not purport to be complete.
Reference should be made to excerpts of the audited financial statements for fiscal year ended December 31, 2012
included as APPENDIX A of this Official Statement. Baker Tilly Virchow Krause & Company, LLP, Certified
Public Accountants, have neither reviewed nor approved this summary.

Gencral Fund Balance Sheet

Fiseal Years Ended
Assets: 2/29/2009 2/28/2010 2/28/2011 12/31/2011 12/31/2012
Cash and Investments $11,615,911 $8,980,446 $10,303,331 $11,523,030 $11,478,724
Property Taxes Receivable 14,995,648 15,055,056 16,118,287 16,641,472 12,281,386
Due From Other Governments 5,856,040 7,071,845 7,112,895 7,400,692 7,456,261
Due From Other Funds 290,877 1,206,245 545,268 810,429 728,569
Utility Tax Receivable - -- - - -
All Other Assets 2,815,290 2,117,495 2,008,760 2,290,681 2,308,521
Total Assets 35,573,766 34,431,087 36,088,541 38,666,304 34,253,461
Liabilities and Fund Balance:
Vouchers Payable 2,517,228 1,342,117 1,869,559 1,720,394 1,334,732
Due To Other :
Funds/Governments 133,437 1,806,681 170,443 666,790 1,089,490
Accrued Payroll 2,366,980 2,738,368 3,522,131 3,019,828 3,465,699
Compensated Absences Payable 80,963 70,289 29,156 60,117 828
Deferred Revenue 9,205,702 8,128,230 8,396,075 14,451,629 10,879,672
All Other Liabilities 242,640 157,853 97,425 354,377 449,553
Total Liabilities 14,546,950 14,243,538 14,084,789 20,273,135 17,219,974
Fund Balance:
Reserved 1,274,562 1,584,855 1,994,876 - -
Unreserved — Designated 5,426,913 5,426,913 5,426,913 - -
Unreserved — Undesignated 14,325,341 13,175,781 14,581,963 - --
Assigned - -- - 7,590,232 6,847,983
Unassigned -- - - 10,802,937 10,185,504
Total Fund Balance 21,026,816 20,187,549 22,003,752 18,393,169 17,033,487

Total Liabilities and Fund

Balance $35,573,766 $34,431,087 $36,088,541 $38,666,304 $34,253,461

Sources: City of Evanston, Illinois; CAFR for fiscal year ended 2/28/2009 through 12/31/2012.
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Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balance — Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis) !

General Fund

Tiscal Year Ended December 31,2012

Revenue

Taxes
Licenses and Permits
Tntergovernmental
Charges for Services
Fines
Investment Income
Miscellaneous

Total Revenues

Expenditures
General Management and Support
Public Safety
Public Works
Health and Fluman Resources Development
Recreation and Cultural Opportunities
Housing and Economic Development
Total Expenditures

Excess / (Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in (out)
‘West Evanston TIF
Motor Fuel Tax Fund
Economic Development Fund
Housing Fuod

Washington National TIF Debt Service Fund

Howard Hartrey Debt Service
Southwest TIF I Debt Service Fund
NSP 2

Emergency Telephone System Fund
Parking Fund

Sewer Fund

Howard Ridge TIF

Capital Improvement Fund

Water Fund

Library

Debt Service Fund

cIp

Solid Waste

Bquipment Replacement Fund

Excess of Revenues and Other Financing Sources over

Expenditures and Other Financing Uses
Fund Balance

Beginning of Year

End of Year

Final
Budget

$36,621,022
8,646,613
15,791,191
7,728,055
4,721,639
12,000
2,126,968
75,647,488
13,489,098
38,067,561
8,313,494
3,338,424
13,944,350
3,148,340
80,301,267

(4,653,779)

60,000
836,990
452,707

23,990
325,000
141,600

28,920
320,000
125,950
644,242

142,200
120,400
475,000
3,356,300
(521,915)
(627,394)
(1,250,000)
(1,245,967)
(500,000)
2,008,023

(1,745,756)

(1) Reported ona budgetary (non-GAAP) basis. See Appendix A for further information.
Sources: City of Evanston, Tilinois; CAFR for the fiscal year ended December 31,2012,
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Actual Variance
$32,724,364 ($3,896,658)
10,470,353 1,823,740
16,360,863 569,672
7,328,037 (400,018)
3,470,107 (1,251,532)
7,169 (4,831)
2,470,868 343,900
72,831,761 ' 12,815,727!
12,437,192 1,051,906
38,606,997 (539,436)
7,833,641 479,853
3,200,052 138,372
14,283,198 (338,848)
3,103,952 44388
79,465,032 836,235
(6,633,271) (1,979,492)
60,000 -
836,990 --
452,707 -
23,990 -
325,000 -
141,600 -
28,920 -
114,984 (205,016)
125,950 -
644,242 --
142,200 -
120,400 -
475,000 --
3,356,300 -
(1,214,668) (692,753)
(6217,394) -
(1,250,000) -
(1,245,967) -
!500,000@ -
2,010,254 (897,769)
(4,623,017) 52,877,2612

32,383,980
$27,760,9603



Revenues:
Taxes
Licenses and Permits
Intergovernmmentat
Charges for Services
Fines and Forfeits
Investment Income
Miscellaneous
Total
Expenditures:
General Management and Support
Public Safety
Public Works
Health & Human Resource Dev.,

Housing & Economic Dev.
Recreation & Cultural
Opportunities

Debt Service - Principal
Debt Service - Interest
Total

Transfers In
Transfers Out
Issuance of Debt
Premiuvms and Accrued Interest

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year
Fund Balance, End of Year

Notes:

(1) General Fund operations are reported on a basis consistent with GAAP, and also on a budgetary (non-
budget on a non-GAAP basis for the General, Special Revenue and Debt Service F unds; property taxes are rec
as when the tax levy is adopted, even though the taxes are not collected until the followiog year, and encumbran
method is used to facilitate budgetary control. Under the GAAP basis, property fax revenues are recognized
Encambrances are not treated as expenditures. This table presents General Fund Operations on a GAAP basis.

General Fund

Statement of Fund Operations

GAAP Basis !

Fiscal Years Ended
2/29/2009 2/28/2010 2/28/2011 12/31/2011 12/31/2012
$40,173,003 $40,231,207 $39,184,101 $30,242,619 $35,987,699
8,820,280 7,279,181 8,661,398 6,775,866 10,470,353
16,391,753 15,566,317 15,743,906 13,364,686 16,360,863
8,399,042 3,680,166 9,785,836 6,283,196 7,328,037
4,442,282 4,150,610 4,002,700 3,279,785 3,470,107
240,988 17,048 11,454 2,073 7,169
3,980,418 3,824,800 5,987,365 3,276,503 2,470,868
82,447,766 79,749,329 83,378,760 63,224,728 76,095,096
12,709,098 14,575,634 21,814,654 11,774,893 12,437,192
38,453,587 34,200,821 35,258,964 31,367,067 38,606,997
16,393,126 12,862,044 12,618,308 6,339,072 7,833,641
3,745,632 3,940,324 3,700,431 2,887,312 3,200,052
3,301,478 3,332,818 2,952,803 2,462,258 14,283,198
18,485,225 17,998,527 17,390,458 15,980,974 3,103,952
- 83,055 101,030 119,993 -~
- 156,945 38,970 20,007 -
93,088,146 87,050,168 93,875,618 70,952,076 79,465,032
5,415,600 6,461,572 5,409,384 4,793,745 6,848,283
' - -- (676,980) (4,838,029)
304,081 - 6,893,299 - -
- - 10,378 - -
25,947,515 21,026,816 20,187,549 22,003,752 18,393,169
$21,026,816 $20,187,549 $22,003,752 $18,393,169 $17,033,487

Sources: City of Evanston, Iltinois, CAFR for fiscal year ended 2/29/2009 through 12/31/2012.
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Pension Fund Obligations

The City participates in three defined benefit pension plans which cover substantially all employees.
Retirement benefits are provided for employees who meet certain age and service requirements. Payments are
generally correlated with the employee’s length of service and earnings. Legal requirements of the plans (including
contributions, vesting benefit and fund deficit provisions) are governed by State law. The plans are funded by
employee and employer contributions and investment earnings.

All employees, other than police officers, firefighters and those working fewer than 1,000 hours per year,
are covered by the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (“IMRF”) which is a Statewide multi-employer plan
governed by a state board of trustees.

The IMRF determines the contribution rate for the City to provide for all full funding of prior service costs,
as determined actuarially, over a future period of not more than 40 years. The City funds its contributions through
the property tax levy.

City police officers are covered by the Police Pension Fund and City firefighters are covered by the
Firefighters® Pension Fund. These funds are governed by separate boards of trustees comprised of City officials and
police or fire employee representatives. As required by State of Illinois statute, the City intends to annually fund its
police and fire pension plans by the actuarially required contribution as determined by an enrolled actuary.

The following table shows the funding level, actual funding requirement, unfunded pension lability and
funding ratio for the various pension funds for City employees.

Combined Pension Funding

Asset Value Liability Unfunded - Funded Ratio
Fire ! $59,395,358 $127,764,750 $68,369,392 46.49%
Police ! 80,127,621 169,353,377 89,225,756 47.31%
IMRE * 69,218,573 89,116,813 19,898,240 77.67%
All Funds Combined $208,741,552 $386,234,940 $177,493,388 54.05%

(1) Data as of 1/1/2013 (Actuarial Valuation reports dated July 3, 2013)
(2) Data as of 12/31/2012 (City of Evanston CAFR for year ended December 31, 2012)

Insurance Coverage
The City maintains commercial all-risk property insurance with regard to City facilities, subject to a

deductible of $75,000 per occurrence. The City maintains general liability insurance for claims in.excess of $2.0
million per occurrence.
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GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDED INDEBTEDNESS

Outstanding General Obligation Debt

The below table provides the City’s outstanding general obligation debt issues as of the issuance of the Bonds.

Date of
Issue

05/01/2004
07/15/2004
07/2 8/2005
07/19/2006
12/28/2006
05/24/2007
05/07/2008
05/07/2008
05/07/2008
12/10/2008
08/15/2010
08/15/2010
08/01/2011
07/26/2012
08/15/2013

Subtotal

11/20/2013

TOTAL

General Obligation Debt by Issue

Type of Obligation
Bonds, Series 2004

Ref. Bonds, Series 2004B *
Ref. Bonds, Series 2005 *
Bonds, Series 2006

Ref. Bonds, Seties 2006B
Ref. Bonds, Series 2007
Ref. Bonds, Series 2008A
Ref. Bonds, Series 2008B
Bonds, Series 2008C

Ref. Bonds, Series 2008D
Bonds, Series 2010A
Taxable Bonds, Series 2010B
Bonds, Series 2011A
Bonds, Series 2012

Bonds, Series 2013A

Ref. Bonds, Series 2013B

Amount
Issued
$ 13,355,000
11,730,000
29,270,000
10,290,000
14,430,000
30,385,000
3,800,000
27,755,000
12,395,000
19,015,000
6,500,000
8,000,000
19,240,000
15,720,000
12,565,000

28,875,000

Final
Maturity

Interest Rates
Outstanding

12/01/2023
12/01/2017
12/01/2025
12/01/2026
01/01/2023
12/01/2027
12/01/2021
12/01/2018
12/01/2028
12/01/2016
12/01/2029
12/01/2019
12/01/2031
12/01/2032
12/01/2033

12/01/2025

4.00% - 5.00%
4.00% - 5.25%
5.00%
4.15% - 5.00%
4.00% - 4.25%
4.00% - 5.50%
3.25%-5.00%
3.25% - 5.00%
3.25% - 5.00%
3.50% - 5.00%
2.00% - 3.625%
1.00% - 3.30%
2.00% - 4.50%
2.00% - 3.25%
2.00%-4.75%

2.00% - 3.00%

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally. )

! Principal Outstanding reflects refunding by the Bonds.
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Principal

Outstanding
$ 870,000
595,000
2,135,000
9,550,000
14,395,000
18,150,000
3,020,000
11,905,000
10,625,000
6,595,000
5,960,000
6,570,000
18,035,000
15,720,000

12,565,000
136,690,000

28,875,000

$ 165,565,000




The below table provides the City’s outstanding general obligation debt service as of the issuance of the Bonds.

Total General Obligation Debt Service

Year Outstanding G.O. Debt The Bonds Total
Ending Principal Interest Principal Interest Debt Service
12/31/2013 $ 14,890,000 $ 6,453,628 -- - $ 21,343,628
12/31/2014 11,515,000 4,852,957 $ 2,490,000 $ 786,262 19,644,220
12/31/2015 10,040,000 4,318,085 3,920,000 713,150 18,991,235
12/31/2016 10,665,000 3,930,333 3,920,000 634,750 19,150,083
12/31/2017 10,645,000 3,560,179 4,000,000 556,350 18,761,529
12/31/2018 9,480,000 3,147,443 3,660,000 436,350 16,723,793
12/31/2019 7,855,000 2,810,958 1,705,000 326,550 12,697,508
12/31/2020 6,770,000 2,519,630 1,765,000 275,400 11,330,030
12/31/2021 7,230,600 2,244,092 1,815,000 222,450 . 11,511,542
12/31/2022 6,830,000 1,950,983 1,865,000 168,000 10,813,983
12/31/2023 6,275,000 1,689,833 1,920,000 112,050 9,996,883
12/31/2024 5,390,000 1,458,208 $95,000 54,450 7,797,658
12/31/2025 5,615,000 1,236,676 920,000 27,600 7,799,276
12/31/2026 5,495,000 994,676 -- - 6,489,676
12/31/2027 4,560,000 752,851 -- - 5,312,851
12/31/2028 3,600,000 557,751 -- - 4,157,751
12/31/2029 2,785,000 411,181 -- - 3,196,181
12/31/2030 2,395,000 299,606 -- - 2,694,606
12/31/2031 2,495,000 200,100 - - 2,695,100
12/31/2032 1,360,000 95,713 -- -- 1,455,713
12/31/2033 835,000 39,663 - -- 874,663

Subtotal 136,725,000 43,524,543 28,875,000 4,313,362 213,437,906
Less Payments )

by 10/20/2013 (35,000) (3,605,928) -- - (3,640,928)

Total 136,690,000 39,918,615 28,875,000 4,313,362 209,796,977

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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A portion of the debt service on the City’s outstanding general obligation bonds is scheduled to be paid
from sources other than gencral property taxes levied throughout the City. These sources include incremental taxes
in tax increment areas, special service area taxes and revenues from various enterprise funds including sewer
services fees. The City’s total general obligation debt service schedule and portion expected to be abated is

presented in the table below.

Total and Scheduled for Abatement General Obligation Debt Service

Year Outstanding G.O. Debt Scheduled for Abatement Net
Ending Principal Interest Principal Interest Debt Service
12/31/2013 $ 14,890,000 $6,453,628 (6,772,879) (1,743,431) $12,827,318
12/312014 14,005,000 5,639,220 (5,583,717) (1,404,451) 12,656,052
12/31/2015 13,960,000 5,031,235 (6,034,414) (1,142,612) - 11,814,209
12/31/2016 14,585,000 4,565,083 (5,257,960) (937,456) 12,954,666
12/31/2017 14,645,000 4,116,529 (5,832,121) (769,620) 12,159,787
12/31/2018 13,140,000 3,583,793 (4,842,665) (540,415) 11,340,712
12/31/2019 9,560,000 3,137,508 (1,751,749) (367,795) 10,577,964
12/31/2020 8,535,000 2,795,030 (635,406) (314,916) 10,379,708
12/31/2021 9,045,000 2,466,542 (649,314) (294,323) 10,567,905
12/31/2022 8,695,000 2,118,983 (671,091) (273,215) 9,869,677
12/31/2023 8,195,000 1,801,883 (687,326) (251,689) 9,057,867
12/31/2024 6,285,000 1,512,658 (701,556) (230,263) 6,865,839
12/31/2025 6,535,000 1,264,276 (722,652) (204,792) 6,871,832
12/31/2026 5,495,000 994,676 (700,909) (177,394) 5,611,373
12/31/2027 4,560,000 752,851 (729,191) (147,691) 4,435,969
12/31/2028 3,600,000 557,751 (688,653) (116,732) 3,352,367
12/31/2029 2,785,000 411,181 (493,615) (87,713) 2,614,854
12/31/2030 2,395,000 299,606 (512,456) (67,123) 2,115,027
12/31/2031 2,495,000 200,100 (531,298) (45,478) 2,118,324
12/31/2032 1,360,000 95,713 (265,000) (22,920) 1,167,793
12/31/2033 835,000 39,663 {275,000) (11,763) 587,900
Total 165,600,000 47,837,906 (44,338,971) (9,151,793) 159,947,141
Overlapping Debt
Overlapping General Obligation Bonded Debt
(As of October 7, 2013)
Taxing Body™” Outstanding Debt Percent Amount
Cook County $ 3,719,535,000 1.85% $ 68,657,616
Cook County Forest Preserve District 131,500,000 1.85% 2,427,313
Metropolitan Water Reclamation District 2,296,170,090 1.88% 43,266,869
Skokie Park District 7,960,000 0.65% 51,527
Evanston Special Service Area Number § 450,000 96.87% 435,936
Community Consolidated School District Number 65 71,040,000 90.11% 64,014,513
Township High School District Number 202 17,305,149 90.11% 15,593,759
Community College District No. 535 25,540,000 11.63% 2.970.910

Total Overlapping General Obligation Bonded Debt

Source: Cook County Clerk’s Offices
MDoes not include Alternate Revenue Bonds.
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Debt Ratios

Mefric
True Value (2011)
EAV (2011)

Population (2010)

Direct Debt (Property Tax Supported)
Direct Debt (Supported by Other Sources)
Total Direct Debt

Total Overlapping Debt

Debt Ratio

Direct Debt Per True Value
Direct Debt Per EAV
Direct Debt Per Capita

Direct and Overlapping Debt Per True Value
Direct and Overlapping Debt Per EAV
Direct and Overlapping Debt Per Capita

General Obligation Debt Trends

Year Governmental
Ending Activities
12/31/2012 $ 120,938,742
12/31/2011 122,579,206
2/28/2011 117,322,439
2/28/2010 111,233,880
2/28/2009 - 118,126,135
2/29/2008 118,005,000
2/28/2007 113,990,000
2/28/2006 161,825,000
2/28/2005 147,045,000
2/29/2004 141,845,000
Future Financings

Value

. yaue
$8,182,102,719

2,727,367,573
75,549

$ 121,261,029
44,338,971

$ 165,600,000

$ 197,418,443

All General
Obligation Debt

2.02%
6.07%
$2,192

4.44%
13.31%
$ 4,805

Business-Type
Activities
$ 33,221,257
35,115,794
36,212,561
40,236,120
55,083,865
66,530,000
76,825,000
37,385,000
43,655,000
49,175,000

The City does not plan on issuing additional debt during calendar year 2013.
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General Obligation
Debt (Less Self
Supporting Debt)

1.48%

4.45%

$ 1,605

3.89%
11.68%
$4,218

Total
General Obligation
$ 154,159,999
157,695,000
153,535,000
151,470,000
174,110,000
184,535,000
190,815,000
199,210,000
190,700,000
191,020,000



REAL PROPERTY TAXATION

As a home rule municipality, the City has the ability to levy real property taxes on the taxable property in
the City without limitation as to rate or amount. The City levies real property taxes for general government
purposes, pension contributions and general obligation debt service. Real propetty taxes are applied to taxable
property based on its assessed value (less various exemptions), as equalized among counties by the Illinois
Department of Revenue. This is referred to as the cqualized assessed valuation or “BEAV.” See “Real Property
Assessment, Tax Levy and Collections Procedures.”

Taxable property is reassessed every three years. The next reassessment period is tax year 2013. The
following table shows the City’s EAV in recent years. The taxes collected in 2012 were payable with respect to the
EAYV for tax year 2011. The EAV of property for tax year 2012 was approximately $2.5 billion which does not
include approximately $152 million of EAV included in TIF districts (see “Tax Increment Financing” herein.

Historic Equalized Assessed Valuation ©

Tax Year Total % Change
2012 $2,514,621,552 -7.80%
2011 2,727,367,573 -10.34%
2010 3,041,884,087 . -7.99%
2009 3,305,989,369 12.51%
2008 2,938,397,892 5.99%
2007 2,772,340,028 23.44%
2006 2,245,892,746 0.14%
2005 2,242.753,022 7.02%
2004 2,095,611,570 . 21.33%
2003 1,727,147,885 -0.60%

(1) Incremental EAV in Tax Increment Districts not

included.

Source: Cook County Clerk’s Office

Property owned by not-for-profit colleges, universities and hospitals is not subject to real property taxation.
Northwestern University, the City’s largest employer, does not pay property taxes on educational properties. The
University does pay its share of water and sewer charges, utilities taxes, permit fees and other charges for services.

Equalized Assessed Valuation by Classification of Property &

2009 2010 2011
Residential $2,564,394,619  77.57% $2,233,194,054  73.41% $2,100,690,657  77.02%
Farm 15,956 0.00% 15,956 0.00% 15,956 0.00%
Commercial 615,808,511 18.63% 623,156,869  20.49% 513,880,731 18.84%
Industrial 125,104,411 3.78% 184,687,438 6.07% 111,899,205 4.10%
Railroad 665,872 0.02% 829,769 0.03% 881,024 0.03%
Total EAV $3,305,989,369  100.00% $3,041,884,087  100.00% $2,727,367,573  100.00%

(1) Daes not include incremental EAV in redevelopment project areas. See “Tax Incremental Financing” below. The incremental 2010 EAV in
redevelopment project areas was $167,557,673.

* Percentages may not add to 100% because of rounding,
Source: Cook County Clerk’s Office
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Tax Increment Financing

Under Iinois law, municipalities may designate particular areas as redevelopment project areas and may
provide for tax increment financing for redevelopment project costs in those “TTF” areas. In a TIF area, collections
of real property taxes levied by all taxing bodies, to the extent atiributed to increases in the EAV of the TIF area
over its EAV when the TIF area was s0 designated, are deposited in a special tax allocation fund of the municipality
and are available for use by the municipality to pay qualified redevelopment costs with respect to ‘the TIF area.
Qualified redevelopment costs include, among other items, costs of construction of public works or improvements,
costs of rehabilitation of public or private buildings and costs of land acquisition. Amounts in the special tax
allocation fund for a TIE area also may be used to pay debt service on bonds issued by the municipality for qualified
redevelopment costs of that area {(“TIF bonds”). To the extent that the tax collections in respect of a TIF area are
deposited in the special tax allocation fund and used for qualified redevelopment costs or related debt service, they
ave not available for other governmental purposes, including paying unrelated General Obligation Bonds of the
municipality. :

As of tax year 2012 the City has designated five TIF areas. The total EAV increment of these areas for this
tax year totaled $152,182,888. The EAV for these areas at the time the areas were SO designated (the base or
“frozen” value) was $77,225,187.

2008 2009 2010 2011 . 2012
Frozen Value $ 79,060,859 $ 77,225,187 $ 77,225,187 $ 77,225,187 $ 77,225,187
Incremental 268,255,958 " 114,745,713 116,885,444 90,332,486 74,957,701

TOTAL EAV $347,316,817 $191,970,900 $194,110,631 $167,557,673 .  $152,182,888
TIF bonds may, in some cases, also be general obligations of the municipality. In that case general
obligation bonds, in addition 1o their other claims for payment, may have a claim for payment from the amounts on
deposit in the special tax aliocation fund for that TIF area.
Special Service Areas
Under Illinois law, municipalities may establish special service areas and may levy real property taxes with
respect to taxable real property within the gpecial service area o pay costs of special municipal services for the area
or to pay debt service on bonds of the municipality issued to provide those special services.
The City has established a sumber of special service areas for the upgrade of streets and sidewalks in its

ceniral business district. Taxes levied and collected with respect to special service areas are not shown as general
revenues of the City. '

(The remainder of this page has been Ieft blank intentionally. )
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City Property Taxes

The following table shows the collection history for real property taxes levied by the City.

Taxes

Levy Collection Taxes Collected and Percent

Yecar Year Extended Distributed Collected

2012 2013 $ 43,330,121 $41,384,546 n.a.

2011 2012 43,397,590 42,064,756 96.93%

2010 2011 41,479,398 39,412,004 95.02%

2009 2010 39,779,364 38,018,159 95.57%

2008 2009 38,044,671 36,246,629 95.27%

2007 2008 35,550,694 34,061,461 95.81%

2006 2007 34,399,146 33,249,612 96.66%

2005 2006 33423311 32,550,464 97.39%

2004 2005 32,100,657 30,991,234 96.54%

2003 2004 29,813,787 28,565,408 95.81%

The following table shows the ten largest real property taxpayers in the City.
Ten Largest Real Property Taxpayers
Percentage
2011 Equalized of Total

Taxpayer Type of Business Assessed Values City EAV
Grubb & Ellis Comumercial building $ 23,750,814 0.87%
Rotary International Non-profit organization 19,957,955 0.73%
Lowe Enterprises Commercial Building 19,687,132 0.72%
Church St. Plaza Commercial, retail, 17,812,119 0.65%
Evanston Plaza Holding Commercial buildings 13,041,620 0.48%
Evanston Hote] Association Hotel 11,605,700 0.43%
Inland Commercial, retail building 10,956,173 0.40%
NNN Church St. Office Center Office building 10,825,746 0.40%
North Shore University Health Commercial buildings 10,417,651 0.38%
300 Davis Street Holding Office building 9,005,460 0.33%
Top Ten Total $ 147,060,371 5.39%
City Total 2011 EAV $2,727,367,573

Source: City of Evanston CAFR for fiscal year ended December 31, 2012.
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Property tax rates for City purposes, as well as rates for governmental bodies that substantially overlap the
City are shown below.

Historic City Tax Rates
(Per $100 EAV)
Fund 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Corporate $0.5662 $0.5120 $0.5485 $0.6117 $0.4984
Bond & Interest 0.3508 0.3129 0.3625 0.4439 0.4788
Police Pension 0.2071 0.2077 0.2495 0.3067 0.3274
Fire Pension 0.1707 0.1706 0.2032 0.2289 0.2460
TOTAL $1.2948 $1.2032 $1.3637 $1.5912 $1.5506

Tax Rates for Overlapping Taxing Agencies
(Taxes Billed in 2010 — Per $100 EAYV)

Taxing Agency 2012 Rate

City of Evanston $1.551
Cook County 0.531
Cook County Forest Preserve District 0.063

Suburban TB Sanitarium . -
Consolidated Elections -

Town of Evanston . 0.010
General Assistance 0.038
Metropolitan Water Reclamation District 0.370
North Shore Mosquito Abatement District 0.010
Elementary School District No. 65 3.149
" Rvanston Township High School District No. 202 2308
Oakion Community College District No. 535 0.219
TOTAL $8.250

Source: Caok County Clerk’s Office

Real Property Assessment, Tax Levy and Collectiont Procedures

The following is a summary of general property tax assessment, Jevy and collection procedures in Cook
County, Iilinois. . . .

Real Property Assessment. The County Assessor (the «Assessor”) is responsible for the assessment of all
taxable real propesty within Cook County (the “County™), including such property Jocated within the boundaries of
the City, except for certain railroad property, poliution control facilities and low sulfur dioxide emission coal-fueled
devices, which are assessed directly by the Tllinois Department of Revenue (the “Department of Revenue”). For
{riennial reassessment purposes, Cook County is divided into three districts: west and south suburbs (the “South
Tri”), north and northwest suburbs (the “North Tri”), and the City of Chicago (the “City Tri). The City is located
in the North Tri and was reassessed for the 2010 tax levy year.

In response to the downturn of the real estate market, the Assessor reduced the 2009 assessed value on
suburban residential properties (specifically, those properties located in the South Tri and the North Tri) not
originally scheduled for reassessment in 2009. For tax year 2009, each suburban township received an adjustment
percentage for tax year 2009, lowering the existing assessed values of all residential properties in such township
within a range of 4% to 15%, beginning with the second-installment tax bills payable in the fall 0f 2010.

Real property in the County is separated into classes for assessment purposes. After the Assessor
establishes the fair market value of a parcel of property, that value is multiplied by the appropriate classification
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percentage fo arrive at the assessed valuation (the “Assessed Valnation”) for the parcel. Such classification
percentages range from 10% for certain residential, commercial and industrial property to 25% for other industrial
and commercial property.

Property is classified for assessment into six basic categories, each of which is assessed (begioning with the
2009 tax levy year) at various percentages of fair market value as follows: Class 1 - unimproved real estate (10%);
Class 2 - residential (10%); Class 3 - rental-residential (16% in tax year 2009, 13% in tax year 2010, and 10% in tax
year 2011 and subsequent years); Class 4 - not-for-profit (25%); Class 5a - commercial (25%); and Class 5b -
industrial (25%). In addition, property may be temporarily classified into one of eight additional assessment
classification categories. Upon expiration of such classification, property so classified will revert to one of the basic
six assessment classifications described above,

The Assessor has established procedures enabling taxpayers to contest their proposed Assessed Valuations.
Once the Assessor certifies its final Assessed Valuations, a taxpayer can seek review of its assessment by appealing
to the Cook County Board of Review (the “Board of Review”), which copsists of three commissioners elected by the
voters of the County. The Board of Review has the power to adjust the Assessed Valuations set by the Assessor.

Owners of residential property having six or fewer units are able to appeal decisions of the Board of
Review to the Illinois Property Tax Appeal Board (the “PTAB”), a statewide administrative body. The PTAB has
the power to defermine the Assessed Valuation of real property based on equity and the weight of the evidence.
Taxpayers may appeal the decision of PTAB to either the Circuit Court of Cook County (the “Circuit Court™) or the
Illinois Appellate Court under the Iltinois Administrative Review Law.

As an alternative to seeking review of Assessed Valuations by PTAB, taxpayers who have first exhausted
their remedies before the Board of Review may file an objection in the Circuif Court. The procedure under this
alternative is similar to the judicial review procedure described in the immediately preceding paragraph, however,
the standard of proof differs. In addition, in cases where the Assessor agrees that an assessment error has been made
after tax bills have been issued, the Assessor can correct any factual error, and thus reduce the amount of taxes due,
by issuing a Certificate of Error. Certificates of Error ate not issued in cases where the only issue is the opinion of
the valuation of the property.

Equalization. After the Assessor has established the Assessed Valuation for each parcel for a given year,
and following any revisions by the Board of Review or PTAB, the Department of Revenue is required by statute to
review the Assessed Valuations. The Department of Revenue establishes an equalization factor (the “Equalization
Factor”), commonly called the “multiplier,” for each county to make all valuations uniform among the 102 counties
in the State of Illinois (the “State”). Under State law, the aggregate of the assessments within each county is
equalized at 33-1/3% of the estimated fair cash value of real property Jocated within the county prior to any
applicable exemptions. One multiplier is applied to all property in the County, regardless of its assessment category,
except for certain farmland property and wind energy assessable property, which are not subject to equalization.

Once the Equalization Factor is established, the Assessed Valuation, as revised by the Board of Review or
PTAB, is multiplied by the Equalization Factor to determine the equalized assessed valuation (the “EAV>) of that
parcel. The EAV for each parcel is the final property valuation used for determination of tax liability. The
aggregate EAV for all parcels in any taxing body’s jurisdiction, plus the valuation of property assessed directly by
the Depariment of Revenue, constitute the total real estate tax base for the taxing body, which is used to calculate
tax rates (the “Assessment Base™).

Exemptions. The Illinois Property Tax Code, as amended (the “Property Tax Code™), exempts certain
property from taxation. Certain property is exempt from taxation on the basis of ownership and/or use, including,
but not limited to, public parks, not-for-profit schools, public schools, churches, not-for-profit hospitals and public
hospitals. In addition, the Property Tax Code provides a variety of homestead exemptions.

Tax Levy, As part of the annual budgetary process of govemnmental units (the “Units”) with power to levy
taxes in the County, the designated body for each Unit anmually adopts proceedings to levy real estate taxes. The
administration and collection of real estate taxes is statutorily assigned to the County Clerk and the County
Treasurer. After the Units file their annual tax levies, the County Clerk computes the annual tax rate for each Unit.

Extensions. The County Clerk then computes the total tax rate applicable to each parcel of real property
by aggregating the tax rates of all of the Units having jurisdiction over the particular parcel. The County Clerk
extends the tax by entering the tax (determined by multiplying the total tax rate by the EAV of that parcel for the
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current assessment year) in the books prepared for the County Collector (the “Warrant Books™) along with the tax
rates, the Assessed Valvation and the EAV. The Warrant Books are the County Collector’s authority for the
collection of taxes and are used by the County Collector as the basis for issuing tax bills to all property ownets.

Collections. Property taxes are collected by the County Collector, who also serves as the County
Treasurer, who remits to each Unit its share of the collections. Taxes levied in one year become payable during the
following year in two installments, the first due on March 1 and the second on the later of August 1 or 30 days after
the mailing of the tax bills. A payment due is deemed 1o be paid on time if the payment is postmarked on the due
date. Beginning with the first installment payable in 2010, the first installment is equal to 55% of the prior year’s
tax bill. However, if a Certificate of Error is approved by a court or certified on or before November 30 of the
preceding year and before the estimated tax bills are prepared, then the first installment is instead based on the
certain percentage of the corrected prior year’s tax bill. The second installment covers the balance of the current
year’s tax bill, and is based on the then current tax year levy, Assessed Valuation and Equalization Factor, and
reflects any changes from the prior year in those factors. The first installment penalty date has been the first
business day in March for each of the last ten years. However, for 2010, the first installment penalty date was
established as April 1 by statute. The following table sets forth the second installment penalty date for the last ten
tax levy years in the County. - '

TaxLevy Year  Second Installment Penalty Date

2003 November 15, 2004
2004 November 2, 2005
2005 September 1, 2006
2006 December 3, 2007
2007 November 3, 2008
2008 December 1, 2009
2009 December 13, 2010
2010 November 1, 2011
2011 August 1,2012
2012 August 1,2013

It is possible that the changes to the assessment appeals process described above will canse delays similar
to those experienced in past years in preparation and mailing of the second installment in future years. In the future,
the County may provide for tax bills to be payable in four installments instead of two.

During the periods of peak collections, tax receipts are forwarded to each Unit on a weekly basis. Upon
receipt of taxes from the County Collector, the City promptly credits the taxes received to the funds for which they
were levied. .

Within 90 days following the second installment due date, the County Collector presents the Warrant
Books to the Circuit Court and applies for a judgment for all unpaid taxes. The court orders resulting from the
application for judgment provides for an Annual Tax Sale (the “Annual Tax Sale”) of unpaid taxes shown on that
year’s Warrant Books. A public sale is held, at which time successful tax buyers pay the unpaid taxes plus penalties.
In each such public sale, the collector can use any “automated means.” Unpaid taxes accrue penalties at the rate of
1.5% per month from their due date until the date of sale. Taxpayers can redeem their property by paying the
amount paid at the sale, plus a maximum of 12% for each six-month period after the sale. If no redemption js made
within the applicable redemption period (ranging from six months 1o two and a half years depending on the type and
occupancy of the property) and the tax buyer files a petition in the Circuit Court, notifying the necessary parties in
accordance with the applicable law, the tax buyer receives a deed to the property. In addition, there are
miscellaneous statutory provisions for foreclosure of tax liens.

If there is no sale of the tax lien on a parcel of property at the Annual Tax Sale, the taxes are forfeited and
the property becomes eligible to be purchased at any time thereafter at an amount equal to all delinquent taxes and
interest accrued to the date of purchase. Redemption periods and procedures are the same as applicable to the
Annual Tax Sale.
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The Scavenger Sale (the “Scavenger Sale™), like the Annual Tax Sale, is a sale of unpaid taxes. The
Scavenger Sale is held every two years on all property on which two or more years’ taxes are delinquent. The sale
price of the unpaid taxes is the amount bid at such sale, which may be less than the amount of delinquent taxes.
Redemption periods vary from six months to two and a half years depending upon the type and occupancy of the

property.
TAX EXEMPTION

Federal fax law contains a number of requirements and restrictions which apply to the Bonds, including
investment restrictions, periodic payments of arbitrage profits to the United States of America, requirements
regarding the proper use of bond proceeds and the facilities financed therewith, and certain other matters. The City
has covenanted to comply with all requirements that must be satisfied in order for the interest on the Bonds to be
excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes. Failure to comply with certain of such covenants
could cause the interest on the Bonds to become includible in gross income for federal income tax purposes
retroactively to the date of issuance of the Bonds.

Subject to the City’s compliance with the above-referenced covenants, under present law, in the opinion of

Bond Counsel, interest on the Bonds is excludable from the gross income of the owners thereof for federal income

tax purposes, and is not included as an jtem of tax preference in computing the federal alternative minimum tax for

- individuals and corporations, but interest on the Bonds is taken into account, however, in computing an adjustment
used in determining the federal alternative minimum tax for certain corporations.

In rendeting its opinion, Bond Counsel will rely upon certifications of the City with respect to certain
material facts within the City’s knowledge. Bond Counsel’s opinion represents its legal judgment based upon its
review of the law and the facts that it deems relevant to render such opinion, and is not a guarantee of a result.

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™), includes provisions for an alternative
minimum tax (“AMT") for corporations in addition to the corporate regular tax in certain cases. The AMT, , if any,
depends upon the corporation’s altemative minimum taxable income (“AMTI”), which is the corporation’s taxable
income with certain adjustments. One of the adjustment items used in computing the AMTI of a corporation (with
certain exceptions) is an amount equal to 75% of the excess of such corporation’s “adjusted current earnings” over
an amount equal to its AMTI (before such adjustment item and the alternative tax net operating loss deduction).
“Adjusted current earnings” would include certain tax-exempt interest, including interest on the Bonds.

Ownership of the Bonds may result in collateral federal income tax consequences to certain taxpayers,
including, without limitation, corporations subject to the branch profits tax, financial institutions, certain insurance
companies, certain S corporations, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits and
taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred (or continued) indebtedness to purchase or carry tax-exempt
obligations. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult their tax advisors as to applicability of any such
collateral consequences,

The issue price (the “]ssue-Price”) for each maturity of the Bonds is the price at which a substantial amount
of such maturity of the Bonds is first sold to the public. The Issue Price of a maturity of the Bonds may be different
from the price set forth, or the price corresponding to the yield set forth, on the inside cover page hereof.

If the Issue Price of a maturity of the Bonds is less than the principal amount payable at maturity, the
difference between the Issue Price of each such maturity, if any, of the Bonds (the “OID Bonds”) and the principal
amount payable at maturity is original issue discount.

For an investor who purchases an OID Bond in the initial public offering at the Issue Price for such
maturity and who holds such OID Bond to its stated maturity, subject to the condition that the City complies with
the covenants discussed above, (a) the full amount of original issue discount with respect to such OID Bond
constitutes interest which is excludable from the gross income of the owner thereof for federal income tax purposes;
(b) such owner will not realize taxable capital gain or market discount upon payment of such OID Bond at its stated
maturity; (c) such original issue discount is not included as an item of tax preference in computing the alternative
minimum tax for individuals and corporations under the Code, but is taken into account in computing an adjustment
used in determining the alternative minimum tax for certain cotporations under the Code, as described above; and
(d) the accretion of original issue discount in each year may result in an alternative minimum tax liability for
corporations or certain other collateral federal income tax consequences in each year even though a corresponding
cash payment may not be received until a later year. Based upon the stated position of the Tilinois Department of
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Revenue under Illinois income tax law, accreted original discount on such OID Bonds is subject to taxation as it
accretes, even though there may not be a corresponding cash payment until a later year, Owners-of OID Bonds
should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the state and local tax consequences of original issue discount
on such OID Bonds.

Owners of Bonds who dispose of Bonds prior to the stated maturity (whether by sale, redemption or
otherwise), purchase Bonds in the initial public offering, but at a price different from the Issue Price or purchase
Bonds subsequent to the initial public offering should consult their own tax advisors.

If a Bond is purchased a any time for a price that is less than the Bonds stated redemption ptice at maturity
or, in the case of an OID Bond, its Issue Price plus accreted original issue discount (the “Revised Issue Price”), the
purchaser will be treated as having purchased a Bond with market discount subject to the market discount rules of
the Code (unless a statutory de minimis rule applies). Accrued market discount is treated as taxable ordinary income
and is recognized when a Bond is disposed of (to the extent such accrued discount does not exceed gain realized) or,
at the purchaser’s clection, as it accrues. Such treatment would apply to any purchaser who purchases an OID Bond
for a price that is less than its Revised Issue Price. The applicability of the market discount rules may adversely
affect the liquidity or secondary market price of such Bond. Purchasers should consult their own tax advisors
regarding the potential implications of market discount with respect to the Bonds.

An investor may purchase a Bond at a price in excess of its stated principal amount. Such excess is
characterized for federal income tax purposes as “bond premium” and must be amortized by an investor on a
constant yield basis over the remaining term of the Bond in a manner that takes into account potential call dates and
call prices. An investor cannof deduct amortized bond premium relating to a tax-exempt bond. The amortized bond
premium is treated as a reduction in the tax-exempt interest received. As bond premium is amortized, it reduces the
investor’s basis in the Bond. Investors who purchase a Bond at a premium should consult their own tax advisors
regarding the amortization of bond premium and its effect on the Bond’s basis for purposes of computing gain or

loss in connection with the sale, exchange, redemption or early retirement of the Bond.

There are or may be pending in the Conggess of the United States legislative proposals, including some that
carry retroactive effective dates, that, if enacted, could alter or amend the federal tax matters referred to above or
affect the market value of the Bonds. 1t cannot be predicted whether or in what form any such proposal might be
enacted or whether, if enacted, it would apply to bonds issued prior to enactment. Prospective purchasers of the
Bonds should consult their own 1ax advisors regarding any pending or proposed federal tax legislation. Bond
Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any pending or proposed federal tax legislation.

The Internal Revenue Service {the “Service”) has an ongoing program of auditing tax-exempt obligations
to determine whether, in the view of the Service, interest on such tax-exempt obligations is includible in the gross
income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes. It cannot be predicted whether or not the Service will
commence an audit of the Bonds. If an audit is commenced, under current procedures the Service may treat the City
as a taxpayer and the Bondholders may have no right to participate in such procedure, The commencement of an
audit could adversely affect the market value and liquidity of the Bonds until the audit is concluded, regardless of

the ultimate outcome.

Payments of interest on, and proceeds of the sale, redemption or maturity of, tax-exempt obligations,
inchuding the Bonds, are in certain cases required to be reported to the Service. Additionally, backup withholding
may apply to any such payments to any Bond owner who fails to provide an accurate Form W-9 Request for
Taxpayer Identification Number and Certification, or a substantially identical form, or fo any Bond owner who is
notified by the Service of a failure to report any interest or dividends required to be shown on federal income tax
returns. The reporting and backup withholding requirements do not affect the excludability of such interest from
gross income for federal tax purposes.

The interest on the Bonds is not exempt from present IHlinois income taxes. Ownership of the Bonds may
result in ofher state and local tax consequences to certain taxpayers. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding
any such collateral consequences arising with respect to the Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should
consult their tax advisors regarding the applicability of any such state and local taxes.
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Not Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations

The City will not designate the Bonds as “qualified tax-exempt obligations” for purposes of Section
265(b)(3) relating to the ability of financial institutions to deduct from income for Federal income tax purposes,
interest expense that is allocable to carrying and acquiring tax-exempt obligations.

BOND RATINGS

"The Bonds are rated “Aal” by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and “AA+? by Fitch Ratings. Such ratings
reflect only the views of such organizations and any desired explanation of the significance of such ratings should be
obtained from the rating agency furnishing the same, at the following addresses: Moody’s Investors Service, 99
Church Street, New York, New York 10007; Fitch Ratings, 70 West Madison Street, Chicago, Xllinois 60602.
Generally, a rating agency bases its rating on the information and materials furnished to it and on investigations,
studies and assumptions of its own. There is no assurance such ratings will not be revised downward or withdrawn
entirely by the rating agencies, if in the judgment of such rating agencies, circumstances so warrant. Any such
downward revision or withdrawal of such ratings may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Bonds.
Such ratings are not to be construed as recommendations of the rating agencies fo buy, sell or hold the Bonds, and
the ratings assigned by the rating agencies should be evaluated independently.

UNDERWRITING
Bids for the Bonds were received at a competitive public sale on October 30,2013,

Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporated (the “Underwriter”) has agreed, subject to the conditions of closing set
forth in the Notice of Sale, to purchase the Bonds at a purchase price of $30,076,359.53 (consjsting of the par
amount of the Bonds, plus a net original issue premium of $1,380,545.10, less an underwriter's discouat of
$179,185.57, plus accrued interest.

The Bonds will be offered at the respective initial public offering prices which produce the yields shown on
the inside cover page of this Official Statement. After the Bonds are released for sale to the public, the initial public
offering prices and other selling terms may from time to time be varied by the Underwriter. :

LITIGATION

The City is subject from time to time to litigation in the ordinary course of its activities, including land use
issues, employment and traffic accidents, among other matters.

There is no controversy or litigation of any nature now pending or, to the knowledge of the City, threatened
to restrain or enjoin the issuance, sale, execution or delivery of the Bonds or the levy and collection of taxes to pay
the debt service on the Bonds; or questioning the proceedings or authority pursuant to which the Bonds are issued
and taxes levied; or questioning or relating to the validity of the Bonds, or contesting the corporate existence of the
City or the titles of its present officers to their respective offices.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

The City has engaged Public Financial Management, Inc. (the “Financial Advisor”) in connection with the
City’s issuance and sale of the Bonds. Under the terms of their engagement, the Financial Advisor are not obligated
to undertake any independent verification of or assume any responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or fairness
of the information contained in this Official Statement.

LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters incident to the authorization, issuance and sale of the Bonds arc subject to the
approving legal opinion of Chapman and Cutler LLP, Chicago, lllinois, as Bond Counsel (the “Bond Counsel™),
who has been retained by, and acts as, Bond Counsel to the City. Bond Counsel has not been refained or consulted
on disclosure matters and has not undertaken to review or verify the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of this
Official Statement or other offering material relating to the Bonds and assumes no responsibility for the statements
or information contained in or incorporated by reference in this Official Statement, except that in its capacity as
Bond Counsel, Chapman and Cutler LLP has, at the request of the City, reviewed the information under the captions
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«TAX EXEMPTION” and “Not Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations”. This review was undertaken solely at the
request and for the benefit of the City and did not include any obligation to establish or confirm factual matters set
forth herein. Certain legal matters in conjunction with the issuance of the Bonds will be passed upon for the City by its
Law Departiment.

CLOSING CERTIFICATE

The City will provide to the purchaser at the time of delivery of the Bonds, a certificate confirming to the
purchaser that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the Official Statement, together with any supplements to if,
at the time of acceptance of the Purchase Contract and at the time of delivery of the Bonds, was true and correct it
all material respects and did not at any time contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact required to be stated, where necessary to make the statements, in light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading.

This Official Statement has been duly approved, executed and delivered by the City.
City of Evanston,

Cook County, Illinois

By: __Is/
City Manager

By: _ Js/
Mayor
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APPENDIX A

CITY OF EVANSTON ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT
FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2012
(EXCERPTS)

The Auditor was not asked to perform any additional review in connection with this Official Statement




BAKER TILLY

Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP
1301 W 22ad S4, Ste 400

Ozk Brook, IL 60523-3389

tel 630 990 3131

fax 630 990 0039
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Honorable Elizabeth B. Tisdahl, Mayor and
Members of the City Council

Clty of Evanston

Evanston, lllinois

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Evanston, lllinois, as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2012, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the City of Evanston's basic financial statements as listad in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting princlples generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of interal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibitity is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. The financial
statements of the Township of Evanston were not audited in accordance with Government Audifing Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures o obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control over financial reporting relevant to the City of
Evanston's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the City of Evanston's internal confrol. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

B
INTERNATIONAL




Honorable Elizabeth B. Tisdahl, Mayor and
Members of the City Council

City of Evanston

Evanston, llinois

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in ali material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Evanston, lllincis, as of December 31, 2012 and the
respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. '

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1, the City of Evanston adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 63, Financial
Reporting for Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position, effective
January 1, 2012. Our opinions are not madified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis, the schedules of funding progress, the schedules of employer contribution and the
general fund budgetary comparison schedule as listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the
basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We
have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on
the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion
or provide any assurance. .

Our audit for the year ended December 31, 2012 audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on
the financial statements that collectively comprise the City of Evanston's basie financlal statements. The
combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules for the year ended December 31, 2012 as
listed in the table of contents are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the
basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic finangial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2012 and certain additional procedures, including comparing and
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the
combining and individual fund financlal statements and schedules as listed in the table of contents are fairly
stated in all materlal respects, in relation fo the basic financial statements as a whole for the year ended
December 31, 2012.




Honorable Elizabeth B. Tisdahl, Mayor and
Members of the City Council

City of Evanston

Evanston, illinois

We also previously audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, the basic financial statements of Gity of Evanston as of and for the ten months ended December 31,
2011 (not presented herein), and have issued our report thereon dated June 26, 2012, which contained
unqualified opinions on the respective financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information. The combining and Individual fund
financial statements and schedules for the ten months ended December 31, 2011 are presented for purposes of
additional analysis and is nota required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other
racords used to prepare the 2011 financial statements. The combining and individual fund financial statements
and schedules have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 2011 basic financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare those financial statements or to those financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. in our opinion, the combining and individual fund financlal statements
and schedules are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole for
the ten months ended December 31, 2011, '

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City of Evanston's basic financial statements. The introductory section and statistical section are
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not & required part of the basic financial statements. Such
information has not been subjected to the auditing pracedures applied in the audit of the basic financial

statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it.
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we will also issue our report on our consideration of the
City of Evanston's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report
is to describe the scope of our testing of internal controt over financial reporting and compliance and the results
of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That
report Is an infegral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in

ctisvsinternal codtial.over financial reporting and compliance.

consigering Gity OFEV

Oak Brook, ik
June 28, 2013
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MANAGEMENT’S
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DECEMBER 31, 2012

The City of Evanston (the City) Discussion and Analysis is designed to (1) assist the reader in focusing
on significant financial issues, (2) provide an overview of the City's financial activity, (3) identify
changes in the City's financial position (its ability to address the next and subsequent year challenges), (4)
identify any material deviations from the financial plan (the approved budget), and (5) identify individual
fund issues or concerns. We encourage readers fo consider the information presented here in conjunction
with additional information that we have furnished in our letter of transmittal, which can be found on
page 4 of this report,

The period for this report is 12 months as opposed to prior year’s 10 month period. As such variance
reporting will show significant changes in income statement reporting from the prior period.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

A. The City's net position increased by $16,577,568 or 5.4% from the prior fiscal year reported. The
governmental net position increased by $2,940,976 or 4.5% from prior period and the business-type
activities net position increased by $13,636,592 or 5.6% from ptior period.

B. The governmental activities revenue increased by $31,438,719 or 30.1% from the prior period. The
expenses increased by $20,198,848 or 18.7%.

C.  The business-type activities revenue increased by $8,073,623 or 25.6%. The expenses increased by
$5,430,361 or 21.3% from the prior period.

D. The total cost of all City programs increased by $25,629,209 or 19.2%.

E. Items B, C, D, all compare a 10 month period to a 12 month period. Mathematically, this results in a
16.67% variance, and assuming all other factors are held constant, the increase in City program costs
would show a variance of 2.53%.

USING THIS ANNUAL REPORT

The financial statements focus on both the City as a whole (government-wide) and on the major
individual funds. Both perspectives (government-wide and major fund) allow the user to address relevant
questions, broaden a basis for comparison and enhance the City's accountability.

The City's financial reporting includes the funds of the City (primary government) and additionally,
organizations for which the City is accountable (component units - the Township). The Evanston
Township Board of Trustees are the same individuals as the City Council members. The Township is
blended into the primary government for financial reporting purposes.

(Unaudited)
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REPORTING THE CITY AS A WHOLE
Government-wide Financial Statements

The City's annual report includes two government-wide financial statements. These statements provide
both short-term and long-term information about the City's overall status. Financial reporting at this level
uses a perspective similar to that found in the private sector with its basis in full accrual accounting and
elimination or reclassification of internal activities (e.g., the City’s Fleet Maintenance Fund).

The first of these government-wide statements is the Statement of Net Position. This is the City-wide
statement of financial position presenting information that includes all the City's assets and liabilities,
with the difference reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve
as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City as a whole is improving or deteriorating,
Evaluation of the overall health of the City would extend to other non-financial factors such as
diversification of the taxpayer base or the condition of City infrastructure in addition to the financial
information provided in this report.

The second government-wide statement is the Statement of Activities - which reporis how the City's net
position changed during the current fiscal period. All current period revenues and expenses are included
vegardless of when the cash was received or paid. An important purpose of the design of the statement of
activities is to show the financial reliance of the City's distinct activities or functions on revenues
provided by all government-wide sources.

Both government-wide financial statements distinguish governmental activities of the City that are
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, such as grants, from business-type
activities that are intended to recover all or a significant portion. of their costs through user fees and
charges. Governmental activities include general government, public safety, public service, fleet service,
insurance fund, and culture and recreation. Business-type activities include water and sewer utilities,
parking, and garages. Fiduciary activities, such as employee pension plans and agency funds, are not
included in the government-wide statements since these assets are not available to fund City programs.

The government-wide financial statements are presented on pages 27 — 30 of this report.
REPORTING THE CITY'S MOST SIGNIFICANT FUNDS
Fund Financial Statements

A fund is an accountability unit used to maintain control over resources segregated for specific activities
or objectives. The City uses funds to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related laws and
regulations. Within the basic financial statements, fund financial statements focus on the City's most
significant funds, rather than the City as a whole. Major funds are separately reported, while all others
are combined into a single aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for non-major funds is provided
in the form of combining schedules in a later section of this report.

The City has three kinds of funds:

Governmental funds are reported in the fund financial statements and encompass essentially the same
functions reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, the
focus is very different with fund statements providing a distinctive view of the City's governmental funds.
These statements report short-term fiscal accountability focusing on the use of spendable resources and
balances of spendable resources available at the end of the period. They are useful in evaluating annual

(Unaudited)
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financing requirements of governmental programs and the commitment of spendable resources for the
near-term.

Since the government-wide focus includes the lomg-term view, comparisons between these two
perspectives may provide insight into the long-term impact of the short-term financing decision. Both the
governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and
changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to assist in understanding the differences between these
two perspectives.

Budgetary comparison statement for General Fund is included in the required supplementary section of
this report. Budgetary comparison schedules for various special revenue funds and the debt service funds
can be found in the supplementary information section of this report. These statements and schedules
demonstrate compliance with the City's adopted and final revised budget.

The basic government fund financial statements are presented on pages 31 -32 of this report.

Proprietary funds reported in the fund financial statements generally report services for which the City
charges customers a fee. There are two kinds of proprietary funds. These are enterprise funds and
internal service funds. Enterprise funds essentially encompass the same functions reported as business-
type activities in the government-wide statements. Services such as the water utilities and the patking
garages are provided to customers external to the City organization. Internal service funds provide
services and charge fees to customers within the City organization, such as equipment services (repair and
maintenance of city vehicles) and the insurance fund. Because the City's internal service funds primarily
serve governmental functions, they are included within the governmental activities of the government-
wide financial statements.

. Proprietary fund statements and statements for discretely presented component units (reporting is similar
to proprietary funds) provide both short-term and long-term financial information consistent with the
focus provided by the government-wide financial statements but with more detail for the water fund and
the Township. Individual fund information for internal service funds is found in combining schedules in a
later section of this report.

The basic proprietary fund financial statements are presented on pages 34 - 38 of this report.

Fiduciary funds such as the Police and Firefighter's pension plans are reported in the fiduciary fund
financial statements, but are excluded from the government-wide reporting. Fiduciary fund financial
statements report resources that are not available to fund City programs. These financial statements
report similarly to proprietary funds.

The basic fiduciary fund financial statements are presented on pages 39 - 40 of this report.

Notes to the financial siatements

The accompanying notes to financial statements provide information essential to a full understanding of
the government-wide and fund financial statements. The nofes to the financial statements begin on page
41 of this report.

Other information

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain
required supplementary information concerning the City's progress in funding its obligations to provide

(Unaudited)
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pension benefits to its employees. Other supplementary information includes detail by fund and
component unit for receivables, payables, transfers, and payments within the reporting entity. Required
supplementary information can be found on pages 100 - 104 of this report.

Major funds and component units are reported in the basic financial statements, as discussed. Combining
statements, individual statements and schedules for non- major and internal service funds are presented in

a subsequent section of this report beginning on page 107. Additional information on capital assets and
long-term debt can be found on page 63 and 74 respectively.

Financial Analysis of the City as a Whole

The City's combined net position increased by $16,577,568 from $307,363,196 to $323,940,764.

STATEMENT OF POSITION
Governmental A ctivifies Business-type Activities Total Primary Government
2012 2011 2012 - 2011 2012 2011

Current and Other Assets $ 117,978,076 $ 124,910,803 $ 31,743,707 $ 31,732,736 § 149,721,783 $ 156,643,539
Capital Assets 175,482,215 169,738,549 333,318,701 331612417 508,800,916 501,350,966
Total Assets 293,460,291 294.649.352 365,062,408 363,345,153 658,522,699 657,994,505
Long-Term Liabilities 166,117,738 169,788,442 106,713,797 117,743,309 272,831,535 287,531,751
Other Liabilities 59,212,286 59,671,619 2,538,114 3,427,939 61,750,400 63,099,558
Total Liabilities 225,330,024 229,460,061 109,251,911 121,171,248 334,581,935 350,631,309

Net Investment jn
Capital Assets ~ 60,104,623 57,662,625 228,738,130 215,754,541 288,842,753 273,417,166
Restricted 32,635,909 31,559,331 709,688 1,034,375 33,345,597 32,593,706
Unrestricted (Deficit) (24,610,265) (24.032,665) 26,362,679 25,384,989 1,752,414 1,352,324
Total Net Position 368,130,267 § 65,189201 $ 255810497 $ 242173905 $ 323940764 $ 307,363,196

It is important to note that nearly all of the City’s increase in Net Position comes from the reduction of
Long Term Liabilities, Wl ich decreased from $287,531,751 to $272,831,535, resulting in a reduction of
$14.7 million. This decrease mainly comes from a reduction in Bonds and Loans Payable in both
Governmental and Business-type activities.

The City's total revenues increased by $39,512,342 or 29.1%. The City's total expenses for all programs
increased by $25,629,209, or 19.2%. The increase in revenues and expenses are primarily because ofa
twelve month period compared to a ten month prior period. Governmental activity revenues increased by
$31,438,719 in the current fiscal period. Again, this is mainly due to a twelve month period resulting in
increase of major revenues like Property Tax, Sales Tax, Income Tax, Grants, Permits and Licenses.
Total expenses in the governmental activities increased from $107,673,076 to $127,871,924 and overall
revenues increased from $135,890,225 to $175,402,567 compared to previous fiscal year mainly due to
the full twelve month current fiscal period compared to short ten month previous fiscal year.

Governmental Funds: The governmental activities experienced a net position balance increase of
$2,940,976. This is primarily due to an increased amount of operating grants and coniributions as well as
reduced amount of transfers from governmental activities to the business activities.

Business Funds: The business-type activities fund balance experienced an increase in net position of
$13,636,592, primarily due to the surplus in the Sewer Fund. The surplus was mainly derived from the
transfer from government activities in the approximate amount of $4 million.

{Unaudited)
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The following table provides a summary of the City's changes in net position:

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION

Revenue
Program Revenues:
Charges for services
Operating grants and
condributions
Capital grants and
contributions
General Revenues;
- Sales taxes
Property taxes
Utility taxes
Income taxes
Other taxes
Investment income

Total Revenue

Expenses

General management and
support

Public safety

Public works

Health and human
resources development

Recreation and cultural
opportumities

Housing and economic
development

Interest

Water

Sewer

Solid Waste

Motor vehicle parking
system

Total Expense

Increase in net position
before transfers
Transfers

Increase/(Decrease) in
Net Position -

Net Position - Beginning
Net Position - Ending

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities

Total Primary Government

2012 2011 2012 2014

2012 2011

$ 30,760240 $ 22328862 § 39,234,894 $ 31,573,817 $ 69,995,134 $ 53,902,679

13,452,873 9,861,000 394,767 - 13,847,640 9,861,000
2,017,495 3,040,785 - - 2,017,495 3,040,785
15888422 13,494,930 - - 15888472 13494930
47874160  33,399439 - - 47874160  33,399439
8,027,007 6,375,788 - - 8,027,007 6,375,788
6,603,796 4,924,177 - - 6,603,796 4,924,177
10717275 9,943,709 - - 10,717,275 9,943,709
397,756 31615 33,882 16,103 431,638 47,718
135,739,024 _ 104300305 _ 39,663,543 31589920 _ 175402567 135890225
23,531,580 17911466 - - 23,531,589 17,911,466
52,7319.963 43464481 - - 52,739,963 43464481
11,099,192 12,399,465 - - 11,009192 12399465
3,200,722 3,546,727 . - 3,200,722 3,546,727
17437844 15,606,639 - - 17437844 15,606,639
18076600 11,630,331 - - 18,076,600 11,630,331
1,786,014 3,113,967 - - 1,786,014 3,113,967
- - 10,171,664 TAA9467 10,171,664 7,449,467
- - 7,872,314 7,083,350 7872314 7,083,350
- - 4,611,737 4,316,692 4,611,737 4,316,692
- - 8,297,360 6,673,205 8,297,360 6,673,205
127871924 107,673,076 __ 30953075 _ 25502714 _ 158824999 133,195,790
7867,100  (3372771) 8,710,468 6067206 16,577,568 2,604,435
(4926,124) _ (8,179930)  4.926,124 3,179,930 - -
2040976  (11,552,701) 13,636,592  14247,136 16,577,568 2,694,435

65,189,291 76,741,992 242,173,905 227,926,769

307,363,196 304,668,761

3 68,130,267 $ 65189,291 § 255810497 § 242,173,905 $ 323,940,764 $ 307,363,196
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Financial Analysis of the City's Funds
Governnental Funds

As discussed, governmental funds are reported in the fund statement with a short-term inflow and outflow
of spendable resources focus. This information is useful in assessing resources available at the end of the
period in comparison with upcoming financing requjrements. Governmental funds reported fund balances
of $58,025,959 as of December 31, 2012 which includes $33,312,540 restricted, $339,305 non-spendable,
$2,150,404 comumitted, $12,155,209 assigned and $10,068,501 unassigned fund balance. The restricted
fund balance consists of amounts required to be set aside by external authorities. Non-spendable amount
represents prepaid items for General Obligation Debt and General Assistance Township Fund.

Major Governmental Funds

The General Fund is the City's primary operating fund and the largest source of day-to-day service
delivery. The fund balance of the General Fund decreased by $1,359,682 primarily due to the increased
transfers to other funds. Excess of expenditures over revenues in the amount of $3,369,936 was partiaily
offset by inter-fund transfers to the General Fund. Some of the major revenues that came in above budget
include the Income Tax, Use Tax, Athletic Contest Tax, Real Estate Transfer Tax, Liquor Tax, Parking
Tax and Vehicle License Fees. Conversely, Utility Tax and local Motor Fuel Tax were lower than
budgeted. Most departments spent Jess than their budget with the exception of Police, Fire and Parks and
Recreation Departments, with the entire General Fund expenses being below the 2012 Adopted Budget.

The Capital Jmprovements Fund accounts for the City's governmental funds capital improvement
program. The program includes improvements to public buildings, paving of city streets, improvement
and development of recreation facilities and other major improvements. The fund balance of the Capital
Improvements Fund decreased by $2,344,749, from $5,746,660 to $3,401,911. The decrease was mainly
due to higher capital outlay.

The fund balance of the General Obligation Debt Fund had a nominal increase of $267,128, from
$2,629,020 to $2,896,148.

The Employer Pension Contribution Fund is used to account for the recognition of applicable tax
revenues and employer contributions to the Pension Trust Funds. These contributions represent the City's
pension expense for police and firefighters. This fond continues to be reported as a major fund with a
decrease in assets and liabilities of $488,531 from the last fiscal year. :

Combined Non-Major Governmental Funds

Combined non-major fund balances totaled $34,694,413, a decrease of $1,406,938 from prior petiod of
$36,101,351. Non-major funds with surpluses for the fiscal year include Library Fund, Library
FEndowment, Neighbothood Improvement, Home Fund, Community Development Loan, Township and
Southwest TIF. Non-major funds with deficits for the period include Motor Fuel, Economic
Development, Emergency Telephone System, Affordable Housing, Community Development Block
Grant, SSD#4, SSD#5, Howard Hartrey TIF, Washington National TIF, Howard Ridge TIF, West
Evanston TIF and Special Assessment Capital Project Fund. Although each fund varies, the Howard
Ridge, West Evanston, and Washington National TIF funds all had planned deficits for the purposes of

capital improvements and development activities.

(Unaudited)
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Proprietary Funds

The proprietary fund statements share the same focus as the government-wide statements, reporting both
short-term and long-term information about financial status.

The proprietary funds operated by the City are the Water, Sewer, Solid Waste and Parking Funds. The
Water, Sewer and Solid Waste Funds have a combined increase of $12,022,689 in the net position. This
increase is the result of increased revenues, reduced operating/debt service expense and $4 million

transfer from governmental activities to the Sewer Fund. The Parking Fund added $1,613,903 to the net’

position during the year primarily due to the reduced operating and interest expenses. Although fund
balances in these proprietary funds showed an overall healthy increase, it is important to keep in mind that
these funds carry a substantial debt level therefore; large debt payments will be required in the future.

Infernal Service Funds

The City's combined internal service fund’s net position decreased by $644,632 from $1,833,965 as of
December 31, 2011 to $1,189,333 as of December 31, 2012. Fleet Fund and Equipment Replacement
reported a combined net increase in net position of $607,096. The net deficit in the Insurance Fund went
up by $1,251,728 due to recording of potential claim liabilities.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

Total budgetary revenues for the General Fund were $72,831,761 while total expenditures were
$79,465,032. Overall General Fund revenues came in lower than budget by $2,815,727. General Fund
revenues were lower because of a one-time reduction resulting from a change in the fiscal year and
allocation of Property Taxes to the Library for the first time in FY2012. But, major revenues like Telecom
tax, Liquor Tax, Real Estate Transfer Tax, Building Permits and State Income Tax were higher than
budgeted. Total expenditures in the General Fund were lower than budgeted amounts by $836,235
mainly due fo continuous restructuring of departments and other cost saving measures in various
operating divisions. The actual net deficiency of $6,633,271 was partially offset by $2,010,254 in net
transfers from other funds.

Capital Assets

The City established a policy of capitalizing equipment and vehicles with $20,000 or more in value and
infrastructure and building improvements with $100,000 or more in value. The City's net investment in
capital assets for governmental and business-type activities, as of December 31, 2012, was $508,800,916.
The governmental finds capital assets increased by $5,743,666 while business type capital assets
increased by $1,706,284. Overall, capital assets increased by 1.5% for the City as a whole. The
Governmental Funds reported an increase in building improvement and infrastructure assets including
improvements in parks, streets and alleys. As for the Business Funds, Water Fund reported an increase in
net investment in capital assets. Readers desiring more detailed information on capital asset activity
should refer to Note 6 in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Long-Term Debt

As of December 31, 2012, the City had total general obligation bonded debt outstanding of $154,159,999
of which $33,221,257 was for business fype activities to be paid for by the City's Parking, Water, Solid
Waste and Sewer Funds. The City's general obligation debt service principal payments for 2012 totaled
$19,255,001 of which, $9,871,884 was abated. During the current year, the City issued $15,720,000 in
general obligation bonds. As a home rule government under Ilinois law, there is no legal debt limit for
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the City. Readers desiring more detailed information on long-term debt should refer to Note 9 in the
Notes to the Financial Statements.

Bond Ratings

The City's general obligation bonds are rated Aaa by Moody's Investor Rating Service and AAA by
Fitch Ratings. The City's water revenue bonds are rated Aal and AA for uninsured issues.

Economic Factors

Evanston is a diverse community consisting primarily of residential homes, several nonprofit
organizations including a very well-known private university, two hospitals, and many smaller scale retail -
shops and restaurants as well as some popular big box retailers. In general, economically sensitive
revenues such as Income Tax, Use Tax and Real Estate Transfer Tax came in a little higher than budgeted
revenues while Utility Taxes and Motor Fuel Tax were below budget.

The unemployment rate in Evanston has stayed slightly below same Jevel as many other cities in the State
due in part to the stable economy that includes Northwestern University. The City continues to maintain
its lower unemployment rate compared to state and federal unemployment levels. The primary employers
in the City include Northwestern University, two hospitals, the local high school, and elementary school
district, Rotary International, several not-for-profit organizations, and numerous retail businesses and
restaurants. Due to the high aumber of nonprofit organizations which make a large portion of Evanston's
worlkforce, the City has been somewhat insulated from the economic downturn in employment areas.

Contacting the City's inancial Management

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City's finances, comply with
finance-related laws and regulations, and demonstrate the City's commitment to public accountability. If
you have questions about this report or would like to request additional information, contact the City
Adminjstrative Services Department at the City of Evanston, 2100 Ridge Avenue, Evanston, Tlinois
60201, Telephone 847-866-2934, or access the website at www,cityofevanston.org.

{Unaudited}
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Statement of Net Position

As of December 31, 2012
Primary Government
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
Cash and equivalents $ 41323391 § 25442484 $ 66,765,875
Investments 3,355,646 - 3,355,646
Receivables (net, whete applicable,

of allowances for uncollectibles)

Property taxes 50,772,298 - 50,772,298

Accounts - 4,840,523 4,840,523

Notes 6,967,452 - 6,967,452

Special assessments 631,306 - 631,306

Accrued interest 7,452 - 7,452

Other 3,210,759 30,312 3,241,071
Due from other governments 9,177,400 - 9,177,400
Jnternal balances 603,830 (603,830) -
Tnventories 672,153 782,514 1,454,667
Restricted assets .

Cash and equivalents and investinent - 709,688 709,688
Prepaid items : 1,169,817 303,016 1,472,833
Other assets 86,572 239,000 325,572
Capital assets

Capital assets not being depreciated 26,374,320 11,421,809 37,796,129

Capital assets (net of accumulated

depreciation) 149,107,895 321,896,892 471,004,787
Total Assets 293,460,291 365,062,408 658,522,699

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Vouchers payable

Accrued payroll

Interest payable

Other payables

Due to other governments

Pension contribution payable

Payable from restricted assets
Interest payable

Unearned revenues

Noncurrent liabilities

Payable from restricted assets - due

within one year
Due within one year
Due in more than one year

Total Liabilities

Net Investment in Capital Assets

Restricted
Highway maintenance
Emergency telephone system
Library projects
HUD approved projects
Neighborhood improvements
Debt service
Township
Capital improvements
Unrestricted (deficit)

Total Net Position

Primary Government

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

$ 5,007,781 § 2,002,198 § 7,009,979
3,465,699 - 3,465,699
676,631 84,542 761,173 .
462,874 - 462,874
1,875,143 - 1,875,143
1,929,935 - 1,929,935

- 451,374 451,374

45,794,223 - 45,794,223

- 9,535,055 9,535,055

16,759,837 3,898,816 20,658,653
149,357,901 93,279,926 242,637,827
225,330,024 109,251,911 334,581,935
60,104,623 228,738,130 288,842,753
999,368 - 999,368
1,264,807 - 1,264,807
4,579,106 - 4,579,106
5,463,987 - 5,463,987
2,366,041 - 2,366,041
16,085,747 309,688 16,395,435
1,876,853 ~ 1,876,853

- 400,000 400,000
(24,610,265) 26,362,679 1,752,414

3 68,130,267 $ 255810497 § 323,940,764
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Statement of Activities

For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

Functions/Programs
Govemmental activities:

General management and support
Public safety

Public works

Health and human resource development
Recreation and cultural opportunities
Housing and economic development
Interest

Total governmental activities

Business-type activities:

Total

Water

Sewer

Solid Waste

Motor vehicle parking system

Total business-type activities

The accompanying notes are an integral

part of this statement.

Program Revenues
Operating
Charges for Grants and
Expenses Services Contributions

$ 22,507,666 $ 9,477,831 § -
52,739,963 1,440,723 36,768
11,099,192 475,664 1,857,761
3,200,052 1,679,865 711,045

17,437,844 9,933,818 -
19,101,193 7,752,339 10,847,299

1,786,014 - -
127,871,924 30,760,240 13,452,873
10,171,664 14,967,204 394,767

7,872,314 14,115,210 -

4,611,737 3,489,519 -

8,297,360 6,662,961 -
30,953,075 39,234,894 394,767
$ 158,824,999 § 69,995,134 $ 13,847,640

General revenues:
Property tax
Other taxes

-20-

Personal property replacement tax
Sales and home role tax
Income tax
Utility tax
Liquor Tax
Parking Tax
Real Estate TransferTax
Miscelianeous
Investment income
Transfers

Total general revenues and transfers
Change in Net Position
Net Position - beginning

Net Position - ending



Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

Capital
Grants and Governmental Business-type
Contributions Activities Activities Total

$ - $  (13,029,835) § - $ (13,029,835)
- (51,262,472) - (51,262,472)
1,235,660 (7,530,107) - (7.530,107)
- (809,142) - (809,142)
611,322 (6,892,704) - (6,892,704)
170,513 (331,042) - (331,042)
- (1,786,014) - (1,786,014)
2,017,495 (81,641,316) - (81,641,316)

- - 5,190,307 5,190,307

- - 6,242,896 6,242,896
- - (1,122,218) (1,122,218)
- - (1,634,399) (1,634,399)

- - 8,676,586 8,676,586
$ 2,017,495 (81,641,316) 8,676,586 (72,964,730)

47,874,160 - 47,874,160

1,797,669 - 1,797,669

1,250,024, - 1,250,024

15,888,422 - 15,888,422

6,603,796 - 6,603,796

8,027,007 - 8,027,007

2,175,476 - 2,175,476

2,352,581 - 2,352,581

2,026,363 - 2,026,363

1,114,662 - 1,114,662

397,756 33,882 431,638

(4,926,124) 4,926,124 -

84,582,292 4,960,006 89,542,298

2,940,976 13,636,592 16,577,568

65,189,291 242,173,905 307,363,196

3 68,130,267 § 255,810,497 $ 323,940,764




CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Governmental Funds
Balance Sheet
As of December 31, 2012
General Employer Nonmajor Total
Capital Obligation Pension Govemmental — Govemmental
General Improvements Debt Coniribution Funds Funds
Assels
Cash and equivalents $11478,724 § 5,802,833 $ 1,066,630 $ - $ 22,605,025 $ 40953212
Tnvestments - ~ - - 3,355,646 3,355,646
Receivables
Property taxes (net of ellowance) 12,281,386 - 11,798,019 14,130,900 12,561,993 50,772,298
Notes (net of allowance} - - - - 6,967,452 6,967,452
Special assessments - - - - 631,306 631,306
Accrued interest - - - - 7,452 7,452
Other : 2,221,949 - - - 938,498 3,160,447
Prepaid items - - 337,063 - 2,242 339,305
Due from other governments 7,456,261 533,358 - - 1,187,781 9,177,400
Due from other funds 596,303 550,165 303,016 - 1,722,758 3,172,242
Other assets 86572 - - - - 86,572
Total Assels $ 34,121,195 § 6,886,356 $ 13,504,728 § 14,130,900 $ 49,980,153 $ 118,623,332
Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities
Vouchers payable $ 1,334,732 § 1635449 $ 250 § - $ 1537932 § 4,508,363
Accrmed payroll 3,465,699 - - - - 3,465,699
Compensated absences payable 828 - - - - 828
Other 449,553 - - - 13,321 462,874
Due to other governments - 1,678,260 - - 156,883 1,875,143
Due to other funds 861,148 n 330,000 - 1,368,789 2,560,308
Pension contribution payable 96,076 - - 1,833,859 - 1,929,935
Deferred revenues 10,879,672 170,365 10,278,330 12,297,041 12,168,815 45,794,223
Total Liabilities 17,087,708 3 484,445 10,608,580 14,130,900 15,285,740 60,597,373
Fund Balances
Nonspendable - Prepaid items - - 337,063 - 2,242 339,305
Restricted
Highway maintenance - - - - 999,368 999,368
Emergency telephone system - - - - 1,264,807 1,264,807
Library projects - - - - 4,579,106 4,579,106
HUD approved projects - - - - 5,463,987 5,463,987
Neighborhood improvements - - - - 2,366,041 2,366,041
Debt service - - 2,559,085 - 14,203,293 16,762,378
Tovwnship - - - - 1,876,853 1,876,853
Commilted - Economic Development - - - - 2,150,404 2,150,404
Assigned 6,847,983 3,401,511 - - 1,905,315 12,155,209
Unassigned 10,185,504 - - - (117,003) 10,068,501
Total Fund Balances 17,033,487 3,401,911 2,896,148 - 34694413 58,025,959

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances $ 34121195 $ 6886356 § 13,504,728 § 14,130,900 4§ 49,980,153

Amounts reported for governmental activitics in the statement of net position are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore,
are not reported in the funds. 168,309,768
Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, compensated absences payable, and pension
contributions payable, are not due and payable in the current period and therefore, are not

reported in the governmental funds. (See Note 2.A) (157,068,524)
OPEB liability payable is not due and payable in the current period and therefore, is not

reported in the governmental funds. (1,649,638)
Tnterest accrual from last interest payment to December 31, 2012. (676,631)
The net position of the internal service fund is included in the governmental activities in the

statement of net position. 1,189,333
Net Position of governmental activities $ 68,130,267

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Governmental Funds

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

Revenues
Taxes

Licenses and permits
Special assessments
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fines and forfeits
Investment income
Miscellaneous

Total Revenues

Expendilures

Current
General management and support
Public safety
Public works
Health and human resource development
Recreation and cultural opportunities
Housing and economic development
Debt service
Principal
Interest
Fiscal agent fees
Capital outlay

Total Expenditures

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues

Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financiog Sources (Uses)

Transfers in

Transfers out

Issuance of debt
Premiums and discounts

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balances

Fund Balances -Beginning

Fund Balances - Ending

General Employer Nonmajor Total
Capital Obligation Pension Governmental Governmental

General Inaprovements Debt Contribution Funds Funds
$ 35,987,699 § - $12,184,177 $ 15,083,644 § 16,074,998 $79,330,518
10,470,353 - - - - 10,470,353
- - - - 292,947 292,947
16,360,863 170,513 - - 12,720,513 29,251,889
7,328,037 - - - 434,989 7,763,026
3,470,107 - - - - 3,470,107
7,169 19,073 3,645 - 366,989 396,876
2,470,868 193,549 18,435 - 232,596 2,915,448
76,095,096 383,135 12,206,257 15,083,644 30,123,032 133,891,164
12,437,192 37,725 23,744 - 6,033,085 18,531,746
38,606,997 4,855 - 15,083,644 915,384 54,610,880
7,833,641 281,993 - - 1,264,045 9,379,679
3,200,052 - - - - 3,200,052
14,283,198 25,645 - - - 14,308,843
3,103,952 - - - 15,991,673 19,095,625
- - 11,720,464 - 1,335,000 13,055,464
- - 4,867,047 - 308,484 5,175,531
- - 74,016 - 2,170 76,186
- 7,502,316 - - 1,020,213 8,522,529
79,465,032 7,852,534 16,685,271 15,083,644 26,870,054 145,956,535
(3,309,936)  (7.469,399)  (4,479,014) - 3,252,978  (12,065,371)
6,848,283 1,250,000 1,073,506 - 1,263,168 10,434,957
(4,838,029) (475,000)  (3,946,173) - (6,571,896) (15,831,098)
- 4,210,000 7,205,000 - 648,812 12,063,812
- 139,650 413,809 - - 553,459
2,010,254 5,124,650 4,746,142 - (4,659,916) 7,221,130
(1,359,682)  (2,344,749) 267,128 - (1,406,938)  (4.844,241)
18,393,169 5,746,660 2,629,020 - 36,101,351 62,870,200
$ 17,033,487 § 3,401,911 § 2,896,148 § - $ 34,694,413 58,025,959

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities

For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:
Net change in fund batances - total governmental funds
Governmental fonds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of activities, the

cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.
This is the amount by which capital ontlays exceeded depreciation in the current period. Gain or loss on

assels removed are also reported in the statement of activities. (Sce Note 2B) 4,890,344
The repayment of the principal of long-term debt payable consume the current financial Tesources of

governmental funds. These transactions, however, have no effect on net position. (See Note 2.B) 15,897,146
Issuance of Bonds provides current financial resources to governmental funds. This transaction has 1o

effect on net position. Governmental funds also report the effect of bonds premiums, discounts and

similar items when debt is first issued. (See Note 2.B) (11,968,459)
Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial resources

and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. (See Note 2.B) (311,511)
OPEB benefit expense reported in the statement of activities does not require the use of current financial

resources and, therefore, is not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. (195,233)
Change in interest accrual for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012. 117,562
Internal service funds are reported separately in the fund financial statements. (644,632)

Change in Net Position of governmental activities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Proprietary Funds
Staternent of Net Position
As of Decemnber 31, 2012
Business-type Activities- Enterprise Funds
Governmental
Activities-
Motor Vehicle . ) Internal
Patking Service
Water Sewer Solid Waste System. Total TFands
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and equivalents 9,279,164 § 1,346,549 § 51,207 § 14765564 § 25442484 $ 370,179
Restricted cash and equivalents
and investments 709,688 - - - 709,688 -
Receivables .
Accounts - billed 1,077,286 222,382 119,798 - 1,419,466 -
Accounts - unbilled 880,088 2,033,890 507,079 - 3,421,057 -
Otber - - - 30,312 30,312 50,312
Due from other funds 90,319 1,450,000 30,555 16,092 1,586,966 490,119
Inventories 667,457 115,057 - - 782,514 672,153
Prepaid Expenses 303,016 - - - 303,016 830,512
Total Current Assets 13,007,018 5,167,878 708,639 14,811,968 33,695,503 2,413,275
Noncurrent Assets
Capital Assets
Capital assets not being depreciated 6,849,992 122,970 - 4,448 847 11,421,809 -
Capital assets being depreciated 82,624,594 244,621,993 - 82,080,363 409,326,950 21,476,379
Less accumulated depreciation (23,055,639) (44,260,201) - (20,114,218) (87,430,058)  (14,303,932)
Total Capital Assets 66,418,947 200,484,762 - 66,414,992 333,318,701 7,172,447
Other Assets
Notes Receivable - - - - 239,000 239,000 -
Total Noncurrent Assets 66,418,947 200,484,762 - 66,653,992 333,557,701 7,172,447
Total Assets 79,425,965 205,652,640 708,639 81,465,960 367,253,204 9,585,722

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Vouchers payable
Inferest payable
Tnterest payable - restricted
Revenue bonds payable
Compensated absences payable
General obligation bonds payable
General obligation bonds payable - restricted
Claims payable
Notes payable - IEPA - restricted
Dhue to other funds

Total Current Liabilities

Long-Term Liabilities
Notes payable - IEPA.
General obligation bonds payable
OPEB liability payable
Revenue bonds payable
Compensated absences payable
IMRF Pension contributions payable
Claims payable

Total Long-Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted for debt service
Restricted for capital improvements

Unrestricled (deficit)

Total Net Posjtion (deficit)

Business-type Activities- Enterprise Funds

Governmental
Activities-
Motor Vehicle Tnternal
Parking Service
Water Sewer Solid Waste System Total Funds
$ 1,281,118 § 149,761 $ 470979 $ 100,340 § 2,002,198 $ 499,418
12,000 - 262 72,280 84,542 -
41,475 409,899 - - 451,374 -
290,000 - - - 290,000 -
292,046 58,824 17,174 55,155 423,199 16,595
207,875 - 15,035 2,962,707 3,185,617 -
- 1,270,280 - - 1,270,289 -
- - - - - 3,127,767
67,505 8,197,261 - - 8,264,766 -
379,051 157,167 1,465,721 188,857 2,190,796 498,223
2,571,070 10,243,201 1,969,171 3,379,339 18,162,781 4,142,003
1,147,582 60,963,020 - - 62,110,602 .
8,117,374 4,044,683 112,423 17,297,274 29,571,754 -
133,262 39,964 12,415 39,645 225,286 48,026
305,000 - - - 305,000 -
319,696 64,393 18,799 60,377 463,265 73,360
356,027 88,292 43,715 115,985 604,019 -

- - - - - 4,133,000
10,378,941 65,200,352 187,352 17,513,281 93,279,926 4,254,386
12,950,011 75,443,553 2,156,523 20,892,620 111,442,707 8,396,382
56,573,611 126,009,509 - 46,155,010 228,738,130 7,172,847

309,688 - - - 309,688 -
400,000 - B - 400,000 -
9,192,655 4,199,578 (1,447,884) 14,418,330 26,362,679 (5,983,114)
3 66,475,954 8 130,209,087 § (1 A447884) § 60,573,340 § 255,810,497 _§ 1,189,333
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Proprietary Funds

Combining Staternent of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position

For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

Operating Revenues
Charges for services
Miscellaneous

Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses Excluding Depreciation
Administration
Operations
Total Operating Expenses
Excluding Depreciation

Operatiog Income (Loss) Before Depreciation
Depreciation
Operating Income (Loss)

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Investment income
Interest expense
Bond expenses and amortization of discount
Amortization of bond premium
Other expenses
Grants
Gain (loss) on disposition of assets

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Income (Loss) before transfers and contributions
Capital Contfribution -

Governmental Activities
Transfers In (Out)
Debt Service
Fleet
Equipment Replacement
‘Washington National Tax Increment District
General
Total Transfers In (Out)
Change in Net Position
Total Net Position (Deficit) - Beginning

Total Net Position (Deficit)- Ending

Business-type Activities- Enterprise Funds

Governmental
Activities-
Motor Vehicle Inteenal
Parking Service
Water Sewer Solid Waste System Total TFunds

$ 14271272 §

14,100,510 § 3489519 $ 6,654,855

$ 38,516,156

$ 20,715,742

695,932 14,700 - 8,106 718,738 58997
* 14,967,204 14,115210 3,489,519 6,662,961 39,234,894 20,774,739
922,959 1,786,533 732,577 1,936,932 5,379,001 -
7,507,640 332,209 3,824,050 2,804,610 14,468,509 20,775,572
8,430,599 2,118,742 4,556,627 4,741,542 19,847,510 20,775,572
6,536,605 11,996,468 (1,067,108) 1,921,419 19,387,384 (833)
1,323,912 3,336,363 - 2,583,653 7,243,928 1,441,268
5,212,693 8,660,105 {1,067,108) (662,234)  12,143456  (1,442,101)
15,024 2,962 78 15,818 33,882 878
(199,885) (2:447,914) (3,278) (972,165) (3,623,242) -
(20,928) (26,507) (51,832) - (99.267) -
1,129 57,212 - - 58,341 -
(197,469) - - . (197,469) -
394,767 - - - 394,767 -
- - - - - 304,580
(7,362) (2,414.247) (55,032) (956,347) (3,432,988) 305,458
5,205,331 6,245 858 (1,122,140)  (1,618,581) 8,710,468 (1,136,643)
- - - - - 21,994
- 3,946,173 - - 3,946,173 (29,983)
- - - - - 7,858,900
- - - - - (7,858,900)
- - - 3,876,726 3,876,726 -
(3,356,300) (142,200) 1,245,967 (644,242) (2,896.775) 500,000
(3,356,300) 3,803,973 1,245,967 3232484 4,926,124 470,017
1,849,031 10,049,831 123,827 1,613,903 13,636,592 (644,632)
64626923 120159256 (LS7TL,711) 58959437 242,173,905 1,833,965
$ 66475954 § 130200087 $ (1,447,884) § 60,573,340 § 255810497 § 1,189,333

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS
Proprietary Funds

Statement of Cash Flows
Yor the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

Business-type Activities- Enterprise Funds

Governmental
Activities-
Motor Vehicle Internal
Parking Service
Water Sewer Salid Waste System Total Funds
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from customers and users $ 14541214 % 14,118,591 $ 3352974 § 10,697.57 1§ 42,710350 & 20,748,674
Receipts from interfund services provided - 99,340 - - 99,340 -
Payments 10 suppliers (7,423,276) (387870)  (3,723320)  (3,181,998) (14,716,468)  (4,133,784)
Payments to employees (803,537) (5,770,870) (749,873) (1,911,039} (9,235,319) (4,086,688)
Payments for interfund servites provided (146,362) (298,055) (77,503) (806,229) (1,328,149) 86,173
Payments for insurance premiums - - - 8,373 8,373 (12,933,244)
Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Operating Activities 6,168,039 7,761,136 (1,197,722) 4,798,305 17,529,758 (918,869)
Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities
Transfers o (Out)
Debt Service - 3,946,173 - - 3,946,173 (29,083)
‘Washington Tax Increment District - - - 3,876,726 3,876,726 -
General (3,356,300) (142,200) 1245967 (644242)  (2.896,775) 500,000
Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Noncapital Financing (3,356,300) 3,803,973 1,245,967 3,232,484 4,926,124 470,017
Cash Flows from Capitat and Related Financing Activities :
Sale of capital assets - - - - - 357,283
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (6,790,698) (910,066) - (1,980,079) (9,680,843) (2,287,678)
Tnterest prepayment of revenue bonds (13,016) - - - (13,016) -
Grants and Contributions 394,767 - - - 394,767 -
Proceeds from general obligation bonds 4,305,000 - - - 4,305,000 -
Principal puid on general obligation bonds (169,534) (3,094,209) (14.259) (2,921,536) (6,199,538) 21,994
Interest paid on general obligation bonds (338,879} (485,202) (55,122) (981,693) (1,860,897) -
Bond expenses - (26,507) (74,054) (100,561) -
Principal paid on JEPA loans (67,505) (8,638,398) - - (8,705,903) -
Tnterest paid on JEPA loans - (2,025,182) - - (2,025,181) -
Change in prepaid bonds balance 206,656 - - - 296,656 -
Wet Cash (Used for) Capital and Related Financing (2,383,209) (15,179,564) (69,381) (5.051,362) __ (23,589,516) (1,908,401)
Cash Flows from Investmg Activities
Interest income — 15,024 2,962 77 15,818 33,881 878
Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities 15,024 2,962 77 15,818 33,881 878
‘Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Equivalents 443,554 (3,611,493) (21,059) 2,089,245 (1,099,753) (2,356,375)
Cash and Equivalents :
Beginning 9,545,298 4,958,042 72,266 12,676,319 27,251,925 2,726,554
Ending 3 9988852 $ 1346549 § 51207 § 14,765,564 3 26,1 52172 8 370,179
Reconciliation
Cash and equivalents
Current Cash $ 9,279,164.00 $ 1,346,549.00 £ 51,207 8 14,765,564 $ 25442484 § 370,179
Restricted Current Cash 709,688 - ~ - 709,688 -
$ 9988852 $ 1346549 $ 51,207 § 14,765,564 § 26,152,172 § _ 370,§79
Continued

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS
Proprietary Funds

Statement of Cash Flows - Continued
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash
Operating income (Joss)

Depreciation

Changes in asscts and liabilities
Increase/decrease in A/R miscellancous
Other reccivables
Prepaid expenses
Interfund receivable
Inventories
Compensated absences
Claims Payables
Interfund payable
OPEB liability payable
IMRF contributions payable
Vouchers payable
Vouchers payable (restricted)
Accounts Payables

Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Operating

Business-type Activities- Enterprise Funds

Governmental
Acivities-
Motor Vehicle Tnternal
Parking Service
Water Sewer Salid Waste System Total Funds

5212693 §

8,660,105 $ (1,067,108) $

(662,234) $ 12,143,456 § (1,442,101)

1,323 912 3336363 . 2,583,653 7,243 928 1,441,268
(425,990) 3,381 (136,545) 24,610 (534,544) . (26065)
- - - 10,000 10,000 -

- - - - - (316,379)
(90,3519) (298,055) (30,555) 3,983,909 3,564,980 -
31,545 11413 - - 42,958 (98,281)
50,353 @441 (33,055) 3,973 16,830 (@,929)

- - - - - (194,779)
(56,043) (3.900,660) (46,948) (790,138)  (4,793,789) 86,173
26,764 8,823 6,789 8373 50,743 10,236
42,305 11,281 3,970 13,547 76,103 -
257,085 (67,074 100,730 - 290,741 -
(204,266) - - (377,388) (581,654) -

- - - - - 374,012)
168030 § 7,761,136 § (LIO7.702) §_ 4.798305 5 TT59.3%" 918,369
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Fiduciary Funds
Statement of Net Position
As of December 31, 2012
Pension
Trust Funds
Assets
Cash and short-term investments 3 6,168,201
Receivables
Accrued interest 458,058
Contribution receivable - Due from city funds 1,929,935
Total Receivables 2,387,993
Tnvestments, at fair value
1.S. Government and agency obligations 41,009,392
Corporate bonds 16,334,437
Common stock 24,319,762
Mutual funds 48,851,289
Total Investments 130,514,880
Total Assets 139,071,074
Liabilities
Vouchers payable 17,197
Net Position held in trust $ 139,053,877

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Tiduciary Funds - Pension Trust Funds

Statement of Changes in Plan Net Position
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

Pension
Trust Funds
Additions
Contributions
Employer $ 15,083,644
Plan members 2,539,021
Other-Donations, Legal Sett.,Surplus Sales 309
Total contributions 17,622,974
Investment income
Net appreciation in
fair value of investments 6,956,454
Investment income 3,705,108
Total investment income 10,661,562
Less investment expense 428,606
Net investent income 10,232,956
Total additions 27,855,930
Deductions
Benefits 16,033,808
Refunds of contributions 116,603
Administrative expense 141,527
Total deductions 16,291,938
Net increase 11,563,992
Net Position held in trust for pension benefits
Beginning 127,489,885
Ending . $ 139,053,877

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
Yor the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of the City of Evanston (City) have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of Aruerica as applied to governmental units (hereinafter referred to as "Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles" (GAAP). The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting
body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.

The more significant of the City's accounting policies are described below.
A. Reporting Entity

The City was incorporated in 1863, The City operates under a Council-Manager form of government, is a home rule
municipality as defined by Illinois state law, and provides the following services us authorized by its charter: general
management and support, public safety, public works, health and human resource development, recreational and cultural
opporlunities, and housing and economic development,

As required by GAAP, these financial statements present the City (the ptimary government) and its component unit, an entity
for which the City is considered to be financially accountable. Although the component unit is legally a separate entity, it is
governed by the same board; therefore, data from this unit is blended with data of the City.

Blended Component Unit:

The Town of the City of Evanston, Illinois (Township) is a separafe legal entity which administers General Assistance, a
public welfare program assigned by Iflinois law to townships. Eligible clients receive General Assistance for food, shelter,
and medical needs. Through the town-fund levy, the Township also supports a number of community action programs, which
provide direct services to welfare recipients. The Township is governed by a Township Board of Trustees and provides
services within the same geographic boundaries of the City. The Township Board of Trustees are the same individuals as the
City Council. The Township board levies taxes and is responsible for adopting the Township budget and approving payment
of bills. The Township has two elected officials: the Supervisor and the Assessor, each elected for four-year terms. The
Supervisor is responsible for Township funds and for the administration of General Assistance. The Assessor does not
actually assess property; that function is carried out by the Cook County Assessor. The Township Assessor serves as a
taxpayer's advocate, helping citizens with tax-related questions.

The Assessor also works to assure equity of assessments, and maintains records of building and demolition permits and of all
tax-exempt properties. The Township Board of Trustees can issue debt on its own behalf, and such debt can be issued in the
Township’s name alone.

The Township is included in the Reporting Entity due to its finaneial accountability because the Township Board of Trustees
are the same individuals as the City Council members. The Township has a March 31 fiscal year-end. Amounts included in
this report are as of and for the year ended March 31, 2012. This report is the most recent one available.
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
A. Reporting Entity - Continued
Complete financial statements for the Township may be obtained at the following address:

Town of the City of Evaoston
1910 Main Street
Evanstor, Illinois 60202

Joint Ventures:

The City participates in two joint ventures, which are reported as nonequity governmental joint ventures and are deseribed in
Footnote 14, The joint ventures are: City of Evanston and Solid Waste Agency of Northern Cook County (SWANCC) and
Tvanston Housing Coxporation. :

B. Government-wide and YFund Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (le., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report
inforsoation on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the City. The effect of interfiund activity has been removed from these
statements excluding interfund services provided. Govérmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and
intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees
and charges for support. .

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment are offset by
program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program
revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, ot directly benefit from goods, services, or
privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the
operatjonal or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among
program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental fiunds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, even though the
latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental finds and major
individusl enterprise funds arc reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. Nonmajor funds ate reported in
the supplementary information.

“In June 2011, the GASB issued statement No. 63 - Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows
of Resources, and Net Position. This statement provides financial reporting guidance for deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources. Previous financial reporting standards did not include guidance for these elements, which are
distinct from assets and liabilities. This standard was implemented effective January 1, 2012.

C. Fund Accounting
“The City uses funds to report on its financial position and the results of its operations. A fund is a separate accounting enfity
with a self-balancing set of accountis. Fund accounting is designed to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid financial

management by segregating transactions related to certain government functions or activities.

Funds are classified into three categories: governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary. Each category, in tumn, is divided into
separate "fund types."
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes fo the Finaneial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLYCYES - Continued
C.  Fund Accounting - Continued

Governmental funds are used to account for all or most of the City's general activities, including the collection and
disbursement of carmarked monies (special revenue fumds), the acquisition or construction of general capital assets (capital
projeets funds), and the servicing of general long-term debt (debt service fitnds). The general fund is used to account for all
activities of the City not accounted for in some other fund. All Township funds are considered special revenue funds within
the governmental funds category.

Proprietary funds are used to account for activities similar to those found in the private sector, where the determination of net
income js necessary or useful -for sound financial administration. Goods or services from such activities can be provided
either to outside parties (enterprise funds) or to other departments or agencies primarily within the City (internal service
funds). Intermal service funds are included with the governmental fands on the government-wide financial statements.

Fiduciary funds are used to account for assets held on behalf of outside parties, including other governments, or on behalf of
other fimds within the City. When these assets are held under the terms of a formal trust agreement, a permanent fund is used.
Agency funds generally are used to account for assets that the City holds on behalf of others as their agent. The pension trust
fund accounts for the activities of the Police and Firefighters' Pension funds, which accurnulate resources for pension benefit
payments to retired police and fire personnel.

D. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statercnt Presentation

The government-wide financial statcments are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the acerual basis
of accounting, as are the proprietary fund stafements, Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a
Liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for
which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by
the provider have been met.

Governmental fund financial statements are teported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the
modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues
are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of
the current period. For this purpose, the City considers property taxes as available if they are collected within 60 days of the
end of the current fiscal period. A six month availability period is used for revenue recognition for all other governmental
fimd revenues. Expenditures generally are recorded when a lability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt
service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences, are recorded when payment is due or when
amounts have been accumulated in the debt service fund for payment to be made early in the following year.
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE1l. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued
D. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation - Continued

The following revenues associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have
heen recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.

1.) Taxes 6.) Fines
Property Traffic fines
Sales (Home Rule)
Utility 7.) Intergovernmental
Personal property Motor fuel tax allotments
Grants
2.) Licenses Supplemental Security Income reimbursements
Income taxes
3.) Franchise fees Sales taxes
Use tax

4.) Charges for services
8.) Investment income
5.) Recycling program fees and sales

All other revenue iterns are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the City.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

The General Fund is the City's primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general
government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

The Capital Improvements Fund accounts for the City's capital improvement program. The program includes
improvement to public buildings, paving of City streets, improvement of recreational facilities and other improvements,

The General Obligation Debt is a debt service fund which accumulate monies for the principal and interest payments on
general obligation debt. :

The Employer Pension Contribution F und is a special revenue fund which accounts for the recognition of applicable tax
revenes and employer confributions to the Pension Trust fuads.

Governmental funds report deferred revenue in connection with receivables for revenues that are not considered to be
available to liquidate liabjlities of the current period.
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE1l. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued
D.  Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation - Continued
The City reports the following major proprietary funds:

The Water Fund accounts for the provision of water services to the residents of the City and the sale of waler to the
Village of Skokie, Hlinois, and the Northwest Water Commission. All activities necessary to provide such services are
accounted for in this fund, including, but not limited to, administration, operation, maintenance, financing and related
debt service, and billing and collection.

‘The Sewer Fund accounts for the provision of sewer repair and improvement services to the residents of the City. All
activities necessary to provide such services are accounted for in this fund, including administration, operations,
financing, and billing and collection.

Solid Waste Fund accounts for the recycling, refuse and yardwaste removal services related fees and expenses. Refuse
and yardwaste are contracted out, while recycling is handled by the city staff,

The Motor Vehicle Parking System accounts for the provision of the public and residential parking tacility on Church
Street, Maple Avenue, and Sherman Avenue, as well as all the City's parking lots and meters. All activities are
accounted for including administration, operations, financing and revenue collection.

Additionally, the City reports the following fund types:

Internal Service funds account for the fleet management and insurance services provided to other departments or
agencies of the government, or fo other governments, on a cost reimbursement basis.

Pension Trust funds account for the activitics of the Police and Firefighters' Pension Funds, which accnmulate resources
for pension benefit payments to qualified public safety employees.

As a general ule, the effect of interfond activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements.
Exceptions to this general rule are charges between the City's enterprise funds and various other functions of the government.
Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions concerned,

Amounts reporied as program revenues include 1) charges to customers for goods, services, or privileges provided, 2)
operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions, including assessments. Internally dedicated
resources are reported as general revenue rather than as program revenue. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and expenses
generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal
ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the enterprise fonds and of the City’s internal service funds are
charges to customers for sales and services. Operating expenses for enterprise funds and internal service funds include the cost
of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this
definition are reported as nonoperating revennes and expenses.
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CITY OF EVANSTON, XLLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
Yor the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES ~ Continucd
D. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accountihg, and Financial Statement Presentation — Continued

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City’s policy to use restricted resources first,
then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

The City reports unearned revenues on jts government funds statements. Unearned revenues arise when a potential revenue
does not meet both the »measurable” and “available" criteria for recognition in the current period. Unearned revenues also
arise when resources ar¢ received by the City before it has a legal claim to them, a5 when grant monies are received priorto
the incurrence of qualifying expenditures, If subsequent revenue recognition criteria are met, ox when the City has a Jegal
claim to the resources, the liability for uneamed reveoue is removed from the combined balance sheet and the revenue is
recognized. :

E. Cash and Equivalents

Cash and equivalents represent cash o hand, cash deposited in interest-bearing and noninterest-bearing checking accounts,
and investments in money markets, certificates of deposit, and treasury obligations with maturities of three months or less at
the date of acquisition, and cash deposited with the 1llinois Funds.

F. Investuents

Investments consist of certificates of deposit, freasury obljgations, government agency obligations, and insurance contracts
with maturities greater than three months. Investments for the pension funds are mostly comprised of treasury obligations,
government agency obligations, fixed income and equity mutual funds, and stocks. Tnvestments of the pension trust funds are
carried at fair value. Investments with over one year to maturity are reported at fair value. All other investments are stated at
cost or, for U.S. government securities, amortized cost. These securitios may be purchased at a premfum or discount which is
amortized over the life of the investment. This valuation method approximates fair value.

" G. Inventorics and Prepaid Items

Tnventories in the Water, Sewer, and Fleet Service Funds are valued at the lower of cost (firstin, first-out) or market.
Inventory amounts are recorded on the basis of a physical count.

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future acoounting periods and are recorded as prepaid items in both

government-wide and fimd financial statements. In governmetal fimds, prepaid items are recorded based on consumption
method.
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued
H. Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include properly, plant, and equipment and {nfrastructure assets (e.g. roads, sidewalks, trails, bridges,
and similar jtems), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-Lype activities columns in the government-wide
financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the government as equipment and vehicles with an initial, individual cost of
more than $20,000, or infrastructure, buildings, or building improvements with an initial, individual cost of more than
$100,000. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital
assets are recorded at-estimated fair market value at the date of donation.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the vatue of the asset or materially extend assets' lives are not
capitalized. Infrastructure acquired prior to the February 28, 2003 implementation of GASB 34 has been reported.

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. Interest incurred during the
construction phase of capital assets of business-type activities is included as part of the capitalized value of the assets
constructed. No interest was capitalized during the year.

Property, plant, and equipment are depreciated, and intaﬁgible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the
following estimated useful lives:

Description Years Description Years

Land improvements 10-100 Buildings and improvements 10-50
Leaschold improvements 10-100 Office equipment and furnjture 5-15
Plant 20-100 Machinery and equipment 5-15
Trensmission and distribution Infrastructure 30-100

system 5-100 Library collections 7
Sewer system and Intangible Assets 5-10

underground lines 75-100
Parking meters 15

L. Compcensated Absences

1t is the City’s policy to permit employecs to accumulate earned but unused vacation and sick pay benefits. All payments due
in the event of termination are accrued when fncurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. The
General Fund has been used in ptior years to liquidate the liability for compensated absences of governmental funds.

J. Long-Term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, long-term debt and
other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or
proprietary fund type statement of net assets, Bond premiums and discounts, if material, are deferred and amortized over the
life of the bonds. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount.

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond issuance
costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiurms received on
debt issuances are reported as other financing sources, while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses,
Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
Tor the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Countinued

K. Self-Insurance

The City is sclf—insﬁred to cerlain Yimits for general liability claims and for workers' compensation insurance. A liability is
recorded when it is probable that a Joss has oceurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Claims

lisbilities are based on estimates of the ultimate cost of reported claims including future claims adjustment expenses. General
liability and workers' compensation claims are paid out of the Insurance Fund.

L. Property Taxes
Property taxes are collected by the Cook County Collector and are remitted periodically to al] taxing bodies, including the
City and Township. Distributions are made more often during the two main collection periods. Property taxes are levied ona

calendar year basis by passage of a tax levy ordinance.

The property tax calendar for Cook County is as follows:

Description Date
Lien Date January 1 of Levy Year
Levy Date December of Levy Year
First Installment Due Date
(55% of prior bill) March 1/ April 1 of Year following Levy Year
- Second Installment Due Date
(balance of total bill) September 1 / October 1 of Year following Levy Year

Property tax revenues arc recognized when they become both measurable and available. On this basis, property tax revenue
includes all cash distributions of property tax received duting the fiscal period between January 1, 2012 and December 31,
2012 and all property tax ecollections received within 60 days after the end of the fiscal period. A 2% allowance for loss is
reflected in the City financial statements.
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE1l. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
L. Property Taxcs - Continued

The adjustment necessary to convert GAAP basis property tax revenues lo budgetary basis is shown in the nates to the
tequired supplementary information in the section on Budgets and Budgetary Accounting,

The Town Fund and General Assistance Fund unearned revenue represents the net portion of the 2011 property tax levy that
will not be collected within 60 days of the Township's March 31, 2012 year-end. A 5% allowance for loss is reflected in the
Township financial statements. - IR : Co Co B :

M. Fund Equity

Governmental fimd equity is classified as fund balance. In February 2009, the GASB issued statement No. 54 — Fund Balance
Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions. This statement establishes fund balance classifications based primarily
on the extent to which the government is bound to honor constraints on the use of the resources reported in each governmental
fund as well as establishes additional notes disclosures regarding fund balance classification policies and procedures. The city
council may, by an ordinance, establish, modify or remove a fund balance commitment. In accordance with Governmental
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 54 - Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions, the city
classifies governmental fund balance as follows:

1. Nonspendable - Includes fund balance amounts that can not be spent cither because they are not in spendable form or
because legal or contractual stipulations require them to be maintained intact.

2. Restricted - Cousists of fund balances with constraints placed on their use either by 1) external groups such as
creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or 2) law through constitutional provisions or
enabling legislation.

3. Committed - Includes fiund balance amounts that are constrained for specific purposes that are internally imposed by
the government through formal action of the highest level of decision making authority, Fund balance amounts are committed
through a formal action of the city. This formal action must occur prior to the end of the reporting period, but the amount of
commitment, which will be subject to constraints, may be detetmined in the subsequent petiod. Any changes to the constraints
imposed require the same formal action of the city that originally created the commitment.

4. Assigned - Includes spendable fund balance amounts that are intended to be used for specific purposes that are not
considered restricted or committed. Fund balance may be assigned through the following; 1) Council may take official action
to assign amounts. 2) All remaining positive spendable amounts in governmental funds, other than the general fund, that are
neither restricted nor committed. Assignments may take place after the end of the reporting period.

5. Unassigned - Includes residual positive fund balance within the general fund which has not been classified within the
other above mentioned categories. Unassigned fund balance may also include negative balances for any governmental fund if
expenditures exceeds amounts restricted, committed, or assigned for those purposes.

Assignments may not create unassigoed deficits in any fund. However, nonspendable, restricted, or committed fund balance
may create an unassigned deficit. Also, restricted, conunitted, and assigned balances themselves may not be negative.

The city considers restricted amounts to be spent first when both restricted and wnrestricted fund balance is available unless
thete are legal documents / contracts that prohibit doing this, such as in grant agreements requiting dollar for dollar spending.
Additionally, the city would first use committed, then assigned and lastly unassigned amounts of unrestricted fund balance
when expenditures are made.
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE1l. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
N. Interfund Transactions

Transactions that constitute reimbursements to a fund for cxpenditures/expenses initially made from it that are properly
applicable 10 another fund are recorded as expenditures/expenses in the reimbwsing fund and as reductions of
expenditures/expenses in the fund that js reimbursed. All other interfund transactions are reported as transfers.

0. Use of Estimates

In preparing financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses duting the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

P. Effect of New Accounting Standards on Current Period Financial Statements

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has approved GASB Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting
Entity: Omnibus; Statement No. 65, Ttems Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities; Statement No. 66, "Technical
Corrections - 2012 - an amendment of GASB Statements No. 10 and No. 62; Statement No. 67, Financial Reposting for
Pension Plans - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 25; Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Pensions - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27; Statement No. 69, Government and Disposals of Government
Operations; and Statement No. 70, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Financial Guarantees. Application
of these standards may restate portions of these financial statements.

Q. Conduit Debt

The City approved the issuance of $5,000,000 Series 2010 Revenue Bonds during the fiscal year 2010-2011 to provide

financial assistance to Chiravalle Montessori School, deemed to be in public interest. The use of proceeds includes the
property purchase from City of Evanston, jmprovement to the existing building, refinancing existing debt and payment of

miscellaneous costs. The bonds are secured by the property or mortgages financed and are payable from the moneys, securities
" and other revenues pledged under the indenture by the School. The City is not obligated in any manner for the repayment of
bonds. Accordingly, the bonds outstanding are not reported as a liability in these financial statements. As of December 31,
12012, ouistanding bond balance was $4,775,000.

The City approved the jssuance of $13,590,000 Series 2011 Revenue Bonds during the fiscal period ending December 31,
2011 to provide financial assistance 0 Roycemore School, deemed to be in public interest. The use of proceeds includes the
property purchase and renovation of the 1201 Davis, the new focation of the school and payment of miscellaneous costs. The
bonds are secured by the property or mortgages financed and are payable from the moneys, securities and other revenues
pledged under the indenture by the School. The City is not obligated in any manner for the repayment of bonds. Accordingly,
the bonds outstanding are not reported as a liability in these financial statements. As of December 31, 2012, outstanding bond
balance was $13,590,000.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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NOTE 2. RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A.  Explanation of Certain Differences between the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and the Government-
wide Statement of Net Position

The governmental fund balance sheet includes a reconciliation between fund balance - total governmental funds and
net position — governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of net position.. One element of
that reconciliation explains that “Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, compensated absences payable, First
Bank loan and pension contributions payable, are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not
reported in the fimds.” The details of this difference are as follows:

General obligation bonds payable _ $ 120,938,742
Bonds premium liability 3,731,770
Compensated absences payable 8,327,158
IMRF Pension contributions payable 3,106,323
First Bank Loan 648,812
Pension contributions payable 20.315.719

Net adjustments to reduce fund balance — total
governmenta] funds to arrive at net position —
governmental activities $ 157,068,524

B.  Explanation of Certain Differences between the Governmental Fund Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances and the Government-wide Statement of Activities

L. The government fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances includes a
reconciliation between net changes in fund balances — total governmental funds and changes in net
position of governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of activities. One
element of that reconciliation explains that “Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful
lives and reported as depreciation expense.” The details of this difference are as follows:

Capital outlay $ 8,522,529
Capital outlay - contributions/other governmental activities 6,530,813
Depreciation expense (10,162,998)

Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund
balances - total governmental funds to arrive at
changes in net position of governmental activities 3 4890344
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NOTE 2.

RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —

Continued

B. Explanation of Certain Differences between the Governmental Fund Statement of Revenues,

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances and the Government-wide Statement of Activities -
Continued
2. Another element of that reconciliation states that "The repayment of the principal of long-term debt
consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds. These transactions, however, have no
effect on net position." The details of this difference are as follows: '
Principal repayments:
Geperal obligation debt $ 11,215,464
SSD#5 Bond 1,840,000
IMRF Pension contributions payable 2,841,682
Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund
balances - total governmental funds to arrive at
changes in et position of governmental activities $  15.897.146
3. Another element of that reconciliation stafes that "Some expenses reported in the staterent of activities
do not require the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditutes in
governroental fimds." The details of this difference ate as follows:
Compensated absences $ 1,413,011
Amortization income 430,273
Pension contributions 1,721,947
First Bank Loan (648,812)
IMRF Pension contributions payable (3,227,930)
Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund
balances — total governmental funds to arrive at
changes in net position of governmental activities $ (311.511)
4. Another element of that reconciliation states that "Issuance of Bonds provides current financial resources

to governmental funds.” The details of this difference are as follows:

Bond $ (11,415,000)
Bond premium liability . (553,459

Net adjustment to decrease net changes in fund
balances — total governmental funds to arrive at
changes in net position of governmental activities $ (11.968.459)
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NOTE3. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY
A.  Budgetary Information

The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements:”

1. Because of a calendar year, the City Manager will submit to the City Council a proposed operating
’ budget for the upcomming fiscal year commencing January 1, 2014. The operating budget- includes
proposed expenditures and the means of financing them.

2. Public budget hearings are conducted. Taxpayer comments are received and noted.
3. The budget is legally enacted through passage of a resolution.

4, The City Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between departments within any find;
however, any revisions that alter the total expenditures of any fund must be approved by the City Council.
There were budget allocations within General fund but the total did not change.

5. Budgets are legally adopted on a basis consistent with GAAP except that property taxes are budgeted as
revenue in the year they are levied. For purposes of preparing the General Fund - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis) Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance, GAAP revenues
and expenditures have been adjusted to the budgetary basis.

Blended Component Unit

The Township prepares its annual appropriation ordinance, which is synonymous with its budget, using the
modified accrual basis of accounting. The appropriation ordinance was adopted June 27, 2011. It covers both
Township funds.

The Township follows procedures similar to those of the City in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the
financial statements. The budget was not amended during the current fiscal petiod.

The following City and Township funds do not have legally adopted budgets:

Special Revenue
Library Endowment and Employer Pension Contribution Funds.




CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31,2012

NOTE 3. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY - Continued
A. Budgetary Information - Continued

The level of control (level at which expenditures may not exceed budget) is the fund. All unencumbered annual
appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal period.

The following funds had an excess of actual budgetary expenditures over original and final budget for the fiscal yéar
ended December 31, 2012:

Fuand Actual Budget Excess
Community Development Block Grant Fund $ 1,928,694 §$ 1,643,693 §$ 285,001
Neighborhood Stabilization Program 2 8,319,492, 7,445,747 873,745
Homeless Prevention & Rapid Re-Housing Program 83,648 80,000 3,648
Howard Hartrey Tax Increment District 1,746,704 625,803 1,120,901
Library Fund 4,628,362 4,580,594 47,768

B. DEFICIT FUND EQUITY

The Insurance Fund, an internal service fund, had a net deficit of $7,376,499 as of December 31, 2012. The City
plans to use current resources to pay for future liabilities.

The Fleet Services, an internal service fund, had a net deficit of $106,235 as of December 31, 2012. The City plans to
use current resources to pay for future liabilities.

The Solid Waste Fund had a net deficit of $1,447,884 as of December 31, 2012. The City plans to use current
resources to pay for future liabilities. .

The Special Service District No. 4 had a net deficit of $117,003 as of December 31, 2012. The City plaos to use
current resources to pay for future liabilities. .
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NOTE 4. DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS

A. Types of Accounts and Securitics

Illinois statutes and the City's investment policies authorize the City to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, in Government
Sponsored Enterprises (GSE) such as Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHIL.MC), Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB),
and Fannie Mae (FNMA); Bankers Acceptances as well as commercial paper rated only in the highest ticr; Repurchase
agreements of the highest grade; Collateralized Certificates of Deposit issued by FDIC insured financial institutions, money
market mutual funds with portfolios limited to securities guaranteed by the United States, the Illinois Metropolitan Investment
Fund (IMET); and the Ilinois Funds.

It is the policy of the City to invest public funds in a manner whereby its investment objectives are prioritized in the following
order: Safety of Principal, Liquidity, and Rate of Return. The City also seeks to maintain diversification of investments to avoid
overconcentration of any one specific issuer or business sector. To mitigate interest rate risk, the City tries to siructure the
investment portfolio to meet daily cash flow needs so as to avoid reeding to sell securities on the open market. The City seeks to
attain market rates of return consistent with constraints imposed by safety and cash flow needs. The City invests to conform to
all state and local statutes governing the investment of public funds. More detail is available in the City's investment policy.
Library has investments in equities which is not permissible under the state statutes.

The Firefighters' and Police Pension Funds are set up for the exclusive purpose of providing retirement and other benefits to plan
participants and beneficiaries. All investments are governed and authorized by the respective Fire and Police Pension Boards.
The investment objectives and parameters mirror those listed above for the City of Evansion. However, unlike the City's public
funds, the Firefighters and Police Pension funds may invest in various equity accounts up fo a limit of 45% of the aggregate
value of each respective fund's assets. The pension funds invest to conform to all state and Jocal statutes governing pension
funds. Additional detail is available in each pension fund's investment policies.

B. Pooling of Cash and Investntents

Except for cash and investments in certain restricted and special accounts, the City pools the cash of various funds to maximize
interest earnings, Interest income is allocated to the various funds based upon their respective participation.
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NOTE 4. DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS - Continued

C. Types of Investments

As of December 31, 2012, the City has the following investments and maturities. The fair valu

as the value of the pool shares.

¢ of the Illinois Funds is the same

Governmental and Enterprise

Investment Maturities (In Years)

Tnvestment Type .. ... Fair Valug. ([Less Than 1 Year) 1 - 10 More Years| Equities ._.|.

Money Market / Liquid Assets $ 18778,517| $ 18,778,517 | § - $ -
Mautual Funds 2,692,328 - - 2,992,328
Total Governmental and Enterprise Investment Fund $ 21,770,845 | § 18,778,517 | $ - 1§ 2992328
First Bank Money Market $ 8,987,339

JP Morgan Money Market 9,312,748

Vanguard Money Market 478,230

Total Money Market / Liquid Assets $ 18778517

TFire and Police Pension

Tnvestment Maturities (In Years)
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Investment Type Fair Value  |Less Than 1 Year] 1 - 10 More Years Equities

Money Market / Liquid Assets $ 5403936 |$ 5403936 |8 - $ -
Mutual Funds 48,851,289 - 1,631,200 47,220,089
Corporate Bonds 16,334,437 - 16,334,437 -
U.S. Treasuries 20,806,581 1,556,533 19,250,048 -
Federal Home Loan Bank 2,015,747 36,855 1,978,892 -
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp 3,976,599 - 3,976,599 -
Fannic Mae 9,494,540 230,219 9,264,321 -
Ginnie Mae 4,715,925 26 4,715,899 -
Common Stock 24,319,762 - - 24,319,762
Total Fire and Police Investment $ 135,018,816 |§  7.227,569 | $ 57,151,396 $ 71,539,851
Smith Barney Money Market $ 1,050,717

JP Morgan Money Market 2,583,141

Schwab Money Market 462,057

MB Bank Money Market 1,308,021

Total Money Market / Liquid Assets $ 5403936
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NOTE 4. DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS — Continued
C.  Types of Investments - continued
Interest Rate Risk. The City's investment policy does not limit investment maturities as a means of managing its exposure to fair

value losses arising from increasing interest rates. The objective is to maintain a core portfolio with maturities primarily in the
three month to three years range.

Credit Risk- State law limits-investments-in- commercial-paper,-corporate-honds,-and mutual bonds funds.to the top-two ratings- ... .

issued by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. The City's investment policy does not impose further limits on
investment choices. The Police and Fire Pension Funds have investments in corporate bonds with S&P ratings ranging from
BBB- to AAA. The Hlinois Funds and Money Markets were rated AAA by Standard & Poor’s. The llinois Metropolitan
Investment 1 - 3 Year Pund (IMET) exclusively invests in AAA Standard & Poor's securities, such as treasury and agency
obligations. IMET's convenience fund collateralizes all of its deposits 110%. Illinois Funds and IMET are an investment pools
managed by the State of Illinois, Office of the Treasurer, and a Board of Trustces, respectively which allows governments within
the State to pool their funds for investment purposes. They are not registered with the SEC as an investment company, but do
operate in a manner consistent with Rule 2a7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940. The investments in the securities of the
U.S. government agencies were all rated triple A or Aaa by the Standard & Poor’s and by Moody’s Investor’s Services. The
following investments in Illinois Funds and IMET are valued at the fund’s share price, the price for which the investments could
be sold.

linois Funds

City of Evanston $ 7,783,107

Township 1,699,070 $ 9482177
IMET money market

City of Evanston 16,525,589

Fire and Police pension plan 130,940 16,656,529

$ 26,138,706 _ -

Custodial Credit Risk. For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the
City will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.
All of the City's investments were insured, registered, or held by the counterparty’s trust department in the City’s name.

Concentration of Credit Risk. It is the policy of the City to diversify its investment portfolio. Investments shall be diversified
to eliminate the risk of loss resulting from overconcentration in a security, maturity, issuer, or class of securities. At December
31, 2012, Police Pension Trust Fund had investments in FNMA that exceeded 10% of net position available for benefits.
Investments in FNMA are implicitly implied to be guaranteed by the U.S. government. The Firefighters' Pension Trust Fund had
investments in GNMA that exceeded 10% of net position available for benefits. Investments in GNMA are explicitly guaranteed
by the U.S. government.
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NOTE 4. DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS — Continued

D.  Deposits

Custodial Credit Risk. TFor a deposit, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the City
will not be able to recover the vatue of its deposit or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. All of the
City's deposits were insured, collateralized, or filed by the counterparty's trust.

City

Deposits consist of deposits in interest-bearing and noninterest-bearing checking accounts. At December 31, 2012, the carrying
amount of the City's deposits, including cash on hand of $20,334 was $22,891,201. 'The financial institations' balances totaled
$21,304,069.

Township

At March 31, 2012, the carrying amount of the Township's deposits was $161,398. The financial institutions' balances totaled
$166.765.

Fiduciary

Deposits consist of deposits in interest-bearing and noninterest-bearing accounts. At December 31, 2012, the carrying amount of
the Pension's deposits was $633,326. The financial institutions' balances totaled $633,563.

E. Reconciliation of Unrestricted and Restricted Cash and Investments

The total of unrestricted cash and investments and restricted cash and investments from the Statement of Net Assets and for the
fiduciary funds is reconciled to the preceding deposit and investment disclosures (Notes 4C and Notes 4D) as follows:

Unrestricted cash and equivalents $ 66,765,875
Unrestricted investments 3,355,646
Restricted cash and equivalents and investments 709,688

Total Cash and Investments - Primary Government 70,831,209
Tiduciary funds cash and equivalents 6,168,201
Fiduciary funds investments 130,514,880

Total Cash and Investments ' $ 207,514,290
Carrying amount of deposits — from Note 4D - $ 23,685,925
Tilinois fands and IMET money market - from Note 4C 26,138,706
Investments — from Note 4 C table . 157,689,659

Total $ 207,514,290

-61-



CITY OF EVANSYTON, [LLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE 5. RECEIVABLES
A. Summary of Receivables

Receivables as of December 31, 2012 for the government’s individual major funds, nonmajor, infernal service funds and fiduciary funds in the aggregate,
including the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are as follows:

Motor
General Employer Vehicle Nonmajor
" General ' Oblipation = Pension Solid" " Parking and Other
Fund Debt Contribution Water Sewer Wasle System Funds ‘Total

Receivables:

Property taxes $ 12,532,027 § 12,038,795 § 14419286 § - 3 - 8 - % - $ 12,818,360 $ 51,808,468
Accounts - - - 1,957,374 2256272 626,877 - - 4,840,523
Notes - - . - - - - 7,057,452 7,057,452
Special assessments - - - - - - - 631,306 631,306
Accrued interest - - - - - - - 7,452 7,452
Other 2,221,949 - - - - - 30312 988,810 3,241,071
Gross receivables 14,753,976 12,038,795 14,419,286 1,957,374 2,256,272 626,877 30,312 21,503,380 67,586,272
Less: allowance for )

uncollectibles (250,641) (240,776) (288,386) - - - - (346,367) (1,126,170)

Net tota] receivables  § 14,503,335 $ 11,798,019 § 14,130,900 $ 1957374 § 2256272 $ 626877 $ 30312 $§ 21,157,013 $§ 66,460,102

Out of the total Notes Receivable, $6,832,217 is estimated not to be paid during the next year. Out of the total Special Assessment receivable, $380,828
is estimated not to be paid during the next year,

Governmental funds report deferred revenue in connection with receivables for revenues that are not considered to be avajlable to liquidate liabilities of
the current period. Property taxes levied for the subscquent year less those collected within 60 days of year end are not eamed and can not be used to -
liquidate liabilities of the current period. Govemnmental funds also defer revenue recognition in connection with resources that have been received, but not
yet eamed. At the end of the current fiscal period, the City's deferred revenne and unearned revenue consisted solely of property taxes levied for the
subsequent years less those collected within 60 days of year end,

B. Notes Receivable — Special Revenue Funds

The City makes Joans to City residents for the rehabilitation of single-family and multi-family housing. Initial funding for these loans was from
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) aud Housing and Urban Development (FIUD) Funds. Two types of loans are made: (1) title transfer
loans which arc due in full when the housing unit is sold, and (2) amortizing leans which are due in monthly installments over varying lengths of time.
Repayments of principal and uny interest earned on these receivables, which ace recorded in the respective Special Revenue fands, are used to make
additional rehabilitation loans. An allowance of $90,000 exists in the Special Revenue funds due to doubtful accounts. Loan activity for the current
period is summarized as follows:

Interest L.oans Loan
Rates Beginning Made Repayments Bnding

0%-8% 3§ 6104245 § 1,137,197 $ 273990 $ 6967452
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NOTEG. CAPITAL ASSETS

A.  Capital Asset Activity

Capital asset activity for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, was as follows:

Governmental activities:

Capital assets, not being depreciated: ...
Land

Right of way

Artwork

Total capital assets, not being depreciated

Capital assets, being depreciated/amortized:
Buildings and improvements

Office equipment and furnitore

Intangible assets

Machinery and cquipment

Infrastructure

Library collections

Capitalized leases

Total capital assets being depreciated/amortized

Less accumulated depreciation/amortization for:
Buildings and improvements

Office equipment and furniture

Intangible assets

Machinery and equipment

Infrastructure

Library collections

Capitalized leases

Total accumulated depreciation/amortization
Total capital assets being depreciated/amortized, net

Governmental activities capital assets, net

Beginning Additions Deletions Transfers Ending
§ 6824424 § 699,000 $ . Sy 7523424
18,695,896 - - - 18,695,896
115,000 40,000 - - 155,000
25,635,320 739,000 - - 26,374,320
91,920,909 2,281,372 - - 94,202,281
6,068,801 438,168 - - 6,506,969
6,392,426 3,000 - - 6,395,426
23,476,317 2,432,410 2,357,173 - 23,551,554
141,105,519 9,565,737 - - 150,671,256
8,528,911 499,679 1,016,909 - 8,011,681
729,644 - - - 729,644
278,222,527 15,220,366 3,374,082 - 290,068,811
34,246,433 2,021,330 - - 36,267,763
5,163,279 150,615 - - 5,313,894
5,441,589 130,784 - (6,063) 5,566,310
16,463,659 1,541,966 2,304,471 - 15,701,154
65,590,984 5,695,172 - - 711,286,156
6,498,516 614,388 1,016,909 - 6,095,995
714,838 8,743 - 6,063 729,644
134,119,298 10,162,998 3,321,380 - 140,960,916
144,103,229 5,057,368 52,702 - 149,107,895
$169,738,549 $ 5,796,368 § 52,702 - $ 175,482,215
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NOTE 6.  CAPITAL ASSETS - Continued

A.  Capital Asset Activity - Continucd

Beginning Additions Delctions Transfers Ending
Business-type activifies:
Capital asscts, not being depreciated:
Land $ 3,297,937 $ 1346573 $ - $ - $ 4,644,510
Construction in progress 4,018,348 6,913,668 4,514,469 - 6,417,547
CARWORE T T e T 389752 vt e s S -1 v -7
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 7,676,037 8,260,241 4,514,469 - 11,421,809
Capital assets, belng depreciated/amortized:
Land improvements 3,633,499 - - - 3,633,499
Buildings and improvements 76,405,856 - - - 76,405,856
Leasehold improvements 302,752 - - - 302,752
Plant 36,000,965 4,317,001 02,398 - 40,255,568
Transmission and distribution system 41,439,487 - - - 41,439,487
Sewer system and underground lines 242,510,451 602,730 - - 243,113,181
Intangible assets 384,917 100,342 - - 485,259
Equipment 2,799,293 184,367 - - 2,983,660
Parking meters 707,688 - - - 707,688
Total capital assets being depreciated/amortized ' 404,184,908 5,204,440 62,398 - 409,326,950
Less accumulated depreciation/amortization for; :
Land improvements 1,213,390 119,715 - - 1,333,105
Buildings and improvements 15,035,368 2,252,986 - - 17,288,354
Leaschold improvements 302,752 - - - 302,752
Plant 13,567,945 791,611 62,398 - 14,297,158
Transmission and distribution system 7,596,981 472,237 - - 8,009,218
Sewer system and underground lines 39,704,997 3,297,339 - - 43,002,336
Intangible assets 109,976 63,350 - - 173,326
Equipment 2,086,554 133,441 - - 2,219,995
Parking meters 630,565 113249 - - 743,814
Total accumulated depreciation/amortization 80,248,528 7,243,928 62,398 - 87,430,058
Total capital assets being depreciated/amortized, net 323,936,380 (2,039,488) - - 321,896,892
Business-type activities capital assets, net $331,612417 § 6,220,753 § 4,514,469 $ - $ 333,318,701
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NOTE6.  CAPITAL ASSETS - Continued

A. Capital Assct Activity - Continued

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows:

Govemmental activities:

General management and suppo

Public works

Housign and Economic Development

Recreation and cultural opportunities
Total depreciation expense — governmental activities
Business — type activities:

Water

Sewer

Motor Vehicle Parking

Total depreciation expense — business — type activities

B. Construction Commitments

The value of construction contracts signed, where the work has not yet been performed at December 31, 2012, is as follows:

Capital Improvement Fund
Sewer Fund
Water Fund

Total Construction Commitments
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$ 338810

6,504,539
5,568

2,756,546

$ 10,162,998

$ 1,323,912
3,336,363

2,583,653

§ 143,028

$ 2,133,379
2,989,228

1,040,999

8 6163606
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NOTE 7. INTERFUNDS

The outstanding balances between funds result mainly from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and
services are provided or reimbursable expendftures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and (3)

payments between [unds are made.
A. Interfund Accounts

At December 31, 2012 interfund receivables and payables consist of the following:

Due from Due to
Governmental Funds
General Fund
Library $ - $ 64,441
Emergency Telephone System 16,424 -
Economic Development 25,874 -
Fleet Service 223938 -
Insurance 32,768 -
Community Development Block Grant 28,942
Capital Inprovements - 535,300
Spec Assess CAP Project - 42,923
‘Water 61,170 -
Sewer ’ 78,542 -
Solid Waste - 30,555
Neighborhood Stabilization Program 2 8,951 -
Community Development Loan - 1,263
Neighborhood Improvement - 20,000
Howard Ridge TIF 179 -
West Evanston 522 -
Motor Vehicle Parking System 118,993 -
Equipment Replacement o 166,666
Total General Fund 596,303 361,148
Cepital Improvements
General Fund 535,300 -
Water 14,865 -
Motor Vehicle Parking System - 371
Total Capital Improvements 550,165 371
General Obligation Debt Service Fund
Howard Ridge TIF - 200,000
Southwest TIF Debt Serv - 130,000
‘Water 303,016 -
Total General Obligation Debt Service Fund 303,016 330,000
Nonmajor Governinental Funds
Neighborhood Stabilization Program 2
General Fund - 8,951
Economic Development
Genera! Fund - 25,874
CD Loan Fund - 1,078
Total Economic Development - 26,952
Emergency Telephone System
General Fund s 16,424
Neighborheod Improvement
General Fund 20,000 M
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statcments
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31,2012

NOTE 7. YNTERFUNDS - Continued

A. Ioterfund Accoomis - Continued

Funds

Nonmajor Govemmental Funds - Continued
Compmnity Development Block Grant
General Fund
Motor Vehicle Parking System
Spee Assess CAP Project
Special Service Dist #4
Total Community Development Block Grant
Community Development Loan
General Fund .
Community Development Block Grant
RBconomic Development
Total Community Development Loan
‘Washington Natl. Tax Increment District Debt Sve.
SSD #5 Debt Service Fund
Howard- Hartrey TIF debt Service
Southwest TIF Debt Serv
Total Washington Natl, Tax Increment District Debt Sve.
Howard Ridge Tax Increment District
General Fund
Debt service Fund
‘West Evansfon
Total Howard Ridge Tax Increment District
Howard Hartrey Tax increment District
‘Washington Natl. Tax Increment District Debt Sve.
Special Service District No. 4
CBDG Fund
Special Service District No. 5
Total Special Service District No. 4
Special Service District No. 5
Special Service District No. 4
Washington Natl. Tax Tncrement Disteict Debt Sve.
‘Total Special #5 Debt Service Fund
Southwest Tax Increment District
‘Washington Natl. Tax Increment District Debt Sve.
Debt service Fund
Total Southwest Tax Increment District
West Evanston Tax Increment District
General Fund
Howard Ridge TIF
Total West Evanston Tax Tncrement District
Library Fund
General Fund
Town
General Assistance
General Assistance
Town
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Due from Due to
Other Punds Other Funds
$ - 3 28,942
226 -
32,375 -
e 188381 e
166,942 29,167
1,263 -
- 134341
1,078 -
2341 DAL
- 270,000
- 220,000
- 150,000
- 640,000
- 179
200,000 -
290,000 -
490,000 179
220,000 -
225 -
- 130,000
225 130,000
130,000 -
270,000 -
400,000 -
150,000 -
130,000 -
780,000 -
- 522
- 290,000
- 260,522
64,441 -
- 10,860
10860 -



CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Noles to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2012

NOTE 7. INTERFUNDS - Continned

A. Interfund Accounts - Continued

Due from Due to
Funds Other Funds Other Funds
Spec Assess CAP Project
General Fund 42,923 -
CBDG Fund - 32,375
Motor Vehicle Parking System 24,956 -
‘Water Fund - 9,054
w.5ewerFund.. ... ... 0 e
Tsurance Fund - 39,964
Total Spec Assess CAP Project 67,949 81,393
Total Nonmajor Governmental Funds 1,722,758 1,368,789
Total Governmental Funds 3,172,242 2,560,308
Enterprise Funds
Water
General Fund - 61,170
Sewer Fund 78,553 -
Motoer Vehicle Parking System 2,710 -
Capital Improvements - 14,865
Debt Service Fund - 303,016
Special Assessment CP Fund 9,054 -
Total Water 90,319 379,051
Sewer
General Fund - 78,542
Special Assessment CP Fund - 70
‘Water Fund - 78,555
Solid Waste 1,450,000 -
Total Sewer 1,450,000 157,167
Solid Waste
General Fund 30,555 -
Motor Vehicle Parking System - 15,721
Sewer - 1,450,000
Total Solid Waste 30,555 1,465,721
Motor Vehicle Parking System
General Fund - 118,993
CBDG Fund - 226
Water Fund - 2,710
Solid Waste 15,721 -
Special Assessment CP Fund - 24,956
Isurance Fund - 41,972
Capital Improvements 371 -
Total Motor Vehicle Parking System 16,092 188,857
Total Enterprise Funds 1,586,966 2,190,796
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31,2012

NOTE7. INTERKUNDS - Continued

A. Interfund Accounts - Continned

Cares

Due ffom Due to
Funds Other Funds Other Funds
Jnternal Service Funds
Fleet Services
General Fund $ - $ 223,938
Equipment replacement - 220,344
Total Fleet Services - 444,782
T s e
General Fun -
Special Assessment CP Fund 39,964 -
Motor Vehicle Parking System 41,972 -
Equipment replacement 20,673 -
Total Insurance 102,609 32,768
Equipment Replacement
General Fund 166,666 -
Fleet Service 220,844 -
Tsurance Fund - 20,673
Total Bquipment Replacement 387,510 20,673
Total Internal Service Funds 490,119 498,223
Total Primary Government § 5249327 §_ 5249327
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CITY OF EVANSTON, TLLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2012

NOTE 7. INTERFUNDS - Continued
B. Interfund Transfers

Transfets are used 10 1) move revenues from the fund with collection authorization to the debt service fund as debt service
principal and interest payments become due, 2) move restricted amounts from bormowings to the debt service fund 0
establish mandatary reserve accounts, 3) move restricted general fund revenues to finance various programs that the
government must account for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorization, including amounts provided as
subsidies or matching funds for various grant programs.

At December 31, 2012 transfers in / out consist of the following:

Transfers Transfers

Funds - In Qut
Governmental Funds
General Fund
Affordable Housing Fund $ 23990 § -
Library Fund . - 1,214,668
Emergency Telephone System Fund 125,950 -
Neighborhood Stabilization Program 2 114,984 -
‘Washington Natl. Tax Increment District Debt Sve. 325,000 -
Howard Hartrey Tax Increment District 141,600 -
Southwest Tax Increment District 28,920 -
Capital Improvement Fund 475,000 1,250,000
Equipment Replacement Fund - 500,000
Water Fund 3,356,300 -
Sewer 142,200 -
Motor Vehicle Parking System 644,242 -
Solid Waste Fund - 1,245,967
Howard Ridge Tax Increment District 120,400 -
Motor Fuel Tax Fund 836,990 -
West Evanston Tax Increment District 60,000 -
General Obligation Debt Service Fund . - 627,354
Economic Development 452,707 -
Total General Fund 6,848,283 4,838,029
Capital Improvements
General Fund 1,250,000 475,000
General Obligation Debt Service Fund
General Fund 627,394 -
Library Fund 69,005 -
Neighborhood Stabilization Program 2 3,616 -
Emergency Telephone System 10,385 -
Community Development Block Grant 2,711 -
Economic Develepment 12,752 -
Special Assessment 317,660 -
Fleet Services 22,274 -
Insurance 7,709 -
Sewer - 3,946,173
Total General Obligation Debt Service Fund 1,073,506 3,946,173
Nonmajor Governmentzl Funds
Affordable Housing Fund
General Fund - 23,990
Community Development Block Grant
General Obligation Debt Service Fund - 2,711
Library Services
General Fund 1,214,668 -
General Obligation Debt Service Fund - 69,005
Total Library Services 1,214,668 69,005
Economic Development
Howard Ridge 48,500 -
General Obligation Debt Service Fund - 12,752
General Fund - 452,707
Total Economic Development 48,500 463.459

-70-




CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2012

NOTE7. INTERFUNDS - Continued

B. TIuterfund Transfers - Continued

Funds

Transfers
In

Transfers
Out

Nonmajor Governmental Funds - Continued
Southwest Tax Increment District
General Fund
Howard Hartrey Tax Increment District
General Fund

. Howard: Ridge Tax Tnrement DASHICE oo soee s e s

Economic Development
General Fund .
Total Howard Ridge Tax Increment District
Washington Natl, Tax Increment District Debt Sve.
General Fund
Motor Vehicle Parking System
Total Washington National Tax Tncrement District
‘West Evanston Tax Increment District
General Fund
Emergency Telephone System
General Fund
General Obligation Debt Service Fund
Total Emergency Telephone System
Special Assessment
General Obligation Debt Service Fund
Motor Fuel Tax
General Fund
Neighborhood Stabilization Program 2
General Fund
General Obligation Debt Service Fund
Total Neighborhood Stabilization Program 2

Total Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Total Governmental Funds

Enterprise Funds
‘Water
General Fund
Sewer
General Fund
General Obligation Debt Service Fund
Total Sewer
Motor Vehicle Parking System
General Fund
‘Washington Natl. Tax Increment District Debt Sve.
Total Motor Vehicle Parking System
Solid Waste
General Fund

Total Enterprise Funds
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28,920

141,600

120,400

168,900

325,000
3,876,726

4,201,726

60,000

125,950
10,385

136,335

317,660

836,990

114,984
3,616

118,600

1,263,168

6,571,896

10,434,957

15,831,098

3,356,300

3,946,173

142,200

3,946,173

142,200

3,876,726

644,242

3,876,726

644,242

1,245,967

9,068,866

4,142,742

i
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOXS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2012

NOTE 7. INTERFUNDS - Continued

B. Interfund Transfers - Continued

~72-

Transfers Transfers
Funds In Out
Internal Service Funds
Fleet Services
Equipment Replacement Fund $ - $ 7,858,900
General Obligation Debt Service Fund - 22,274
Total Fleet Services - 7,881,174
Fleet Services Fund 7,858,900
General Fund 500,000 -
Total Equipment Replacement 8,358,900 -
Insurance
General Obligation Debt Service Fund - 7,709
Total Tnternal Service Funds 8358900 7,888,883
Total Primary Government $ 27,862,723 § 27862723
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2012

NOTE 8. Operating Leases

The City of Evanston has nine digital office copiers leased from Chicago Office Technology Group.
The copiers are located in the Evanston Civic Center and the Evanston Police headquarter. The City
entered into lease agreement for these copiers during the 2010-11 fiscal year. The lease term is 48
months starting August, 2010.

The City entered into lease agreement for postage machine with Neopost during the 2012 fiscal year.

The machine is located on th_e first floor in the Civic Center. The lease term is 63 months with the first
payment due in February, 2013.

Number of Monthly Annuallease

Leasing Co. Expiration Machines Payment payment  Type of Machines
Chicago Office
Technology Group 7/31/2014 9 1,642 $ 16,420 Copiers
Mail Finance 4/30/2018 1 375 4,500 Postage Machine

Minimum annual lease payments are as follows:

Year ending 12/31/2013 23,829
Year ending 12/31/2014 15,994
Year ending 12/31/2015 4,500
Year ending 12/31/2016 4,500
Year ending 12/31/2017 4,500
Year ending 12/31/2018 . 1,500

$ . 54,823
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTES. LONG-TERM DEBT

A. Changes in Long-Term Debt
Final
Interest Maturity Batance Balance Due Within

Rate Datc 12/3172011 Issued Payments 12/312012 Ope Year
G.0. Debt Governmental Activitics
Series 2002C 5.00%-5.80% 112022 § 2,680,000 $ - $ 2,680,000 § - b3 -
Series 2002C (S5A45) 5.00%-5.80% 112016 1,840,000 . 1,840,000 - -
Series 2004 2.00%-5.00% 12112023 11,040,000 - 845,000 10,195,000 870,000
Series 2004B 2.00%-5.25% 12/12017 4,460,000 - 1,630,000 2,830,000 595,000
Series 2005 3.25%-5.00% 12/12025 14,130,000 - 750,000 13,380,000 1,115,000

--Series 2006 - --- - s e e 3.85%5:00% - - oo 12712026 - - 9,680,000 - - .- - -1306,000--- 9,550,000 - - - 135,000 - -

Series 2006B 4.00%-4.25% 12/12023 14,430,000 - - 14,430,000 35,000
Series 2007 4.00%-5.00% 12/)/2016 17,535,000 - 1,185,000 16,350,000 1,000,000
Series 2008A 3.00%-5.00% 120172021 3,215,000 - 195,000 3,020,000 300,000
Series 2008C 3.00%-5.00% 12/12028 8,912,340 B 369,840 8,542,500 381,900
Series 2008D 3.23%-5.00% 12/12016 7,085,000 - 1,435,000 5,650,000 2,480,000
Series 2010A. 200%-3.625% 120172029 6,260,000 - 300,000 5,960,000 305,000
Series 2010B 1.00%-3.30% 12/172019 6,101,866 - 613,946 5,487,920 647,358
Series 2011A 2.00%4.50% 12/1/2031 15,210,000 - 1,081,678 14,128,322 1,234,836
Series 2012A (SSA#5) 2.00%-3.25% 12/12032 - 1,515,000 - 1,515,000 340,000
Series 2012A. 2.00%-3.25% 12/1/2032 - 9,900,000 - 9,900,000 995,000
Subtotal Governmental Activilies 122,579,206 11,415,000 13,055,464 120,938,742 10,434,094
Bonds premium liability 3,608,584 553,459 430,273 3,731,770 -
OPEB liability 1,492,195 205,469 - 1,697,664 -
Pension contributions 22,037,666 13,361,697 15,083,644 20,315,719 -
Compensated absences payable- City 9,895,170 2,487,963 3,965,192 8,417,941 3,197,976
IMRF Pension contributions 2,720,075 3,227,930 2,841,682 3,106,323 -
First Bank Loan - 648,812 - 648,812 -
Claims payable 7,455,546 1,803,956 1,998,735 7,260,767 3,127,767
Subtotal Other G.A. Liabilities 47,209,236 22,289,286 24,319,526 45,178,996 6,325,743
Total Governmental Activity Debt & Liabiljties $ 169788442 $ 33,704,286 § 37374990 $ 166,117,738 $ 16,759,837
G.0. Dcbt Business-fype Activities
Series 2005 Sherman Garage 3.25%-5.00% 12/12025 7,920,000 - 975,000 6,945,000 1,020,000
Series 2005 Sewer 325%-5.00% 12112025 250,000 - - 250,000 -
Series 2007 Sewer 4.00%-5.00% 12/112016 2,140,000 - 1,090,000 1,050,000 185,000
Series 2007 Parking 4.00%-5.00% 12112016 875,000 - 125,000 750,000 130,000
Series 2008B Sherman (jarage 3.00%-5.00% . 12/172018 13,705,000 - 1,800,000 11,905,000 1,790,000
Series 2008C Sewer 3.00%-5.00% 12/1/2028 2,172,660 - 90,160 2,082,500 93,100
Series 2008D Sewer 3.25%-5.00% 127172016 2,820,000 - 1,875,000 945,000 945,000
Series 20108 1.00%-3.30% 12/1/2019 1,203,134 - 121,054 1,082,080 127,642
Series 2011A 2.00%-4.50% 12/1/2031 4,030,000 - 123,323 3,906,677 165,164 .
Serfes 2012A. 2.00%-3.25% 12112032 - 4,305,000 - 4,305,000 -
Subtatal Business-type Activities 35,115,794 4,305,000 6,199,537 33,221,257 4,455,906
Water Revenue Bond Series 1999 4.125-4.375% 1712014 875,000 - 280,000 595,000 290,000
Water Revenue Bond Series 2002 2.00-3.75% 1/1/2012 295,000 - 285,000 - -
Subtotal Water Revenue Bonds 1,176,000 - 575,000 595,000 290,000
IEPA Loans 2.535-3.59% Various 79,081,272 - 8,705,904 70,375,368 8,264,766
Unamortized bond Premium and discount 11,477 - 1,129 10,348 -
Bonds premium liability 792,619 143,704 140,328 796,055 -
Compensated absences payable- City 869,634 452,335 435,505 886,464 423199
JMRF Pension conteibutions 521916 636,004 559,901 604,019 -
OPEB Liability 174,537 50,749 - 225,286 -
Subtotal Other Business-type Activity Liabilitics 2376243 1,282,792 1,136,863 2522172 423,199
Total Business-type Activities Debt & Liabilities $ 117,743,309 $ 5587792 § 16,617,304 § 106,713,797 $ 13,433,871
Total Governmental & Business-type Activities Debt & Liabilities § 287,531,751 $ 39292078 § 53992204 §$ 272,831,535 $ 30,193,708

Note: Employer Pension Contribution Fund has been used to liquidate the net pension obligation. Sewer Fund, Water Fond, Solid Waste,
Parking Fund and General Fund have been used to liquidate IMRF Pension liability. General Fund, Fleet Fund, Water Fund, Parking Fund,
Solid Waste Fund and Sewer Funds have been used to liquidate other post employment benefit obligations.
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE 9- LONG-TERM DEBT - Continued
A. Changes in Long-term Debt- Continved
Business type activities - Water Revenue Bonds

Business type activities revenue bonds are payable from revenues derived from Water service fees. The

.. City. has.. pledged . future..revenues, . net -of..operating...expenses, to . repay.. original principal . totaling .. -

$5,855,000 in revenue bonds issued in 1999 and 2002. Proceeds from the bonds provided financing for
Water CIP projects. The bonds are payable solely from revenues through 2014. Annual interest payment
on the bonds is expected to require $19,688 of net revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013. The
total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $621,360. Principal and interest paid for
the current period totaled $612,687 on customer revenues of $5,212,693.

Revenue debt payable consists of the following:

Date of Final Interest Original
Issue Maturity ~ Rates Indebtedness Balance
1/25/1999  1/1/2014 Various $ 3,500,000 $ 595,000

Business type activities - IEPA Loans

Business type activities IEPA loans are payable from revenues derived from Sewer and Water service
fees. The City has pledged future revenues, net of operating expenses, to tepay principal totaling
$161,827,471 in TEPA loans issued in 1993 through 2011, Proceeds from the loans provided financing for
the Long Term Sewer and Water Improvement Program. The IEPA loans, payable from operating
revenues and property tax levies, are payable through 2030. The City Council authorized to refinance
IEPA loan payments by issuing General Obligation (GO) bonds in the amount not to exceed $17 million.
The City of Evanston issued $3,805,000 in GO bonds during the fiscal year to repay IEPA loan payments.
Annual principal and interest on the loans are expected to require $10,041,858 of net revenues for the
Fiscal year 2013. The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the loans is $80,427,136.
Principal and interest paid for the current period and total customer net revenues were $10,731,085 and
$11,996,468 respectively.

TEPA loans payable consist of the following:

Date of Final Interest Original
Issue Maturity ~ Rates Indebtedness Balance

Various Various Various § 161,827,471 § 70,375,368

Total Business type Activities- IEPA Loan Debt $ 70,375,368




CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE 9- LONG-TERM DEBT - Continued
B. General Obligation Bonds Payable

The City issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and construction of major capital facilities.
General obligation bonds have been issued for hoth governmental and business-type activities.

General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the City. These bonds generally are
issued as 20-year serial bonds with equal amouats of principal maturing each year.

On August 16, 2010 the City issued Series 2010A in General Obligation bonds for a total of $6,500,000 to pay for public

improvements within the City,

On August 16, 2010 the City issued taxable Series 20108 in General Obligation bonds for a total of $8,000,000 to pay
the City's obligation to the Dllinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) for the Early Retirement Incentive (ERI) plan
adopted by the City.

On August 1, 2011 the City issued Series 2011A in General Obligation bonds for a total of $19,240,000. The Bonds
were issued to provide financing for certain public improvement projects and refund certain outstanding obligations, The
Bond issue also included money to deposit into debt service funds of the City's Sewerage System for purposes of paying
certain outstanding obligations on their scheduled payment dates.

Part of the above Series 2011A General Obligation bonds were issued at a pet interest cost of 1.0560% to current refund
the outstanding balance of Series 2003B. This will result in a net cash savings of $123,441 which translates to a net
present value savings of $§120,761.

In July, 2012 the City issued Seties 2012A in General Obligation bonds for a total of $15,720,000. The Bonds were
issued to provide financing for certain public improvement projects and refund certain outstanding obligations. The Bond
issue also included money to deposit into debt service funds of the City's Sewerage System for purposes of paying certain
outstanding obligations on their scheduled payment dates.

Part of the above Series 2012A General Obligation bonds were issued at a st interest cost of 1.41% to current refund the
outstanding balance of Series 2002C. This resulted in a net present value savings of $368,441 which approximates cash
savings.

The following schedule illustrates the annual debt service requirements to maturity for general obligation bonds.

Year Ending Governmental Activities Business-type Activities

December 31 Principal Interest Principal Interest
2013 $ 10,434,094 $ 4988290 $ 4455906 $ 1,465,334
2014 11,558,357 4,552,545 3,671,643 1,174,938
2015 9,179,385 4,131,161 4,160,615 1,027,816
2016 9,624,204 3,731,127 4,265,796 859,350
2017 9,177,377 3,357,500 4,872,624 685,524
2018-2022 39,862,726 . 11,568,135 6,127,273 1,501,545
2023-2027 24,722,736 4,206,442 3,062,266 851,019
2028-2032 6,379,863 600,608 2,605,134 262,023
Total § 120938742 § 37135808 $ 33221257 $ 7,827,548
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
Far the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE 9- LONG-TERM DEBT - Continued
C. Special Service District Bonds Payable

"The City also issued debt in the Special Service District No. 5 fund to provide funds for the principal and interest
payments on unlimited ad valorem tax boads issucd for this special taxing district.

Special Service District bond is included within the total of General Cbligation Bonds. Annual debt service
requirements to maturity for special service district bonds are as follows!

For the Fiscal Governmental Activities

Year ending Principal Interest
2013 $ 340,000 $ 78,816
2014 380,000 57,740
2015 390,000 35,175
2016 405,000 11,873
Total $ 1,515,000 $ 183,604

D. Revenue Bonds Payable

The City also issued revenue bonds where the City pledges income derived from the acquired or constricted assets to
pay debt service. The bonds were issued to finance construction projects related to the water treatment plant.

Revenue bond debt service requirements 1o maturity are as follows:

For the Fiscal Business-type Activities

Year ending Principal Tnterest

2013 3 290,000 $ 19,688

2014 305,000 6,672
Total $ 595,000 3 26,360
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE 9- LONG-TERM DERT - Continued
E. Notes Payable -IEPA Loans

Duriug the ten months ended December 31, 2012, the City currently has 26 outstanding loans from the IEPA. The City
will repay the loans solely fiom revenues derived from the sewer and water system; the loans do not constitute a full
faith and credit obligation of the City. They will be repaid with equal installments consisting of principal plus simple
interest, on unpaid principal balances, over a period of 20 years. Initial principal balances will consist of
disbursements and interest accrued during construction. Repayments begin not later than six months after completion

Notes payable —IEPA debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:

For the Fiscal Business-type Activities
Year ending Principal Interest
2013 $ 8264766 $ 1,777,092
2014 7,814,770 1,555,528
2015 7,557,928 1,341,861
2016 7,036,186 1,144,637
2017 6,416,256 961,645
2018-2022 22,600,086 2,670,473
2023-2027 10,266,551 597,828
2028-2030 418,825 2,704
Total $ 70,375,368 § 10,051,768

E. Short term Loan with First Bank & Trust, Evanston

During the year, the city sct up a short term loan/line of credit with First Bank and Trust, Evanston in the amount of
$2,200,000. The loan term is three years with a maturity date of August 27, 2015. As of December 31, 2012, the cily
had drawn $648,812 for two projects funded out of TIF funds, The interest rate will be calculated based on 1.00
percentage point over ope month "LIBOR” rate index.
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31,2012

NOTE 9- LONG-TERM DEBT - Continued
G. Post Employment Benefits other than Pensions (Defined Benefit Plan)

The City of Evanston's group health insurance plan provides coverage to active employees and retirees (or other
qualified terminated employecs) at blended premium rates. This results in an other post employment benefit (OPEB)
for the retirees, commonly referred to as an implicit rate subsidy. The group health insurance plan does not issue a
publicly available financial report.

- Contribution requirements are-established-through Tilinois State laws. The City of Evanston-implicitly ‘contributes the """ -

difference between refiree’s contributions and unblended rates. Retirees pay 100% of the blended premiums to caver
theraselves and theit covered dependents ranging from $507 for single coverage to $1,953 for family caverage. The city
pays 100% of heaith care preminms for Police officers and Firefighters, their dependents and their surviving spouses
and dependent children if they were injured or killed in the line of duty during an emergency, ranging from $507 for
single caverage to $1,953 for family coverage. For the year ended December 31, 2012, the City's estimated contribution
to the plan is $872,397. The City of Bvanston's annual other post employment benefit (OPEB) cost (expense) is
calculated based on the annual required contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in
accordance with parameters of GASB Statement No.45. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an
opgoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial Habilities (or funding
excess) over 2 period not to exceed thirty years.

The following table shows the components of the City of Evanston’s annual OPEB cost for the the year ended
December 31, 2012, the estimated contributions to the plan and changes in the City's et OPEB obligation to the retiree
health plan.

Annual required confribution $ 1,117,260
Tnterest on net OPEB obligation 75,003
Adjustment to annual required contribution (63,648)
Annual OPEB cost 1,128,615
Contributions made (872,397)
Tncrease in net OPEB obligation 256,218
Net OPEB obligation - Beginning 1,666,732
Net OPEB obligation - Ending $ 1,922,950

The City of Evanston's annual OPEB cost, the percentage of anuual OPEB cost contributed to the plan and the net
OPEB obligation for 2012 and the two years prior were as follows.

Percentage of
Fiscal Period  Annual OPEB Annual OPEB Net OPEB
Eoded Cost Cost Contributed Liability
2/28/2011 1,055,264 62.37% 1,531,042
12/31/2011 939,742 85.56% 1,666,732
12/31/2012 1,128,615 71.30% 1,922,950
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE 9- LONG-TERM DEBT - Continued
G. Post Employment Benefits other than Pensions (Defined Benefit Plan) - Continued

The funded status of the plan based on the projected valuation results as of December 31st, 2012, was as follows:

Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) $ 17,294,689
Actuarial value of plan assets -
~Unfunded-Aotuarial Aecrued Liability (WAAL) - -- - 817,294,689

Funded ratio (actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) -
Covered payroll (active plan members) 49,784,920
UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll 34.74%

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates for the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the
probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about futore employment,
mortality and the health care trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and annual required
contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual resulés are compared with past expectations
and pew estimates are made about the future, The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary
information following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend information that shows whether the
actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for
benefits.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan is understood by the
employer and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical
pattern of sharing benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and
assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and
the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of calculations.

In the actuarial valuation as of January 1 2012, the entry age normal cost method was used. The actuarial assumptions
include a 7.00 percent investment rate of refum and an anpual healthcare cost trend date of 8.50 percent initially,
reduced by decrements to an ultimate rate of 4.50 percent in the year 2020. Both rates include a 3 percent price
inflation assumption. The actuarial value of retiree health plan assets was dstermined using techniques that spread the-
effects of short ferm volatility in the market value of investments over a three year period. Retiree health plan's
unfunded actwarial acerued liability is being amortized as a level percentage of projected payroll on an open basis. The
amortization period at Decetmber 31, 2012, was 30 years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE 10. FUND EQUITY

A. Restrictions of Net Position - Water Fund

The ordinances authorizing the issuance of ihe Water revenue bonds provided for the creation of separate
reserve accounts designated as “Bond and Interest Account”, “Bond Reserve Account”, “Depreciation,

Tmprovement, and Extension Account”, and “Surplus Revenue Account™. Descriptions of each follow:

Bond and Interest Account - All amounts requ

maturity date.

Bond Reserve Account - The account shall accumulate $145,800 per year until all bonds have been paid or
provision has been made for their payment. The funds shall be retained and used only for payment of Water
Revenue bonds at any time when there are insufficient funds available in the Bond and Interest Account,
Whenever the balance in the account is equal to the maximum principal and interest requirements on all
outstanding bonds for any succeeding fiscal year, the surplus over and above may, in the discretion of the

City Council, be transferred to any other account within the Water Fund of the City.

Depreciation, Improvement, and Extension Account - The account shall accumulate $5,100 per month or a
greater amount as may be designated by the City Council. The monies shall be used first to provide an
adequate allowance for depreciation, and may be used to pay for any extraordinary maintenance, repairs,
and pecessary replacements for improvement or extension of the system. The funds may be used at any time
to pay principal of, or interest upon, any outstanding bonds payable whenever there are no other funds
available. If the money on deposit is greater than $400,000, the excess can be transferred to any other
account within the Water Fund. All proceeds received from the disposition of any property shall be credited

to this account.

Surplus Revenue Account - All revenues remaining after all other credits in the Water Fund have been

shall be credited to this account and be used for: making up any deficiency necessary to credit prior accounts
with the required amounts; paying principal of, or interest on, any junior lien bonds; transfer to any other

account of the fund; and any lawful corporate purpose, at the discretion of the City Council.

B.. Restricted Net Position - Fiduciary Funds

Fiduciary Funds } :
Firefighters' Pension Fund Restriction for employee pension benefits $ 58,463,916
Police Pension Fund Restriction for employee pension benefits 80,589,961
Total Fiduciary Funds $ 139.053.877
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE 10. FUND EQUITY - Continued
C. Assigned Fund Balances

The following are the assigned find balances:

General Fund
Assigned for Arts Council $ 24,797
... Assigned for private ebm trees . .. .. ..134483
Assigned for Dutch elm inoculation 357,216
Assigned for Butterfield sculpture 30,883
Assigned for scholarship contributions 25,953
Assigned for Noyes Center 337,086
Assigned for recreation group activities 207,123
Assigned for parkway trees 222,725
Assigned for youth initiative 42,151
Assigned for parks and recreation 270,298
Assigned for Chiaravelle escrow 207,402
Assigned for Mayor’'s programs 87,279
Assigned for IMRF - Pension 2,331,333
Assigned for Compensated Absences 2,319,027
Other assignments 250,227
$ 6,847,983
Capital Improvement Fund
Assigned for capital projects $ 3,401,911
Non-major Governmental Funds
Assigned for special assessment capital project $ 1,905,315
Total Assigned Fund Balances $ 12,155,209 -




CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE 11. INDIVIDUAL FUND ACTIVITIES
A. General Obligation Debt Sexvice Fund
The City usually adopts several resolutions abating portions of the property tax debt service levies. The amount of

property taxes abated is derived from principal and interest payments by private assessments on street paving
projects; additional sewer service fees related to the citywide sewer improvement project; tax increment revenues in

the Southwest, Washington National, and Howard Hartrey Tax Increment Districts; revenues from the Motor Vehicle

Parking System Fund associated with the Maple Garage, Sherman Garage and Church Street Self-Park garage; and
General Obligation Debt Service Fund interest income.

B. Water Fund

On January 28, 1997, the City executed a long-term water supply contract with the Village of Skokie, Illinois, to
replace an expiring contract. The contract took effect on March 1, 1997 and continues in effect for a period of
twenty years until February 28, 2017. The contract is renewable at tep-year intervals thereafter. Under the terms of
the contract, Evanston is to supply Skokie sufficient potable Lake Michigan water to satisfy the maximum 24-hour
demand for Lake Michigan water of the Village of Skokie system.

The City also provides potable Lake Michigan water to the Northwest Water Commission (NWWC) under a long-
torm water supply contract. Sale of potable' water under this contract began on February 28, 1985 and continues until
February 28, 2030. Under the terms of the current contract, Evanston is to supply the NWWC sufficient potable
Lake Michigan water to satisfy the Commission’s maximum 24-hour demands for Lake Michigan water for resale to
the Commission’s customers.

C. Special Service District No. 4

On August 13, 2007, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 37-R-07 which extended the life of Special Service
District No. 4 until December 31, 2019. Special Service District No. 4 comprises the central business district of the
City. The special district was established for the purpose of providing funds for special maintenance and repair and
for promotion and advertisement. The annual property tax levy for 2012 was $416,327 which includes a loss & cost
amount of $8,327.

The ordinance also authorized the City to enter into an agreement with DOWNTOWN EVANSTON, an Itlinois not-
for-profit corporation to plan, implement, and manage the district.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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NOTE 12. RISK MANAGEMENT - CLAIMS AND JUDGMENTS

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and

omissions; natural disasters; and injuries to the City's employees. The City maintains commeroial all-risk property

insurance to cover damage to City facilities and contents and other losses including business interruption and loss of

rents. The coverage is subject to a deductible of $50,000 (except $100,000 for flood and earthquake) for each loss

. and each location. The City also maintains crime and fidelity insurance coverage with a $25,000 deductible to a limit
- 0f$2,000,000. In addition, coverage is maintained for ambulance/paramedic liability,

For workers' compensation, specific excess coverage in excess of $600,000 per occurrence is purchased from a
commercial insurance company. For general liability claims, the City retains risk of loss of 1,250,000 to a limit of
$20,000,000.

Workers' compensation and general liability risks are accounted for in the Insurance Fund. The fund was established
on March 1, 1994 to administer genmeral liability claims and workers' compensation programs on a cost-
reimbursement basis. The fund accounts for the aforementioned liabilities of the City, but does not constitute a
transfer of risk from the City.

The City records estimated liabilities for workers' compensation and for general claims. Claims liabilities are based
on estimates of the ultimate cost of reported claims including future claim adjustment expenses.

The changes in the balances of claims liabilities during the past two fiscal periods are as follows:

Workers’ General
Compensation Liability Total
February 28,2011 $ 3,701,478 $ 1,753,725 5,455,203
New claims and/or estimate revisions 225,374 2,694,999 2,920,373
Claims payments (705.471) (214.,559) (920,030)
December 31, 2011 3,221,381 4,234,165 7,455,546
New claims and/or estimate revisions 712,299 1,091,656 1,803,955
Claims payments (976.413) (1,022,321) (1,998.734)
December 31, 2012 $  2957.267 4.303.5 $  7.260.767
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Notes to the Financial Statements
TFor the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE 13. CONTINGENCIES

There are various claims and legal actions pending against the City for which provision has been made in the
financial statements. At the present time, the City believes that the reserves established are sufficient so that the
expected liability for these claims and legal actions will not materially exceed the amounts recorded in the financial
statements. Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by grantor
agencies, principally the federal govemnment. Any disallowed claims, including amounts already collected, may

 constitute a liability of the applicable funds. The amount, if any, of the expenditures which may be disallowed by the

grantor cannot be determined at this time although the City expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.
NOTE 14, JOINT VENTURES
A. Solid Waste Agency of Northern Cook County

On March 28, 1988, the Evanston City Council authorized agreements providing for the City's participation in the
Solid Waste Agency of Northern Cook County {(Agency) and in the interim financing of that Agency. The Agency
was planned and developed by the Northwest Municipal Conference, of which the City is a member. The agency is
empowered to plan, finance, construct, and operate a solid waste disposal system.

The Agency is a municipal joint action agency created as of May 2, 1988 under the provisions of the
Tntergovernmental Cooperation Act, 5 LCS 220/3.2. The Agency consists of twenty-three municipalities. The
Agency is governed by a Board of Directors consisting of one official selected by each member community who
serves a two-year term. Each director has one vote. The Board of Directors determines the general policies of the
Agency. The Executive Committee of the Agency consists of seven persons elected by the Board of Directors. Each
person is entitled to one vote. The Executive Committee may take action not specifically reserved to the Board of
Directors by the Act, the Agency agreement, or the bylaws.

The authority to designate management, influence operations, and formulate budgets rests with the Board of

Directors and Executive Committee. No one member has the ability to significantly influence operations; therefore,
the Agency is not a component unit of any other governmental reporting entity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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NOTE 14. JOINT VENTURES — Continued

A, Solid Waste Agency of Northern Cook County - Continued

Under the 1992 project use agreement executed by the City with the Agency, the City’s share of projecf costs,
including debt service and disposal, is based on its share of deliveries to the Wheeling Transfer station for each year.
The City does not control the Agency's fiscal management or operations nor is the City legally responsible for any

more than ifs share of the Agency’s debt or operating deficits, if any,

Summary of Financial Position as of April 30, 2012:

Current assets $ 6,365,923
Properiy, plant, and equipment 10,753,169
Debt issuance costs, net and other assets 39,921
Total assets $ 17,159.013
Current liabilities : $ 4,517,395
Long-term debt, net of unamortized discount 3,641,584
Net Investment in capital assets 5,991,585
Restricted net position 2,939,109
Unrestricted net position 69.340
Total liabilities and fund equity 17.159.013

Summary of Revenues and Expenses for the Year Ended April 30, 2012:

Total revenues $ 15,745,722
Total expenses (14,930,848)
Net income $ 814.874

Complete financial statements for the agency can be obtained at 2700 Patriot Bivd., Glenview, TL, 60026.
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NOTE 14. JOINT VENTURES — Continued
B. Tvanston Housing Corporation
The City agreed to jointly participate with various lending institutions in a not-for-profit housing mortgage

corporation by approval of the City Council on May 22, 1989. The purpose of the corporation is to lend mortgage
funds to qualified, income eligible, first-time homebuyers in the City of Evanston.

“The Corporation is governed by a fioard of Directors of ten people, four of whom are selécted by the Cify. The =~

Board has the authority to approve the annual budget and to arrange for the management of the affairs of the
Corporation. The City has no governing authority to influence actions of the Corporation. The City is not Liable for
payment of any debts of the Corporation.

The City of Evanston has advanced $639,000 to the corporation under the notes due on or before November 30,
2034. The notes bear no interest. However, the City is entitled to a certain net sales consideration upon the sale or
exchange of the mortgaged property, as well as a prorated portion of the investment income earned on the funds not
loaned to mortgagees.

The financial institutions' funds are advanced under Non-Recourse Collateral Trust Notes. The notes are payable on
or before November 30, 2029. Interest accrues based on interest earned from the mortgage notes receivable and
investments, less expenses. Interest is paid semiannually to the holders on a pro-rata basis based on the amount of
each note held to the total outstanding notes.

The audited financial statements of Evanston Housing Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2011 are
summarized as follows:

Statement of Financial Position as of December 31, 2011:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 889,043
Mortgage loans receivable 2,289,700

Total assets 3.178.743
Payables and accrued expenses 114,743
Notes payable 3.064.000

Total liabilities 3,178,743
Net Position s -

(Note: December 31, 2011 is the most current information available.)
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NOTE 14. JOINT VENTURES - Continued
B. Evanston Housing Corporation - Continued

Statement of Activities for the Year Ended December 31, 2011:

Total revenues $ 119,076
., Total operating expenses o (119076)
" Excess of revemues over expenses $ - o

(Note: December 31, 2011 is the most current information available.)

The City provides the Corporation with office space and staff support on a cost reimbursement basis. Complete
financial statements for the Corporation can be obtained in the City's Community Development Department from the
Assistant Director, Housing Rehabilitation and Property Standards. :

NOTE 15. DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

The City of Bvanston offers its elected officials and employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance
with Internal Revenue Code Section 457. The plan is administered by the ICMA. Retirement Corporation. The plan,
available to all City employees, permits them to defer a pottion of their current salary to all future years. The
deferred compensation is not available to the participants until termination, retirement, death, or an unforeseeable
emergency occurs.

The assets of the plan are held in Trust (ICMA Retirement Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan and Trust),
with the City serving as trustee, for the exclusive benefit of the plan participants and their beneficiaries. The assets
cannot be diverted to any other purpose. The City's beneficial ownership of plan assets held in the ICMA Retirement
Trust is held for the further exclusive benefit of the plan participants and their beneficiaries.

The City and its agent have no liability for losses under the plan, but do have the duty of care that would be required
of an ordinary prudent investor.

Plan balance at December 31, 2012 $ 40,400,849
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NOTE 16. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS

The City maintains two separate single-employer retirement plans established by state statute for the City’s police
officers and firefighters. The City also participates in the Tllinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF), 2 statewide
multiple-employer public employee retirement system which acts as investment and administrative agent. The IMRF
plan covers substantially all of the City’s employees other than police officers and firefighters.

The City created a special revenue fund, the Employer Pension Contribution Fund, to accommodate the Police and
- Fire 'pé'ﬁﬁi'oﬁ"ééébﬁﬁtiﬁg"féﬁﬁi'fe’ﬁiéﬁt’s":' “Thifs fuiid Fecognizes the 'app't(')lifizite tax Féveniés foi the City on behalf of
the Pension Trust Funds and contributes those amounts into the Pension Trust Funds as the employer contribution.

The Employer Pension Contribution Fund is a special revenue fund end uses the modified acctual basis of
accounting. The tax revenues are recognized when measurable and available. The expenditures are recorded when
the liability is incurred.

IMiinois Municipal Retirement Fund
A, Plan Description

The City and Township’s defined benefit pension plan, IMRF, provides retirement, disability, annual cost of living
adjustments, and death beefits to plan members and beneficiaries. IMREF is an agent multiple employer pension
plan that acts as a common investment and administrative agent for local governments and school districts in Illinois.
The Tlkinois Pension Code establishes the benefit provisions of the plan that can only be amended by the Illinois
General Assembly. IMREF issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required
supplementary information. That report may be obtained by writing to the Tllinois Municipal Retirement Fund, 2211
York Road, Suite 500, Oak Brook, llinois 60523, or by accessing their website  at
www.imtf.org/pubs/pubs_homepage.htm.

Employees participating in IMRF are required to contribute 4.50% of their annual covered salary. The member rate
is established by state statute. The City and Township are required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate.
The City’s rate as of December 2012 was 10.30% of payroll. The employer contribution requirements are
established and may be amended by the IMRF Board of Trustees.

In 2010, the Tllinois Legislature passed Senate Bill 1946. The Bill modifies benefits for most Illinois public pension
systems, including IMRF's regular plans. The provisions of the bill became effective January 1, 2011, The bill
created a second tier for the employees starting on or aiter January 1,2011. As a part of this bill, the vesting time for
the second tier employees has been increased from eight to ten years. The bill also increased the age to receive full
retirement benefits to 67 and reduced retirement benefit to age 62 from the current age of 60 and 55 respectively for
each type of benefit. The final rate of eamings used to calculate a pension is also capped at $106,800 as a part of
pension reforms.
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NOTE 16. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS - Continned
1llinois Municipal Retirement Fund - Continued
B. Funding Status and Progress

The City’s gross total payroll for the fical year ended December 31, 2012 was $62,839,052. Of this amount,
$33,025,074 in payroll earnings were reported to and covered by the IMRF system. The Township’s total payroll for
the year ended December 31, 2011 was $358,316 which were reported to and covered by the IMRF plan.

As of December 31, 2012, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the City's Regular plan was 77.67% funded. The
City's actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $89,116,813 and the actuarial value of assets was $69,218,573
resulting in an underfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) of $19,898,240. The covered payroll for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2012 (annual payroll of active employees covered by the plan) was $33,025,074 and the
ratio of the UAAL to the covered payroll was 60%.

As of December 31, 2011, the most recent valuation date, the Township's Regular plan was fully fanded. The
Township's actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $279,973 and the actuarial value of assets was $291,690
resulting in an overfunding of $11,717. The covered payroll for calendar year 2011 (annual payroll of active
employees covered by the plan) was $358,316.

The schedule of funding progress for the postemployment defined benefit plan immediately following the notes to
the financial statements presents multi-year trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is
increasing or decreasing relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits over time.

C. Annual Pension Cost

For December 31, 2012, the employer's actual contributions for pension cost were $3,401,583. Actual required
contributions for calendar year 2012 was $3,863,934. The required contribution was determined as part of the
December 31, 2009 actuarial valuation using the entry age actuarial cost method. The actuarial assumptions
included () 7.5% investment rate of return (net of administrative expenses), (b) projected salary increases of 4% a
year, atiributable to inflation, (c) additional projected salary increases ranging from 0.4% to 10% per year,
depending on age and service, atfributable to seniority/merit, and (d) post-retirement benefit increases of 3%
annually. The actuarial value of IMRF assets was determined using techniques that smooth the effects of short-
term volatility in the matket value of investments over a five-year period with a 20% corridor.

Three-Year Trend Information for IMRF - City

Actuarial Percentage

Valuation Annual Pension of APC Net Pension
Date Cost (APC) Contributed Obligation

12/31/12 $ 3,863,934 88% $ 3,710,342

12/31/11 - 4,811,504 63% 3,247,991

12/31/10 4,914,570 70% 1,456,988
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NOTE 16. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS — Continued
1Mlinois Municipal Retirement Fund - Continued
C. Aunnual Pension Cost - Continued

The City’s annual pension cost and net pension obligation for IMRF pension plan as of December 31, 2012 are as
ROTIOWSS . o eee oo e e e

O IMRF
Annual required contribution $ 3,863,934
Interest on et pension obligation -
Adjustment to annual required contribution -
Annual pensjon cost 3,863,934
Contributions made (3,401,583)
Tncrease (decrease) in net pension obligation 462,351
Net pension obligation at January 1,2012 3,247,991
Net pension obligation at December 31, 2012 $ 3,710,342
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NOTE 16. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS — Continued
Ilinois Municipal Retirement Fund - Continued

C. Annual Pepsion Cost - Continucd

For December 31, 2011, the Township®s annual pension cost of $25,655 was equal to the Township’s required and

actual contributions. The required contribution was determined as part of the December 31, 2009 actuarial valuation

using the entry age actuarial cost method. "Tie actuarial assumptions included (a) 7.5% investment rate of return (net
of administrative expenses), (b) projected salary increases of 4% a year, atiributable to inflation, (c) additional
projected salary increases ranging from 0.4% to 10% per year depending on age and service, attributable to
seniority/merit, and (d) post-retirement benefit increases of 3% annually. The actuarial value of IMRF assets was
determined using techniques that spread the effects of short-term volatility in the market value of investments over a
five-year period with a 20% corridor.

Three-Year Trend Information for IMRF - Township

Actuarial Percentage

Valuation Annual Pension of APC Net Pension .
Date Cost (APC) Contributed Obligation

12/31/11 $ 25,655 100% 3 -

12/31710 23,203 100% -

12/31/09 12,053 100% -

Police and Firefighters' Pension Plans
D. Plan Descriptions

The Police Pension Plan and Firefighters' Pension Plan are contributory, defined benefit public employee retirement
plans administered by the City and a Board of Trustees for each Fund. All sworn City police officers and firefighters
are participants in the plans. The plans do not issue stand-alone financial reports and they are not included in the
report of a public employee retirement system or another entity. The City's payroll for police and firefighter

employees covered by the plans for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 was $14,018,048 and $8,543,980 °

respectively.

The schedule of funding progress for the postemployment defined benefit plan immediately following the notes to
the financial statements presents multi-year trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is
increasing or decreasing relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits over time.
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NOTE 16. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSTON PLANS - Continued
Police and Firefighters' Pension Plans - Continued
D. Plan Descriptions - Continued

Participation in the plans at December 31, 2012 was:

...... Police . . .. [Firefighters' |
Retirees, disabled participants, and beneficiaries of 168 142
deceased retirees currently receiving benefits
Active plan members 163 106

Total 331 248

Any police officer or firefighter who has creditable service of 20 years or more, has reached age 50, and is no longer
in the service, is entitled to a yearly pension equal to 50% of the salary attached to the rank held on the last day of
service or for one year prior to the last day, whichever is greater, in the case of a police officer, and at the date of
retirement in the case of a firefighter. The police officer pension is increased by 2.5% of such salary for each
additional year of service over 20 years fo 2 maximum limit of 75% of such salary. The firefighter pension is
increased by 1/12 of 2.5% of such monthly salary for each additional month over 20 years of service through 30
years of service to a maximum of 75% of such monthly salary.

Police Firefighters'

Pension Fund Pension Fund
Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return 7.00% 7.00%
Projected salary increases 4.00% 4.00%
Attributable to inflation 2.50% 2.50%
Cost of Living Increases 3.00% 3.00%
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NOTE 16. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS - Continued
Police and Firefighters' Pension Plans - Continued
D. Plan Descriptions — Continued

A police officer or firefighter who retires or is separated from service after accumulating at least eight years for a
. police officer and ten years for a firefighter, but less than 20 years of creditable service, will receive a monthly
pension after attaining the age of 60 based on the salary attached to the rank held on the last day of service or for one
year prior to the last day, whichever is greater, in the case of a police officer and at the date of retirement or
separation in the case of a firefighter. The amount of the benefit is a tabular percentage of such salary ranging from
15% for 10 years of service to 50% for 20 years of service. These benefit provisions and all other requirements are
established by state statute,

In 2010, the Iflinois Legislature passed Senate Bill 1946. This bill modifics benefits for most Illinois public pension
systems, including Police and Fire Pension plans, The provisions of the bill became effective January 1, 2011, The
bill created a second tier for the employees starting on or after January 1, 2011. As a part of the bill, the vesting time
for the second tier police employees has been increased from eight to ten years. The bill also increased the retirement
age from 50 to 55. Accordingly, a police officer or firefighter from the second tier who retires or is separated from
service after accumulating at least ten years for a police officer or a firefighter, but less than 20 years of creditable
service, will receive a monthly pension after attaining the age of 60 based on the salary attached to the rank held on
the last day of service or for one year prior to the last day, whichever is greater, in the case of a police officer and at
the date of retirement or separation in the case of a firefighter. The amount of the benefit is a tabular percentage of
such salary ranging from 15% for 10 years of service to 50% for 20 years of service. These benefit provisions and
all other requirements are established by state statute.

E. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting

The Police and Firefighters' Pension Fund financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.
Plan member confributions are recognized when due. Employer contributions to each plan are recognized when due,
pursuant to formal commitment as well as statutory or contractual requirements. Benefits and refunds are recognized

when due and payable in accordance with the terms of each plan. Administrative cost for Police and Firefighters are
financed by investment income.

Method Used to Value Investments
Investments are reported at fair value. Short-term investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair value,

Securities traded on a national or international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at current
exchange rates, Investments that do not have an established market are reported at estimated fair value.
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NOTE 16. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS - Continued
Police and Firefighters' Pension Plans — Continued
F. Contributions and Reserves

Employee contribution rates are established by statute at 9.91% of a police officer’s salary and 9.46% of a
firefighter’s salary. Accumulated employee contributions for tier one employees arc refunded if an employee leaves

covered employment or dies before 8 yeats of credited seivice in the cdse of police officers and 107yéais in the case |

of firefighters. But, in case of tier two employees who have started participating in the pension plans on or after
January 1, 2011, contributions will be refunded if an employees leaves covered employment or dies before 10 years
of credited service.

For employer coniributions, the City’s budget policy is to fund pension plans at the funding leve] recommended
annually by the actuary. The General Fund is used to liquidate the net pension obligation.

The City’s anmal pension cost and net pension obligation to the Police and Firefighters' pension funds were obtained
from the finds' most recent actuarial valuations as of December 31, 2012 are as follows:

Police Firefighters'
Annual required contribution $ 7,576,919 $ 5,729,977
Interest on net pension obligation 940,323 602,314
Adjustment to annual required contribution (906,919) (580,917)
Annual pension cost 7,610,323 5,751,374
Confributions made (8,653,717) (6,429,927)
Inctease (decrease) in net pension obligation (1,043,394) (678,553)
Net pension obligation at January 1, 2012 13,433,187 8,604,479
Net pension obligation at December 31, 2012 $ 12,389,793 $ 7,925,926

The difference between the total amount funded and the amount to be funded, as actuarially determined, is recorded
as the net pension obligation in the general long-term debt schedule. The total pension Hability calculated as the net
pension liability dates forwatd from fiscal year 1987-88.
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Kinancial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE 16. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS - Continued

Police and Firefighters' Pension Plans — Continued

G. Concentration of Investments

The Police Pension Trust Fund had no significant investments (other than U. S Government and U.S. Government-

. guaranteed obligations) in any one organization that represented 5% or more of net position available for benefits.
The only exception to the aforementioned is investments in FNMA (10%).

The Firefighters' Pension Trust Fund had no significant investments (other than U.S. Government and U.S.
Government-guaranteed obligations) in any one organization that represented 5% or more of net position available
for benefits. The only exception to the aforementioned is investments in GNMA (8%).

H. Five-Year Trend Information — Pension Trust Funds
Fiscal Annual Pension Percentage of Net Pension
Period Ended Cost (APC) APC Contributed Obligation
Police 12/31/12 $ 7,610,323 113.71%  $ 12,389,793
12/31/11 (10 months) 6,283,638 85.40% 13,433,187
2/28/11 8,933,767 91.65% 12,515,848
2/28/10 7,914,901 104.71% 10,836,432 !
2/28/09 7,233,096 115.50% 10,495,325 ]
Firefighters' 12/31/12 5,751,374 111.80% 7,925,926
12/31/11 (10 months) 4,506,075 96.92% 8,604,479
2/28/11 7,216,303 92.18% 8,465,557
2/28/10 6,441,073 102.37% 7,186,892 |
2/28/09 5,928,290 115.77% 6,814,595 ,
2/29/08 5,575,720 98.27% 7,341,644 Il
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE 16. DEFINED BENEXIT PENSION PLANS - Continued

Police and Firefighters' Pension Plans — Continued

L Pensions - Detailed Statement of Net Position

- Assets ~

Cash and short-term investiments
Receivables

Accrued interest

Due from city funds

Total Receivables

TInvestments, at fair value

1U.S. Government and agency obligations

Corporate Bonds

Common Stock
Mutual funds

Total Investments
Total Assets

Liabilities
Vouchers payable

Net position held in trust fot pension benefits

97-

Firefighters' Police Total

Pension Pension Pension
$ 3,246,623 $ 2921578 $ 6,168,201
95,892 362,166 458,058
823,317 1,106,613 1,929,935
919,209 1,468,784 2,387,993
12,633,216 28,376,176 41,009,392
2,804,090 13,530,347 16,334,437
10,126,942 14,192,820 24,319,762
28,743,289 20,108,000 48,851,289
54,307,537 76,207,343 130,514,880
58,473,369 80,597,705 139,071,074
9,453 7,744 17,197
$ 58,463,916 $ 380,589,961 $ 139,053,877




CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE 16. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS - Continued

Police and Firefighters' Penston Plans — Continued

AN Pensions - Detailed Statement of Changes in Net Position
Firefighters' Police Total
Pension Pension Pension
Additions - oo o . T
Contributions
. Employer $ 6,429,927 $ 8,653,717 $ 15,083,644
Plan members 884,170 1,654,851 2,539,021
Other-Donations, Legal Sett., Surplus Sales 184 125 309
Total Contributions 7,314,281 10,308,693 17,622,974
Investient income
Net appreciation in
fair value of investments 2,872,739 4,083,715 6,956,454
Interest 865,981 2,839,127 3,705,108
Total investment income 3,738,720 6,922,842 10,661,562
Less investment expense 206,002 222,604 428,606
Net investment income 3,532,718 6,700,238 10,232,956
Total Additions 10,846,999 17,008,931 27,855,930
Deductions
Benefits 7,190,255 8,843,553 16,033,808
Refunds of contributions 65 116,538 116,603
Administrative expense 36,384 55,143 141,527
Total Deductions 7,276,704 9,015,234 16,291,938
Net increase 3,570,295 7,993,697 11,563,992
Net position held in trust for pension benefits
Beginning 54,893,621 72,596,264 127,489,885
Ending § 58,463,916 $ 80,589,961 $ 139,053,877




CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2012

NOTE 16. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS - Continued
Police and Firefighters' Pension Plans — Continued

K. Pensions - Actuarial Valuations

The information presented in the Notes to the Financial Statements was determined as part of the actuarial valu

at the dates specified. Additional information as of the latest actuarial valuation follows:

Firefighters'
Pension
Fund
Valuation date January 1, 2012
Actuarial cost method Entry-Age Normal

Amortization method Level percent Closed

Remaining amortization period 21 Years , 6 months

Actuarial valuation method

L. Funding Status and Progress

As of January 1, 2012, the City's Police Pension plan was 45.61% funded. The City's actuarial accrued liability for
benefits was $158,457,577 and the actuarial value of assets was $72,266,706 resulting in an underfunded actuarial
accrued lability (UAAL) of $86,190,871. The covered payroll for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2012 (annual
payroli of active employees covered by the Police Pension Plan) was $14,018,048 and the ratio of t

covered payroll was 614.85%.

As of January 1, 2012, the City's Fire Pension plan was 45.26% funded. The City's actuarial accrued liability for
benefits was $121,693,417 and the actuarial value of assets was $55,082,975 resulting in an underfunded actuarial
accrued liability (UAAL) of $66,610,442, The covered payroll for the fiscal year en
payroll of active employees covered by the Fire Pension Plan) was $8,543,980 an

covered payroll was 779.61%.
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111 West Monroe Street
Chicago, lllincis 60603
312.845.3000
312.701.2361
www.chapman.com

PROYOSED FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL
[LETTERHEAD OF CHAPMAN AND CUTLER LLf]

[TO BE DATED CLOSING DATE]

. -We hereby certify -that -we -have examined certified -copy of the proceedings- (the:
“Proceedings”) of the City Council of the City of Evanston, Cook County, Winois (the “City”)
passed preliminary to the issue by the City of its fully registered General Obligation Refunding
Bonds, Series 2013B (the “Bonds™), to the amount of $28,875,000, dated the date hereof,
denomination $5,000 or authorized integral multiple thereof, due and payable serially on
December 1 of the years and in the amounts and bearing interest at the rates percent per annum as
follows:

YEAR AMOUNT (8) RATE (%)

2014 2,490,000 2.00
2015 3,920,000 2.00
2016 3,920,000 2.00
2017 4,000,000 3.00
2018 3,660,000 3.00
2019 1,705,000 3.00
2020 1,765,000 3.00
2021 1,815,000 3.00
2022 1,865,000 3.00
2023 1,920,000 3.00
2024 895,000 3.00
2025 920,000 3.00

Each of the Bonds bears interest from the later of its dated date as stated above ot from
the most recent interest payment date to which interest has been paid or duly provided for, until
the principal amount of each such Bond, respectively, is paid or duly provided for, such interest
(computed upon the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months) being payable on June 1
and December 1 of each year, commencing on June 1,2014.

Those of the Bonds due on or after December 1, 2023, are subject to redemption prior to
imaturity at the option of the City as a whole or in part in any order of their maturity as
determined by the City (less than all of the Bonds of a single maturity to be selected by lot), on
December 1, 2022, or on any date thereafter, at the redemption price of par plus accrued interest
to the redemption date, as provided in the Proceedings.

3469726.01.03.B_LO 2013B.doc
2212462



The Bonds have been issued for the purpose of refunding certain outstanding obligation
of the City for savings and paying for costs of issuance associated with the Bonds.

Based upon such examination, we are of the opinion that the Proceedings show lawful
authority for the issuance of the Bonds under the laws of the State of Illinois now in force.

We further certify that we have examined the form prescribed for the Bonds and find the
same in due form of law, and in our opinion the Bonds, to the amount named, are valid and
legally binding upon the City, payable from any funds of the City legally available for the
. purpose, and all taxable property in the City is subject to the levy of taxes to pay the same
without limitation as to rate or amount, except that the rights of the owners of thé Bonds and the
enforceability of the Bonds may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium,
reorganization and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights and by equitable principles,
whether considered at law or in equity, including the exercise of judicial discretion.

It is our opinion that, subject to the City’s compliance with certain covenants, under
present law, interest on the Bonds is excludable from gross.income of the owners thereof for
federal income tax purposes and is not included as an item of tax preference in computing the
alternative minimum tax for individuals and corporations under the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, but is taken into account in computing an adjustment used in determining the
federal alternative minimum tax for certain corporations. Failure to comply with certain of such
City covenants could cause interest on the Bonds to be includible in gross income for federal
income tax purposes retroactively to the date of issuance of the Bonds. Ownership of the Bonds
may result in other federal tax consequences to certain taxpayers, and we express no opinion
regarding any such collateral consequences arising with respect to the Bonds.

We express no opinion herein as to the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the
Official Statement relating to the Bonds.

In rendering this opinion, we have relied upon certifications of the City with respect to
certain matetial facts within the City’s knowledge. Our opinion represents our legal judgment
based upon our review of the law and the facts that we deem relevant to render such opinion and
is not a guarantee of a result. This opinion is given as of the date hereof and we assume no
obligation to revise or supplement this opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may
hereafter come to our attention or any changes in law that may hereafter occur.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING

FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROVIDING
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE INFORMATION
UNDER SECTION (b)(5) OF RULE 15¢2-12

This Continuing Disclosure Undertaking (the “Agreement”) is executed and delivered by
the City of Evanston, Cook County, Illinois (the “City”) in connection with the issuance of
$28.875,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2013B (the “Bonds™). The Bonds are
being issued pursuant to an Ordinance, as adopted by the City Council of the City on October 28,
2013 (as supplemented by the Bond Order executed in connection with the sale of the Bonds, the
“Ordinance”).

In consideration of the issuance of the Bonds by the City and the pufchase of such Bonds
by the beneficial owners thereof, the City covenants and agrees as follows:

1. PURPOSE OF THIS AGREEMENT. This Agreement is executed and delivered by the
City as of the date set forth below, for the benefit of the beneficial owners of the Bonds and in
order to assist the Participating Underwriters in complying with the requirements of the Rule (as
defined below). The City represents that it will be the only obligated person with respect to the
Bonds at the time the Bonds are delivered to the Participating Underwriters and that no other
person is expected to become so committed at any time after issuance of the Bonds.

2. DEFINITIONS. The terms set forth below shall have the following meanings in this
Agreement, unless the context clearly otherwise requires.

Annual Financial Information means the financial information and operating data
described in Exhibit I. '

Annual Financial Information Disclosure means the dissemination of disclosure
concerning Annual Financial Information and the dissemination of the Audited Financial
Statements as set forth in Section 4.

Audited Financial Statements means the audited financial statements of the City prepared
pursuant to the standards and as described in Exhibit L

Commission means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Dissemination Agent means any agent designated as such in writing by the City and
which has filed with the City a written acceptance of such designation, and such agent’s
successors and assigns. :

~ EMMA means the MSRB through its Electronic Municipal Market Access system for
municipal securities disclosure or through any other electronic format or system prescribed by
the MSRB for purposes of the Rule.

3469026.01.05.8_CDC 2013B.doc
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Exchange Act means the Securifies Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
MSRB means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.

Participating Underwriter means each broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer

acting as an underwriter in the primary offering of the Bonds.

Reportable Event means the occurrence of any of the Events with respect to the Bonds set
forth in Exhibit I1.

Reportable Events Disclosure means dissemination of a notice of a Reportable Event as
set forth in Section 5. : : :

Rule means Rule 15¢2-12 adopted by the Comtnission under the Exchange Act, as the
same may be amended from time to time.

State means the State of Illinois.
Undertaking means the obligations of the City pursuant to Sections 4and 5.

3. CUSIP NUMBER/FINAL OFFICIAL STATEMENT. The CUSIP Numbers of the Bonds
as set forxth in Exhibit II1. The Final Official Statement relating to the Bonds is dated October 30,
2013 (the “Final Official Statement”). The City will include the CUSIP Number in all
disclosure described in Sections 4 and 5 of this Agreement.

4. ANNUAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION DISCLOSURE. Subject to Section 8 of this
Agreement, the City hereby covenants that it will disseminate its Annual Financial Information
and its Audited Financial Statements (in the form and by the dates set forth in Exhibit I) to
EMMA in such manner and format and accompanied by identifying information as is prescribed
by the MSRB or the Commission at the time of delivery of such information and by such time so
that such entities receive the information by the dates specified. MSRB Rule G-32 requires all
EMMA filings to be in word-searchable PDF format. This requirement extends to all documents
to be filed with EMMA, including financial statements and other externally prepared reports.

If any part of the Annual Financial Information can no longer be generated because the
operations to which it is related have been materially changed or discontinued, the City will
disseminate a statement to such effect as part of its Annual Financial Information for the year in
which such event first occurs.

If any amendment or waiver is made to this Agreement, the Annual Financial Information
for the year in which such amendment or waiver is made (or in any notice or supplement

provided to EMMA) shall contain 2 narrative description of the reasons for such amendment or .

waiver and its impact on the type of information being provided.

5.  REPORTABLE EVENTS DISCLOSURE. Subject to Section 8 of this Agreement, the
City hereby covenants that it will disseminate in a timely manner (ot in excess of ten business
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days after the occurrence of the Reportable Event) Reportable Events Disclosure to EMMA in
such manner and format and accompanied by identifying information as is prescribed by the
MSRB or the Commission at the time of delivery of such information. MSRB Rule G-32
requires all EMMA filings to be in word-scarchable PDF format. This requirement extends to all
documents to be filed with EMMA, including financial statements and other externally prepared
reports. Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice of optional or unscheduled redemption of any
Bonds or defeasance of any Bonds need not be given under this Agreement any earlier than the
notice (if any) of such redemption or defeasance is given to the Bondholders pursuant to the
Ordinance.

6. CONSEQUENCES OF FAILURE OF THE CITY TO PROVIDE INFORMATION. The City

shall give notice in a timely manner to EMMA of any failure to provide Annual Financial -

Information Disclosure when the same is due hereunder.

In the event of a failure of the City to comply with any provision of this Agreement, the
beneficial owner of any Bond may seek mandamus or specific performance by court order, to
cause the City to comply with its obligations under this Agreement. The beneficial owners of
25% or more in principal amount of the Bonds outstanding may challenge the adequacy of the
information provided under this Agreement and seek specific performance by court order to
cause the City to provide the information as required by this Agreement. A default under this
Agreement shall not be deemed a default under the Ordinance, and the sole remedy under this
Agreement in the event of any failure of the City to comply with this Agreement shall be an
action to compel performance.

7. AMENDMENTS; WAIVER. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement,
the City by ordinance authorizing such amendment or waiver, may amend this Agreement, and
any provision of this Agreement may be waived, if:

(@ ()  The amendment or waiver is made in connection with a change in
circumstances that arises from a change in legal requirements, including without
limitation, pursuant to a “no-action” letter issued by the Commission, a change in law, or
a change in the identity, nature, or status of the City, or type of business conducted; or

(i)  This Agreement, as amended, or the provision, as waived, would
have complied with the requirements of the Rule at the time of the primary
offering, after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule,
as well as any change in circumstances; and

(b}  The amendment or waiver does not materially impair the interests of the
beneficial owners of the Bonds, as determined either by parties unaffiliated with the City
(such as the Bond Counsel).

In the event that the Commission or the MSRB or other regulatory authority shall
approve or require Annual Financial Information Disclosure or Reportable Events Disclosure to
be made to a central post office, governmental agency or similar entity other than EMMA or in




lieu of EMMA, the City shall, if required, make such dissemination to such central post office,
governmental agency ot similar entity without the necessity of amending this Agreement.

8. TERMINATION OF UNDERTAKING. The Undertaking of the City shall be terminated
hereunder if the City shall no longer have any legal liability for any obligation on or relating to
repayment of the Bonds under the Ordinance. The City shall give notice to EMMA in a timely
manner if this Section is applicable.

0. DISSEMINATION AGENT. The City may, from time to time, appoint or engage 2
Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Agreement, and may
discharge any such Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination
- Agent. - - : - - :

10, ADDITIONAL INFORMATION. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to
prevent the City from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set
forth in this Agreement or any other means of communication, or including any other
information in any Annual Financial Information Disclosure or notice of occurrence of a
Reportable Event, in addition to that which is required by this Agreement. 1f the City chooses to
include any information from any document or notice of occurrence of a Reportable Event in
addition to that which is specifically required by this Agreement, the City shall have no
obligation under this Agreement to update such information or include it in any future disclosure
or notice of occurrence of a Reportable Event. If the City is changed, the City shall disseminate
such information to EMMA.

11. BENEFICIARIES. This Agreement has been executed in order to assist the
Participating Underwriters in complying with the Rule; however, this Agreement shall inure
solely to the benefit of the City, the Dissemination Agent, if any, and the beneficial owners of
the Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.

12. RECORDKEEPING. The City shall maintain records of all Annual Financial
Information Disclosure and Repottable Events Disclosure, including the content of such
disclosure, the names of the entities with whom such disclosure was filed and the date of filing
such disclosure.

13. ASSIGNMENT. The City shall not transfer its obligations under the Ordinance
unless the transferee agrees to assume all obligations of the City under this Agreement or o
execute an Undertaking under the Rule.
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14.

Date: November-20, 2013

GOVERNING LAW. This Agreement shall be govemed by the laws of the State.

CITY OF EVANSTON
CooK COUNTY, ILLINOIS

By:

Its: Mayor
Address: 2100 Ridge Avenue
Evanston, Illinois 60201




ExXHIBITI

4ANNUALFHWUWHALINFORNUJIONA&H)TH%D«3A}H)AUDUED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

“gnnual Financial Information” means financial information and operating data of the
type contained in the Official Statement under the following captions:

1.  All of the tables under the heading FINANCES

2. All of the tables under the heading GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDED
~_ INDEBTEDNESS . .. . e : . e

3. All of the table under the heading REAL PROPERTY TAXATION

All or a portion of the Annual Financial Information and the Audited Financial
Statements as set forth below may be included by reference to other documents which have been
submitted to EMMA or filed with the Commission. If the information included by reference is
contained in a Final Official Statement, the Final Official Statement must be available on
EMMA,; the Final Official Statement need not be available from the Commission. The City shall
clearly identify each such item of information included by reference.

Annual Financial Information exclusive of Audited Financial Statements will be
submitted to EMMA by 210 days after the last day of the City’s fiscal year. Audited Financial
Statements as described below should be filed at the same time as the Annual Financial
Information. If Audited Financial Statements are not available when the Annual Financial

Tnformation is filed, unaudited financial statements shall be included.

Audited Financial Statements will be prepared according to Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles as applicable to governmental units (i.e., as subject to the pronouncements
of the Governmental Standards Accounting Board and subject to any express requirements of
State law). Audited Financial Statements will be submitted to EMMA. within 30 days after
availability to City.

If any change is made to the Annual Financial Information as permitted by Section 4 of
the Agreement, the City will disseminate a notice of such change as required by Section 4.

EXHIBIT 1
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ExrmBIT I

EVENTS WITH RESPECT TO THE BONDS
FOR WHICH REPORTABLE EVENTS DISCLOSURE IS REQUIRED

Principal and interest payment delinquencies

Non-payment related defaults, if material -

Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties

Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties

Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform

Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final

. determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other

10.
11.
12.
13.

14.

NOTE;

material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the security, or other
material events affecting the tax status of the security

Modifications to the rights of security holders, if material

Bond calls, if material, and tender offers

Defeasances

Release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the securities, if material
Rating changes

Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the City*

The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the City or the
sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the City, other than in the ordinary course of
business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the
termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to
its terms, if material

Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if
material

DO NOT DELETE ANY EVENT, EVEN IF IT IS INAPPLICABLE TO YOUR TRANSACTION.

This event is considered to occur when any of the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal
agent or similar officer for the Issuer in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other
proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction
over substantially all of the assets or business of the City, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by
leaving the existing goveming body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision
and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of
reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or
Jjurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the Issuer.

EXHIBIT IT




ExHBIT 11

CusIP NUMBERS
YEAR OF CusIp
MATURITY NUMBER
2014 299227 5M6
2015 299227 5N4
2016 299227 5P9
2017 299227 5Q7
2018 299227 5R5
2019 299227 583
2020 299227 5T1
2021 299227 5U8
2022 299227 5V6
2023 299227 5W4
2024 299227 5X2
2025 299227 5Y0

ExnmsIT M1
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“BAKER TILLY

Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP

1301 W 22nd St, Ste 400 .
Oak Brook, L 60523-3389 o
tel 630 990 3131 P
fax 630 990 0039

bakertilly.com

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT ON COMPLIANCE

To the Honorable Elizabeth B. Tisdahi, Mayor and
‘Members of the City Counclt
Evanston, llinois

We have audited the basic financial statements of the City of Evanston, lllinois, as of and for the year ended {
December 31, 2013, and have issued our report thereon dated July 2, 2014. We conducted our audit in '
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.

Compliance with laws, regulations, contracts and grants applicable to the City of Evanston is the responsibility
of the City of Evanston’s management. As part of obtaining reasanable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatements, we performed tests of the City of Evanston's compliance with
provisions in Subsection (q) of Section 41-74.4-3 of Public Act 86-1142, "An Act in Relation to Tax Increment
Financing”, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of the

financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance.

This report is Intended solely for the information and use of the City Council, management, the State of [tinois,
and others within the City and is not intended to be, and shouid not be, used by anyone other than the specified |

July 2, 2014

G ity N
“ BAKER TILLY
INTERNATIONAL




CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Combining Balance Sheet - Continued

As of December 31, 2013
Special Revenue
Total Total
General Township Special
Town Assistance Funds Revenue
Assets
Cash and equivalents $ 186989 $ 439,115 § 626,104 $ 6,823,474
Invéstments - - - - 363,439
Receivables
Property taxes (net of allowance) .

Current year levy 246,331 886,553 1,132,884 1,502,884
Notes - - - 7,781,837
Allowance - - - (90,000)
Special assessments - - - -
Other - - - 938,937

Prepaid items - 50,543 50,543 50,543
Due from other governments - - - 528,349
Due from other funds - 14,446 14,446 89,164
Total Assets $ 433320 $ 1,390,657 $ 1823977 § 17,988,627
Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities
Vouchers payable $ 3813 §$ 49,100 $ 52913 $ 480,196
Due to other governments - - - 4,558
Due to other funds 14,446 - 14,446 283,821
Total Liabilities 18,259 49,100 67,359 768,575
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Property taxes 200,033 751,063 951,096 1,612,625
Fund Balances
Nonspendable - 50,543 50,543 50,543
Restricted

Highway maintenance - - - 1,312,568

Emergency telephone system - - - 1,220,879

HUD approved projects - - - 6,309,598

Neighborhood improvements - - - 2,600,993

Debt service - - ' - -

Township 215,028 539,951 754,979 754,979
Commiitted - Economic Development - - - 3,507,202
Assigned - - - -
Unassigned (deficit) - - - (149,335)

Total Fund Balances (Deficit) 215,028 590,494 805,522 15,607,427

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows

and Fund Balances $ 433320 % 1,390,657 $§ 1823977 $ 17,988,627
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Debt Service

Howard ‘Washington Howard West
Special Southwest Hartrey National Ridge Evanston
Service Tax Tax Tax Tax Tax Total
District Increment Increment Increment Increment Increment Debt
No.5 District District District District District Service

$ 43,578 $ 43,074 3 4,041,414 $ 5225867 $ 183302 § 552,639 § 10,089,874

436,605 480,767 1,106,614 "4,435,648 466,980 41,682 6,968,296

370,000 290,000 - - 195,000 - 855,000

§ 850,183 § 813841 § 5148028 § 9,661,515 $ 845282 § 594321 § 17,913,170

$ - $ - 3 - $ 95,826 § 1,339 8§ - 8 97,165
“ - 700,000 500,000 - 15,000 1,215,000

- - 700,000 593,826 1,339 15,000 1,312,163
375,298 469,124 1,090,980 4,028,248 455,326 41,682 6,460,658
474,885 344,717 3,357,048 5,037,441 388,617 537,639 10,140,347
474,885 344,717 3,357,048 5,037,441 388,617 537,639 10,140,347

$ 850,183 5 813841 § 5,148,028 § 9,661,515 $ 845282 § 594,321 % 17,913,170

Continued
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CITY OF EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Combining Statements of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Continued
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2013 and Twenty One Months ended Decmber 31, 2013

for City and Township respectively

Revenues
Taxes
Special assessments
Intergovernmental
Investment income -
Miscellancous
Total Revenues

Expenditures
Current
General management and support
Public safety
Public works
Housing and economic development
Debt service
Principal
Interest
Capital outlay
Total Expenditures
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Issnance of debt
Premiums and discount
Transfers in (out)
General
General Obligation Debt Service
Economic Development
Howard Ridge Tax Increment District
Motor Vehicle Parking System
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balances
Fund Balances (Deficit) - Beginning

Fund Balances (Deficit) - Ending

Special Revenue
Total Total
General Township Special
Town Assistance Funds Revenue

503,694 § 1,555,480 § 2,059,174 $ 5,250,722
- - - 8,578,983

289 1,149 1,448 12,721

- 50,595 50,595 366,987
503,993 1,607,224 2,111,217 14,209,413
648,807 2,535,983 3,184,790 3,184,790
- - - 922,147

- - - 972,788

- - - 6,054,189
648,807 2,535,983 3,184,790 11,133,914
(144,814) (928,759) (1,073,573) 3,075,499
- - - (1,523,271)

- - - 48,500
- - - (1,474,771)
(144,814) (928,759) (1,073,573) 1,600,728
359,842 1,519,253 1,879,095 14,006,699
215028 % 590,494 § 805.522 $_ 15,607,427
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Debt Service

Howard ‘Washington Howard West
Special Southwest Hartrey National Ridge Evanston.
Service Tax Tax Tax Tax Tax Total
District Increment Jncrement Increment Increment Increment Debt
No.5 District District District District District Service
460,062 $ 492,410 $ 1,122,248 § 4488658 § 194,881 §$ 46252 $ 6,804,511
585 2 14,087 13,072 344 167- 28,257
_ - - - 33,014 - 33,014
460,647 492 412 1,136,335 4,501,730 228,239 46,419 6,863,782
- - - 2,188,934 - - 2,188,934
- 423,134 1,159,915 100,934 726,232 314,353 2,724 568
340,000 - 645,000 425,000 - - 1,410,000
78,816 - 75,611 78,375 - 7,274 240,076
418,816 423,134 1,880,526 2,793,243 726,232 321,627 6,563,578
41,831 69,278 (744,191) 1,708,487 (497,993) (275,208) 302,204
- (29,500) (144,400) (331,000) (120,400) (60,000) (685,300)
- - - - (48,500) - (48,500)
- - - (3,631,350) - - (3,631,350)
- (29,500) (144,400) (3,962,350) (168,900) (60,000) (4,365,150)
41,831 39,778 (888,591) (2,253,863) (666,393) (335,208) (4,062,946)
433,054 304,939 4,245,639 7,291,304 1,055,510 872,847 14,203,293
474885 & 344717 § 3357048 § 5.037.441 $ 388,617 § 537639 § 10,140,347
Contirued
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